
For the best experience, open this PDF portfolio in
 
Acrobat X or Adobe Reader X, or later.
 

Get Adobe Reader Now! 

http://www.adobe.com/go/reader




PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  05/31/2016 
 


PRRIP June 7-8, 2016 GC Meeting Agenda  Page 1 of 3 
 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM (PRRIP or PROGRAM) 1 


Governance Committee (GC) Meeting Agenda – June 7-8, 2016 2 


 3 


GC Structured Decision Making (SDM) Workshop (see separate Workshop Agenda) 4 


Tuesday, June 7, 2016 – 1:00 p.m. – 4:30 p.m. 5 


 6 


GC Quarterly Meeting 7 


Tuesday, June 7, 2016 – 4:30 p.m. – 5:30 p.m. 8 


Wednesday, June 8, 2016 – 8:00 a.m. – 3:00 p.m. 9 


Note:  All times are in Mountain Time. 10 


 11 


Meeting Location: 12 


Wyoming Water Development Commission 13 


6920 Yellowtail Road 14 


Cheyenne, WY 82009 15 


 16 
 17 


START TIME 
(Duration) 


TUESDAY, JUNE 7
th


 


TOPIC, PRESENTER, & PROGRAM PURPOSE 


DOCUMENT # - 
DOCUMENT 


4:30 p.m. 
(:15) 


Welcome and Administrative 
Harry LaBonde, Acting GC Chair (June 2016) 
Information, Discussion, & Action 


 Introductions/Attendance Roster/Agenda Modifications 


 GC MOTION:  APPROVE GC MINUTES – March 8-9, 
2016; April 12, 2016 


01 – GC Agenda 
 


02 – March 8-9, 2016 GC 
Minutes 


 
03 – April 12, 2016 GC 


Minutes 


4:45 p.m. 
(:15) 


Program Committee Updates 
Information & Discussion 


 LAC – Mark Czaplewski, CPNRD (Chair) 


 WAC – Cory Steinke, CNPPID (Chair) 


 TAC – Suzanne Sellers, State of CO (Chair) 


 FC – Harry LaBonde, State of WY (Chair) 


04 – LAC Minutes 
 


05 – WAC Minutes 
 


06 – TAC Minutes 
 


07 – FC Minutes 


5:00 p.m. 
(:10) 


Program Outreach Update – Bridget Barron, ED Office 
Information & Discussion 


 Program presentations, outreach, and media 


5:10 p.m. 
(:20) 


PRRIP Budget/Contracts Update 
Jerry Kenny, ED/Chad Smith, EDO 
Information & Discussion 


 Discuss FY16 budget and contract status 


 Update on PRRIP land income and taxes 


 GC MOTION: APPROVE MULTI-YEAR IMAGERY 
ACQUSITION CONTRACT 


08 – PRRIP Monthly 
Financial Status Report 


 
09 – PRRIP Expenditures 


 
10 – PRRIP Land Income 


and Taxes 
 


11 – June 2016 Budget 
Action Summary Table 


 
12 – LiDAR Selection Memo 


& Contract 


5:30 p.m. ADJOURN & DINNER 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  05/31/2016 
 


PRRIP June 7-8, 2016 GC Meeting Agenda  Page 2 of 3 
 


START TIME 
(Duration) 


WEDNESDAY, JUNE 8
th


 


TOPIC, PRESENTER, & PROGRAM PURPOSE 


DOCUMENT # - 
DOCUMENT 


8:00 a.m. 
(:10) 


Welcome and Administrative 
Harry LaBonde, Acting GC Chair (June 2016) 
Information, Discussion, & Action 


 Introductions/Attendance Roster/Agenda Modifications 


8:10 a.m. 
(:20) 


PRRIP Procurement Policy 
Jerry Kenny, ED 
Information, Discussion, & Action 


 GC MOTION: APPROVE REVISED PRRIP 
PROCUREMENT POLICY 


13a – PRRIP Procurement 
Policy (redline) 


 
13b – PRRIP Procurement 


Policy (clean) 


8:30 a.m. 
(:15) 


Northern Long Eared Bat (NLEB) 
Matt Rabbe, Service 
Information & Discussion 


 Species listing and relationship to Biological Opinion and 
PRRIP land management actions 


14 – Service NLEB Memo 


8:45 a.m. 
(:30) 


PRRIP Peer Review & Publications 
Chad Smith, EDO 
Information & Discussion 


 GC MOTION:  APPROVE SCOPE OF WORK AND 
APPOINT PANEL FOR JOINT PEER REVIEW OF 
WHOOPING CRANE HABITAT SELECTION ANALYSIS 
REPORT & WHOOPING CRANE HABITAT SYNTHESIS 
CHAPTERS 


 GC MOTION:  APPROVE PUBLICATION OF 
UNVEGETATED CHANNEL WIDTH MANUSCRIPT 


 GC MOTION:  APPROVE PUBLICATION OF PEAK 
FLOW HABITAT PARADIGM MANUSCRIPT 


 GC MOTION:  APPROVE PUBLICATION OF CHANNEL 
WIDTH AND NEST INCIDENCE MANUSCRIPT 


 GC MOTION:  APPROVE PUBLICATION OF FLOW 
AND TERN PRODUCTIVITY MANUSCRIPT 


15 – Whooping Crane 
Documents Peer Review 


Memo 
 


16 – Unvegetated Channel 
Width Manuscript 


 
17 – Peak Flow Habitat 
Paradigm Manuscript 


 
18 – Channel Width & Nest 


Incidence Manuscript 
 


19 – Flow & Tern 
Productivity Manuscript 


9:15 a.m. 
(:30) 


PRRIP Milestones Report 
Michael Thabault, Service 
Information & Discussion 


 Discussion of Service’s 2016 PRRIP Milestones Report 


20 – Service Milestones 
Letter 


9:45 a.m. 
(1:00) 


Pallid Sturgeon 
Michael Thabault, Service 
Information & Discussion 


 Discussion of Service guidance on pallid sturgeon 


21 – Service Pallid 
Sturgeon Assessment 


10:45 a.m. 
(:15) 


BREAK 


11:00 a.m. 
(:45) 


J2 Reservoir Project 
Jerry Kenny, ED/Don Kraus, CNPPID 
Information & Discussion 


 Discuss J2 quarterly update 


 Discuss latest draft of Water Service Agreement 


22 – J2 Quarterly Report 
 


23 – J2 Water Service 
Agreement 


11:45 p.m. 
(:30) 


LUNCH (brought in) 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL  05/31/2016 
 


PRRIP June 7-8, 2016 GC Meeting Agenda  Page 3 of 3 
 


12:15 p.m. 
(1:00) 


PRRIP First Increment Extension 
Jerry Kenny, ED/Harry LaBonde, State of Wyoming 
Information & Discussion 


 Discuss latest draft of the First Increment Extension 
proposal and next steps 


24 – DRAFT PRRIP First 
Increment Extension 


Proposal 


1:15 p.m. 
(:30) 


Platte River Recreational Access (PRRA) Program 
Bruce Sackett, EDO/Justin Haahr, Nebraska Game and Parks 
Commission 
Information & Discussion 


 Presentation on 2015-16 PRRA report 


25 – 2015-16 PRRA Report 


1:45 p.m. 
(:10) 


PUBLIC COMMENT 


1:55 p.m. 
(:50) 


GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Program Land Tracts & Issues 
Bruce Sackett, EDO 
Information & Discussion 


 Tract 1501 – confirmation of sale of 10 acres 


 Potential litigation – high water complaint (see documents 
27a and 27b) 


26 – Land Objective 
Numbers 


 
27a – PRRIP Letter to 


Landowner 
 


27b – Landowner Response 
Letter 


2:45 p.m. 
(:05) 


PRRIP Executive Session Motions 
Information, Discussion, & Action 
 MOTIONS FROM EXECUTIVE SESSION 


2:50 p.m. 
(:10) 


Future Meetings & Closing Business 
Information & Discussion 


 2016 GC meetings: 
o September 13-14, 2016 @ Kearney, NE 
o November 15, 2016 @ Denver, CO (GC Special Session on FY17 Budget) 
o December 6-7, 2016 @ Denver, CO 


 


 2016 AMP Reporting Session: 
o October 18-20, 2016 @ Omaha, NE 


Hilton Garden Inn Downtown (1005 Dodge Street) 


3:00 p.m. GC MEETING WRAP-UP & ADJOURN 


 18 








PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  03/10/2016 
 


PRRIP March 9, 2016 GC Meeting Minutes  Page 1 of 7 
 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM (PRRIP or Program) 1 


Governance Committee Meeting Minutes 2 


PRRIP Executive Director’s Office Conference Center 3 


4111 4th Avenue, Suite 6 4 


Kearney, NE  68845 5 


 6 


Meeting Attendees 7 


 8 


Governance Committee (GC) Table   Executive Director’s Office (EDO) Staff 9 


State of Wyoming     Jerry Kenny, Executive Director (ED) 10 


Harry LaBonde – Member    Dave Baasch 11 


       Bridget Barron  12 


State of Colorado     Jason Farnsworth 13 


Don Ament – Member     Bruce Sackett 14 


Suzanne Sellers – Alternate    Sira Sartori 15 


       Chad Smith 16 


State of Nebraska     Patrick Farrell 17 


Jeff Fassett – Member (Chair)    Scott Griebling 18 


Jennifer Schellpeper – Alternate    George Oamek 19 


        20 


U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (Service)   21 


Michael Thabault – Member    22 


       Audience Members: 23 


Bureau of Reclamation (Reclamation)   Jim Jenniges – NPPD 24 


Brock Merrill – Alternate    Mike Drain – CNPPID 25 


       Tom Econopouly – Service 26 


Environmental Entities    Jeff Runge – Service 27 


Bill Taddicken – Member    Matt Rabbe – Service 28 


Rich Walters – Member     Eliza Hines – Service 29 


Duane Hovorka – Member    Chris Reed – UNO 30 


Marian Langan – Alternate    Ned Andrews – ISAC 31 


       Lori Potter – Kearney Hub 32 


Upper Platte Water Users     Cory Steinke – CNPPID 33 


Dennis Strauch – Member       34 


Bob Mehling – Member 35 


         36 


Colorado Water Users      37 


Alan Berryman – Member     38 


Kevin Urie – Member      39 


Deb Freeman – Alternate     40 


         41 


Downstream Water Users     42 


Don Kraus – Member 43 


Mark Czaplewski – Member 44 


Kent Miller – Member 45 


John Shadle – Alternate  46 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  03/10/2016 
 


PRRIP March 9, 2016 GC Meeting Minutes  Page 2 of 7 
 


Welcome & Administrative 47 


Ament called the meeting to order at 9:47 a.m. Central Time.  Ament said the GC needs to nominate a Vice 48 


Chair for the GC for 2016 before the meeting ends today. The group proceeded with introductions. 49 


 50 


LaBonde raised the topic of the states’ proposal with regard to potentially extending the Program beyond 51 


2019 (end of the First Increment).  He would like to have a discussion today about possible next logical 52 


steps for moving that proposal forward. 53 


 54 


LaBonde moved to approve the December 2015 GC minutes; Berryman seconded.  Minutes approved. 55 


 56 


Program Committee Updates 57 


Land Advisory Committee (LAC) 58 


Czaplewski provided an update on the latest LAC activities.  The LAC last met in Kearney on February 23.  59 


The LAC moved to recommend to the GC to decline further pursuit of Tract 1505.  The LAC recommended 60 


declining pursuit of Tract 1601.  There was discussion of the Public Access Program in 2015.  The next 61 


LAC meeting is May 23. 62 


 63 


Water Advisory Committee (WAC) 64 


Steinke provided an update on the latest WAC activities.  The WAC had a conference call in February and 65 


discussed wet meadows peer review; updates on WAP projects including broad-scale recharge; transbasin 66 


diversions; flow summary report and excess flow analysis; and hydroclimatic indices.  The next WAC 67 


meeting is in May in Ogallala. 68 


 69 


Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) 70 


Sellers provided an update on the latest TAC activities.  The TAC met on February 9 in Kearney and 71 


discussed the 2015 tern/plover monitoring report; the fall 2015 whooping crane monitoring report; 72 


recommended the GC approve a sole-source contract for grassland vegetation monitoring; recommended 73 


the GC approve submitting the whooping crane synthesis chapters for peer review; recommended the GC 74 


approve the wet meadows hydrologic monitoring approach peer review package; and then the TAC held a 75 


two-day SDM workshop.  The next TAC meeting is a SDM workshop on April 20-21 in Kearney. 76 


 77 


Finance Committee (FC) 78 


LaBonde provided an update on the latest FC activities.  The FC had a conference call on February 26. The 79 


FC discussed contracts for geomorphology/vegetation monitoring and data analysis; website and database 80 


management; ISAC member amendments for 2016; recommended the GC support a sole-source contract 81 


on grassland vegetation monitoring; Phase III of the hydroclimatic indices project; and a discussion about 82 


Program cost indexing (recommended the GC return to the original method of indexing). 83 


 84 


Program Outreach Update 85 


PRESENTATIONS 86 


 Jerry Kenny provided an overview of the Program as part of a panel at the Nebraska Power Farming 87 


Show on December 8, 2015 in Lincoln, Nebraska. The panel was an educational seminar focusing on 88 


Nebraska’s water resources. 89 


 At the joint meeting of the Four States Irrigation Council and the Ditch and Reservoir Company 90 


Alliance on January 15, 2016, Jerry Kenny and John Heaston presented on the Program in a session 91 


titled, “3-States Memorandum of Understanding”. 92 


 Darren Beck presented an overview of the Program to the Golden Beer Talks on February 9, 2016 in 93 


Golden, Colorado. 94 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  03/10/2016 
 


PRRIP March 9, 2016 GC Meeting Minutes  Page 3 of 7 
 


 Jerry Kenny presented an update of the Program to the NRD Water Programs conference on March 1, 95 


2016 in Kearney, Nebraska. 96 


 Jerry Kenny and Jason Farnsworth presented an update on the science aspects of the Program to the 97 


Central Nebraska Public Power & Irrigation District (CNPPID) Board meeting on March 2, 2016 in 98 


Lincoln, Nebraska.  99 


 100 


EXHIBITS/SPONSORSHIPS  101 


 The Program was an exhibitor at the joint meeting of the Four States Irrigation Council and the Ditch 102 


& Reservoir Company Alliance (DARCA) in Fort Collins, Colorado on January 13-15, 2016. We made 103 


201 contacts during the event. 104 


 The Program exhibited at Colorado Water Congress in Denver, Colorado on January 27 – 29, 2016. 105 


We made 428 contacts over the course of the three days.  106 


 The Program exhibited at the Rainwater Basin Informational Seminar on February 9, 2016 in Grand 107 


Island, Nebraska. We made 127 contacts during the event. 108 


 The Program is a Station Sponsor for the 2016 Nebraska Envirothon, which will be held on April, 27th 109 


2016, in Nebraska City, NE. The Envirothon has high school teams competing in seven areas of 110 


environmental studies; soils, aquatics, forestry, wildlife, range, invasive species, and current 111 


environmental policy. 112 


 113 


UPCOMING PRESENTATIONS/EXHIBITS 114 


 Dave Baasch is presenting on Whooping Crane Habitat Selection at the Nebraska Chapter of the 115 


Wildlife Society conference on March 9, 2016 in Kearney, Nebraska. 116 


 Dave Baasch is presenting at Audubon’s Nebraska Crane Festival in Kearney, Nebraska on March 19, 117 


2016. His session is titled, “Investigations into Whooping Crane Use of the Central Platte River”.  118 


 The Program will be exhibiting at Audubon’s Nebraska Crane Festival in Kearney, Nebraska on March 119 


19, 2015. 120 


 Dave Baasch is presenting on Tern and Plover Breeding Pair Estimators at the annual conference of the 121 


Missouri River Natural Resources Committee (MRNRC) on March 23rd, 2016 in Great Falls, Montana. 122 


 Chad Smith will be participating in the Trinity River Basin Science Symposium March 29th to the 31st, 123 


2016 in Weaverville, California. The goal of the symposium is to advance the development and use of 124 


a decision support system for the Trinity River Restoration Program (TRRP). 125 


 Jerry Kenny will be part of a panel at the National Conference on Ecosystem Restoration (NCER) on 126 


April 20, 2016 in Coral Springs, Florida. The title of the session is “Approaches and Tools for Scientist-127 


Decision Maker Collaboration and Actionable Science”. 128 


 129 


MEDIA/OTHER  130 


 Jerry Kenny was interviewed about the Program for an article in the January 2016 issue of Irrigation 131 


Leader. The issue focused on the Endangered Species Act and the PRRIP was cited as an example of a 132 


successful program. 133 


 The Program will be hosting Jane Goodall and her group from the Jane Goodall Institute in the Goodall 134 


blind on the evening of March 16, 2016. 135 


 136 


PRRIP FY16 Budget Update 137 


Kenny gave an overview of the status of the FY16 budget, related expenditures, and land income and taxes. 138 


The Program expended $8.3 million in 2015. We are spent at about $93 million total dollars for the Program 139 


so far.  Farnsworth said the EDO was hoping to do a green LiDAR test run last year but that has not yet 140 


happened.  The EDO is working on a RFP for a four-year contract to do imagery including green LiDAR 141 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  03/10/2016 
 


PRRIP March 9, 2016 GC Meeting Minutes  Page 4 of 7 
 


as a test.  The RFP will have options to allow flexibility in imagery acquisition.  The draft is done and the 142 


EDO requests that it be sent to the GC electronically for review and approval later this week. 143 


 144 


Smith discussed the draft sole-source contract for Program grassland vegetation monitoring.  Thabault said 145 


the Program should consider monitoring for management objectives.  Wet meadows are identified in the 146 


Program document and we have documented occurrences of whooping cranes on that type of habitat so we 147 


need to go back and look at those properties and how management is affecting them.  It may not be directly 148 


under the AMP per se but it is an adaptive management concept to monitor for the response of properties 149 


to management and how target species utilize those properties.  LaBonde asked how the data will be tied 150 


back to whooping crane use and questioning our management methods.  Baasch said the original concept 151 


was to watch for expansion of noxious weeds and then also keep track of plant species of interest.  Rabbe 152 


said the TAC looked at different ways of managing grasslands and monitoring them.  It can be very 153 


intensive to monitor these grasslands with learning objectives in mind so the TAC decided to pursue 154 


something cheaper and less intensive to watch for any major concerns that might detract from habitat value.  155 


Thabault asked if there is a feedback loop to the GC for this information.  Smith said no.  Sackett said there 156 


is an informal process that goes on annually that happens with Land Management Plans in terms of making 157 


decision about burning, grazing, and applying other management methods.  LaBonde asked if this 158 


information is valuable in informing our land management decisions.  Sackett said it helps to improve 159 


confidence in choices of management methods. 160 


 161 


Czaplewski said we need to have the feedback loop to the GC to make sure the expenditure is worth the 162 


effort.  Rabbe said the TAC discussed these issues and there may need to be further discussion of the 163 


frequency of monitoring events.  There needs to be some follow-up to the first monitoring effort to see if 164 


we can determine changes/trends.  Merrill said after that there needs to be a discussion about whether this 165 


is necessary in the future. 166 


 167 


Thabault moved to approve the sole source contract with the caveat that the results of this monitoring effort 168 


and the first monitoring effort be brought back to the GC for discussion about the future utility of this 169 


monitoring effort; Walters seconded. Motion approved. 170 


 171 


PRRIP Peer Review 172 


Smith discussed the final peer review package for the wet meadows hydrologic monitoring approach. 173 


 174 


Czaplewski moved to approve the final peer review package; Merrill seconded.  Final peer review package 175 


approved. 176 


 177 


Smith discussed the whooping crane habitat synthesis chapters and the request to begin the peer review 178 


process for these chapters. 179 


 180 


Labonde moved to approve moving forward with peer review of the whooping crane habitat synthesis 181 


chapters; Czaplewski seconded.  Motion approved. 182 


 183 


Smith informed the GC about the status of peer review of the forage fish synthesis document and that the 184 


EDO is working to recommend a path forward with that peer review package.  The EDO will be talking to 185 


the ISAC and TAC about next steps. 186 


 187 


Central Platte River Phragmites Control 188 


Walters discussed the status of phragmites control measures on the central Platte.  Walters requested the 189 


GC consider removing the funding match requirement but instead allow the funding to be applied as needed.  190 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  03/10/2016 
 


PRRIP March 9, 2016 GC Meeting Minutes  Page 5 of 7 
 


The second request is a funding level of $100,000 of additional monies in 2016 for control efforts.  Ament 191 


asked about the timing of spraying.  Walters said generally spraying is done in late August and early 192 


September but the bid documents need to go out now.  Strauch asked about past Program actions for 193 


funding.  Walters said the Program contributed $200,000 but it has a match requirement and he is worried 194 


that the match cannot be fully met if you consider only this year and all control methods will not happen 195 


this year.  The Nebraska Unicameral has taken up the issue, but funding this year is not likely, and NRDs 196 


and Power Districts have been asked for increased contributions. Czaplewski said the control measures 197 


have been very successful and need to be maintained so we don’t slip back to where we used to be with 198 


phragmites.  CPNRD is contemplating doubling their budget for this activity to help.  Miller said TPNRD 199 


supports this and wants to stay on top of the problem as well.  Taddicken said one of the most important 200 


aspects is to improve conveyance and not allow phragmites to continue to cause problems with reduced 201 


conveyance.  Kraus said CNPPID is taking this issue up as well.  Fassett asked if LB711 is the bill in 202 


question before the Nebraska Unicameral dealing with invasive controls.  Walters said that is correct. 203 


 204 


Ament asked again what Walters is asking for.  Walters said to remove the match requirement from previous 205 


Program funds, and also asking for an additional $100,000 funds.  Merrill said removing the match 206 


requirement for one year might be workable but not for the life of the project because he doesn’t want the 207 


Program to be on the hook for the full cost of the project. 208 


 209 


Merrill moved to remove the 50% match requirement for 2016 only; Shadle seconded. Motion approved, 210 


Walters and Taddicken abstained. 211 


 212 


Labonde moved approved of the additional $100,000 Program contribution for 2016 only; Miller seconded. 213 


Farnsworth said a big chunk of that funding can be moved from LP-2 that was to be for island construction 214 


which now may not be happening.  Kenny said the money will be moved to WP-1a., and the simple shifting 215 


of funds would not increase the total budget.   Motion approved, Walters and Taddicken abstained.  216 


 217 


J2 Regulating Reservoir Update 218 


Kraus discussed the status of the J2 project.  Steinke said investigations of the geotechnical aspects of the 219 


site found a clay layer they were looking for.  Kenny said the holes were punched in road rights of ways 220 


and properties owned by CNPPID.  We still need to do follow-up testing because we can’t punch holes on 221 


land not owned by CNPPID.  Results are positive to this point and are good news for this project because 222 


we can likely have an alternative to expensive liner concepts, but lacking the ability to do comprehensive 223 


exploration we can’t be certain.  Hovorka asked about the updated timeline.  Steinke said the updated 224 


schedule is not current because it contains an aggressive land acquisition assumption that will not happen 225 


by this spring.  Hovorka asked how long it will take to complete the project once you start breaking ground.  226 


Kraus said construction would start about 2019 and would be completed about 2021 (a two-year 227 


construction window). 228 


 229 


No-Cost Net Controllable Conserved Water (NCCW) Project 230 


Drain talked about NCCW scoring and the associated scoring subcommittee.  The GC needs to approve the 231 


subcommittee members and chair. 232 


 233 


Hovorka moved to appoint the following subcommittee members: Mike Drain (Chair), Brian Klerkin 234 


(Wyoming), Dennis Strauch (Upper Platte Water Users), Bill Taddicken (Environmental Groups), Jennifer 235 


Schellpeper (Nebraska); Thabault seconded.  Subcommittee appointed. 236 


 237 


Drain discussed the score recommendation for the NCCW project. 238 


Kraus moved to approve the NCCW score; Merrill seconded.  NCCW score approved. 239 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  03/10/2016 
 


PRRIP March 9, 2016 GC Meeting Minutes  Page 6 of 7 
 


2015 Phelps County Canal Recharge Report & General Recharge Update 240 


Sartori gave an update presentation on Program recharge and recapture. 241 


 242 


U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Report 243 


Rabbe discussed 2015 tiered consultations.  Freeman asked about the differences in numbers in the biannual 244 


report and the Service report.  Kenny said the biannual report number is incorrect and will be fixed in future 245 


versions.  Rabbe asked the GC about information needs for future reports on tiered consultations and what 246 


they want to see.  LaBonde said he would be interested in seeing depletion categories as well as the amount 247 


of depletions. 248 


 249 


PRRIP Indexing 250 


Merrill discussed indexing and the two possible methods (original method and 2012 method). 251 


 252 


LaBonde moved to return to the original indexing method; Kraus seconded.  Motion approved. 253 


 254 


Public Comment 255 


Ament asked for public comment.  None offered. 256 


 257 


Executive Session 258 


Taddicken moved to enter Executive Session after lunch; Fassett seconded.  GC entered Executive Session 259 


at 12:45 p.m. Central Time. 260 


 261 


Thabault moved to end Executive Session; Fassett seconded.  GC ended Executive Session at 1:30 p.m. 262 


Central Time. 263 


 264 


PRRIP Executive Session Motions 265 


Czaplewski moved to cease further pursuit of Tract 1505 on recommendation from the LAC; LaBonde 266 


seconded.  Motion approved. 267 


 268 


LaBonde moved to authorize the EDO to apply a tax change to all J2 related parcels acquired in 2014 and 269 


make payment in the amount of 121.75% of the 2014 tax payment to CNPPID to be forwarded to Phelps 270 


County to replace forgone tax revenue; Merrill seconded.  Motion approved. 271 


 272 


Future Meetings & Closing Business 273 


Ament discussed recent conversations about a proposed 10-year extension for the First Increment.  LaBonde 274 


said looking ahead at the schedule the next step is the GC needs to fundamentally agree on the proposal 275 


outlining the extension.  At that point, a plan could be implemented to extend.  The purpose of this 276 


discussion is to determine what needs to be done to get the GC to that point.  LaBonde said he would like 277 


to see the proposal on the table for discussion at the June 2016 GC meeting which would include input from 278 


the EDO about the proposal as well.  Fassett said his guidance is to be careful about any new or additional 279 


things that are added as part of this process because it will make the process more difficult.  Thabault said 280 


he agrees extension is the way to go but strategically we need to look at parts of the Program to plus-up to 281 


take into account over the 10-year extension time period. 282 


 283 


LaBonde asked if it is appropriate to ask all parties to put into written form their thoughts on the extension 284 


proposal, give the GC an opportunity to review those thoughts prior to the June 2016 GC meeting, and then 285 


discuss that information at the June 2016 GC meeting. Freeman asked what the best thing to do for the June 286 


meeting is for each of the parties.  LaBonde said he would like to have everyone’s thoughts around the table 287 


for the June GC meeting.  The EDO would be the compiler of comments, including the EDO’s thoughts on 288 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  03/10/2016 
 


PRRIP March 9, 2016 GC Meeting Minutes  Page 7 of 7 
 


the proposal and input from the advisory committees.  Kraus and LaBonde said that should be vetted at the 289 


GC level first before getting input from the Advisory Committees.  Hovorka asked about Big Questions 290 


and where we are at in answering those questions, and what that means for the focus of science questions 291 


for the extension. 292 


 293 


Ament nominated LaBonde as temporary chair of the GC for the June 2016 GC meeting.  Approved. 294 


 295 


Upcoming 2016 GC meetings: 296 


 June 7-8, 2016 @ Cheyenne, WY 297 


 September 13-14, 2016 @ Kearney, NE 298 


 November 15, 2016 @ Denver, CO (GC Special Session on FY17 Budget) 299 


 December 6-7, 2016 @ Denver, CO 300 


 301 


Upcoming 2016 ISAC meetings: 302 


 2016 AMP Reporting Session – October 18-20, 2016 @ Omaha, NE 303 


 304 


Meeting adjourned at 2:06 p.m. Central Time. 305 


 306 


Summary of Action Items/Decisions from March 2016 GC meeting 307 


1) Approved the December 2015 GC minutes. 308 


2) Approved the sole source contract for Prairie Legacy to conduct grassland vegetation monitoring in 309 


2016 with the caveat that the results of this monitoring effort and the first monitoring effort in 2013-310 


2014 be brought back to the GC for discussion about the future utility of this monitoring effort. 311 


3) Approved final wet meadows hydrologic monitoring approach peer review package. 312 


4) Approved moving forward with peer review of the whooping crane habitat synthesis chapters. 313 


5) Approved removing the 50% match requirement for 2016 only for the $200,000 in Program funds for 314 


central Platte River phragmites control. 315 


6) Approved allocating an additional $100,000 in Program funds for 2016 only for central Platte River 316 


phragmites control. 317 


7) Appoint the following scoring subcommittee members: Mike Drain (Chair), Brian Klerkin (Wyoming), 318 


Dennis Strauch (Upper Platte Water Users), Bill Taddicken (Environmental Groups), Jennifer 319 


Schellpeper (Nebraska) 320 


8) Approved the NCCW project score. 321 


9) Approved returning to the original indexing method for Program funds. 322 


10) Approved ceasing further pursuit of Tract 1505 as per the LAC recommendation. 323 


11) Authorized the EDO to apply a tax change to all J2 related parcels acquired in 2014 and make payment 324 


in the amount of 121.75% of the 2014 tax payment to CNPPID to be forwarded to Phelps County to 325 


replace forgone tax revenue. 326 


12) Appointed LaBonde temporary GC Chair for the June 2016 GC meeting in Cheyenne, WY. 327 








PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  04/12/2016 
 


PRRIP April 12, 2016 GC Conference Call Minutes  Page 1 of 3 
 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM (PRRIP or Program) 1 


Governance Committee Conference Call Minutes 2 


April 12, 2016 3 


 4 


Conference Call Participants 5 


 6 


Governance Committee (GC)    Executive Director’s Office (EDO) Staff 7 


State of Wyoming     Jerry Kenny, Executive Director (ED) 8 


Harry LaBonde – Member    George Oamek 9 


       Bruce Sackett 10 


State of Colorado     Chad Smith 11 


Don Ament – Member (Chair)    Seth Turner 12 


Suzanne Sellers – Alternate     13 


        14 


State of Nebraska      15 


Jeff Fassett – Member   16 


        17 


U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (Service)    18 


Tom Econopouly – Alternate 19 


Eliza Hines 20 


Matt Rabbe 21 


        22 


Bureau of Reclamation (Reclamation)    23 


Chris Beardsley – Member 24 


Brock Merrill – Alternate     25 


        26 


Environmental Entities     27 


Bill Taddicken – Member     28 


Rich Walters – Member     29 


        30 


Upper Platte Water Users      31 


Dennis Strauch – Member       32 


Bob Mehling – Member 33 


         34 


Colorado Water Users      35 


Alan Berryman – Member     36 


Kevin Urie – Member      37 


Deb Freeman – Alternate     38 


         39 


Downstream Water Users     40 


Don Kraus – Member 41 


Mark Czaplewski – Member 42 


Kent Miller – Member 43 


Brian Barels – Member 44 


Mike Drain 45 


Cory Steinke  46 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  04/12/2016 
 


PRRIP April 12, 2016 GC Conference Call Minutes  Page 2 of 3 
 


Welcome & Administrative 47 


Ament called the meeting to order at 10:03 a.m. Central Time and Kenny verified the list of participants on 48 


the phone. 49 


 50 


J2 Water Service Agreement 51 


Ament and Kenny opened the meeting with a discussion of the latest version of the J2 Water Service 52 


Agreement and issues regarding the revised reservoir design and related changes to reservoir benefits, costs, 53 


and cost allocation. Kenny said he worked with Central and legal counsel on the agreement and a decision 54 


was made to generate an amended and restated agreement for GC consideration as opposed to just offering 55 


an amendment to the original agreement.  Ament said Kenny outlined the situation this is an important issue 56 


to resolve but we have to resolve the cost issues – how are we going to keep the Program going and pay for 57 


it? If the J2 project as configured now is the lowest cost option and we cannot afford it, how will we afford 58 


an even more expensive alternative?  Fassett said he wanted to hear from Kraus as to whether Kenny 59 


captured Central’s position accurately.  Kraus said the principles are accurate related to the hydrocycling 60 


mitigation issues. It is a new concept to Central to consider an option that would have no hydrocycling 61 


benefit to Central. Central’s interest in this project is to deal with the hydrocycling issue. 62 


 63 


LaBonde asked if the canal is not enlarged, is there still an opportunity for hydrocycling benefits of some 64 


degree? Kenny said that option has not been looked at in any detail because that situation is very 65 


complicated and the models being used include a daily time-step so to delve into that we would need a sub-66 


daily model.  That was created back in the feasibility level days to assess hydrocycling impact and it would 67 


be a labor-intensive effort to tease that out now.  It would be a reduced benefit from the already-reduced 68 


estimate of $400,000 in hydrocycling benefits.  LaBonde said you are proposing the Program spend an 69 


additional $12 million so maybe it is worth looking at that alternative to potentially save that $12 million. 70 


Kenny said given the response from Central to the no hydrocycling benefits-no deal option he is not sure it 71 


would be worth it but we need hear from Central.  Kraus and Steinke said it might help some but it will not 72 


solve the problem and there will still be hydrocycling bumps. Kraus said Central has not spent much time 73 


parsing these new situations at this point. Labonde said he is struggling with the concept of the Program 74 


paying all costs for canal improvements at whatever size and Central getting the hydrocycling benefits. 75 


 76 


Beardsley asked if the $7-$12 million is within the $75 million budget. Kenny said those are within the 77 


range of alternatives presented by RJH at the December GC meeting so the overall cost of the project is 78 


still in flux. Beardsley asked if he is going to have to find this additional money on top of the reservoir 79 


project cost. Kenny said all alternatives have included canal improvement costs. Beardsley said then it 80 


appears to be less of a cost issue and more of whether the cost is a wise expenditure given the changing 81 


circumstances.  Kenny said yes. Sellers asked Steinke about operations relative to hydrocycling benefits. 82 


Steinke said Sellers has the general principle correct based on the hydrocycling agreement with the Service 83 


but the reservoir as currently being discussed would be a change from the agreement and would not solve 84 


the hydrocycling problem. Sellers said it seems like there is still some hydrocycling capability even though 85 


it would not completely solve the problem. Drain said the Service has indicated this would only partially 86 


solve their concerns and their long-term goal is to smooth out hydrocycling as much as possible. Hines said 87 


the Service said they thought the benefit of J2 was to reduce or eliminate hydrocycling issues, as well as 88 


the ability to do a short-duration high flow event. Sellers said it seems like because it is not formalized, it 89 


is a “nice to have” instead of a “need to have.” Rabbe said that is not how he would characterize it because 90 


this is a priority for the Service. Hines said it would take a more detailed discussion between Central and 91 


the Service to determine what kind of benefits would result from alternative reservoir designs and 92 


operations.  93 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  04/12/2016 
 


PRRIP April 12, 2016 GC Conference Call Minutes  Page 3 of 3 
 


Kraus said he is disappointed as to where this conversation is drifting. He is to the point where we are 94 


getting into areas that bother him. Hines said she wasn’t prepared to have this discussion either. Kraus said 95 


in December after the GC meeting he went to the Central Board with the recommendation to reduce the 96 


reservoir size from two cells to one and make appropriate changes to the agreement.  This is now going in 97 


a direction beyond the authority provided Kraus by Central’s Board. If there is a different direction, Central 98 


would like to know what it is.  If so, maybe Central should not be on the call. 99 


 100 


Ament said let’s bring it back to the issue at hand. That issue is how to put this project together given the 101 


Program cannot afford the two-cell system. We need to put a plan together that is workable so the Program 102 


can keep going and we can extend the Program for at least another 10 years.  Kraus said Central totally 103 


supports those big picture comments, but the change in direction that came up today is new and we need to 104 


think about it some more. Steinke said he has been working on this question with his engineers related to 105 


increased capacity. The Plum Creek siphon is approximately $3 million. That is the main thing that does 106 


not have to be changed if we don’t increase size. Kenny said the memo has a $5-$10 million range but he 107 


is glad Central is working with RJH to further nail down required costs. 108 


 109 


Fassett said part of the frustration is the overall cost of the entire project and the pressure we feel about it 110 


being a critical requirement to the Program. This new twist is may allow us or not allow us to go forward. 111 


When the issue of not a lot of benefit for this cost arose, it raised questions that we are now looking into. 112 


 113 


Ament said he would like to see us take a look at these various scenarios with cost and hydrocycling, expand 114 


on the details, and see where we are with potential total costs of various alternatives. We need to know soon 115 


if we can make this fly. Kenny said the EDO memo from the March 2016 GC meeting provides some good 116 


background in this regard. Ament asked Kraus what the Program can do to help provide Central with the 117 


information they need. Kraus said he is not sure what the direction is at this point. Ament said it sounds 118 


like we need another call. Kenny said we would need some time to do new analysis, that could be ready 119 


around the second or third week of May. Kraus said Central will not be talking to landowners until this 120 


agreement is sorted out. Drain said in the agreement (current or new) there are other opportunities to talk 121 


with the GC if costs get refined. 122 


 123 


Ament said everyone will go back and discuss what they’ve heard today and what their thoughts are. The 124 


EDO will send out a Doodle poll for the second week of May to have another GC conference call. Kenny 125 


said the EDO will get that poll out for May 9-13. 126 


 127 


Urie asked Kraus if he understood correctly that any option without a hydrocycling benefit would not be 128 


presented or recommended to the Central Board. Kraus said that is correct. 129 


 130 


Meeting adjourned at 11:22 a.m. Central Time. 131 


 132 


Summary of Action Items/Decisions from April 2016 GC meeting 133 


1) The EDO will send out a Doodle poll to schedule another GC conference call on this matter for the 134 


week of May 9-13. 135 








PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  5/27/2016 


 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different 


if corrections are made by the Land Advisory Committee before approval. Page 1 of 3 


 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 


Land Advisory Committee Meeting Minutes 


Conference Call 


May 23, 2016 


 


Meeting Participants 


Land Advisory Committee (LAC)   


State of Wyoming    
Jason Mead – Proxy for Harry LaBonde, Member, 


Wyoming Water Development Office  


 


State of Colorado     
Suzanne Sellers – Member, Colorado Water 


Conservation Board  


Kevin Urie – Alternate, Denver Water  


 


State of Nebraska    
Ted LaGrange – Member, Nebraska Game & Parks 


Commission  


 


U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS)   
Matt Rabbe – Member, USFWS 


 


U.S. Bureau of Reclamation (USBOR) 


Brock Merrill – Member, USBOR  


 


Power Districts    
Dave Zorn – Member, Central Nebraska Public Power 


& Irrigation District  


John Shadle – Member (Vice-Chair), Nebraska Public 


Power District  


 


Environmental Entities    
Andrew Pierson – Member, Audubon Rowe Sanctuary 


 


Local Nebraska Rep. – Central Platte Natural 


Resources District (CPNRD) 


Mark Czaplewski – Member (Chair), CPNRD 


 


Local Nebraska Rep. – Tri-Basin Natural Resources 


District (TBNRD) 


None 


 


Local Nebraska Rep. – Joint CPNRD/TBNRD 
John Thorburn – Member, TBNRD 


 


 


Executive Director’s Office (EDO) 


Bruce Sackett 


Justin Brei 


Tim Tunnell 


Jason Farnsworth 


Dillon Schroeder 


 


 


Other Participants 


Justin Haahr, Nebraska Game & Parks Commission 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  5/27/2016 


 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different 


if corrections are made by the Land Advisory Committee before approval. Page 2 of 3 


 


Welcome and Administrative 1 


Chairman Czaplewski called the meeting to order at 9:30 am Central Time and the group 2 


proceeded with introductions.  3 


 4 


Czaplewski asked for agenda modifications, none were requested. 5 


 6 


Czaplewski asked for the LAC’s recommendation on the minutes of the February 23, 2016 7 


meeting.   8 


 9 


Mead made a motion to approve the minutes from February 23, 2016 LAC meeting.  The 10 


motion was seconded by Urie and passed unanimously. 11 


 12 


GC Update and Other Committee Coordination Information 13 


GC Update 14 


Czaplewski updated the LAC on GC activities.  The GC last met on March 9-10 in Kearney, NE.  15 


They approved the grassland vegetation monitoring protocol and sole-source contract.  Rich 16 


Walters presented to the GC on phragmites control in the Platte River.  The GC contributed 17 


$100,000 to the effort and will not require 50% matching funds for 2016, as they have in past 18 


years.  The GC voted to cease pursuit of tract 1505, as well as passed a motion to handle 19 


payments to counties affected by lost tax revenue from the J-2 reservoir project. 20 


 21 


The GC also held a conference call on April 12 to discuss the water service agreement for the J-2 22 


reservoir.  No action was taken on this call and another call on this topic is scheduled for June 1, 23 


2016. 24 


 25 


The GC meets next on June 7-8 in Cheyenne, WY. 26 


 27 


Other Committee Coordination 28 


Sellers updated the LAC on recent TAC activities.  The TAC met last on April 20.  Several 29 


manuscripts were approved for publishing and for peer review.  The TAC also discussed the 30 


dates on Platte River Recreation Access Program signage and closure dates.   31 


 32 


Land Action Items 33 


Sackett discussed tract 1602, an easement offering on a wetland parcel of land near Chapman, 34 


NE being considered as non-complex habitat.  The evaluation team has visited the site, but there 35 


are questions about the level of management control offered by the easement and as such they 36 


have not provided a recommendation.  The tract is currently covered by an NRCS WRP 37 


easement which may conflict with PRRIP interests.  Sackett is working with the owner and 38 


property manager as well as the NRCS to sort out the details.  39 


 40 


Shadle moved to table any decision on tract 1602 until details on the easement are obtained.  41 


Motion seconded by LaGrange and passed unanimously. 42 


 43 


 44 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  5/27/2016 


 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different 


if corrections are made by the Land Advisory Committee before approval. Page 3 of 3 


 


Public Access Program Review 45 


Rabbe discussed recommendations from the Platte River Recreation Access Program 46 


Subcommittee for changes to the Program in the 2016-2017 season. 47 


 48 


Rabbe moved to recommend that the GC adopt the following changes to the PRRA 49 


Program for the 2016-2017 season: 50 


 Enroll three new areas into the PRRA Program for all allowable uses. 51 


o Bartels (2009002) & Sullwold (2012001) as one area open to four users. 52 


o BELF (2015002) & Volentine (2014002) as one area open to four users. 53 


o Spiedel (2015001) open to eight users, except during rifle deer season where 54 


five users are allowed. 55 


 Increase capacity at Liehs tract from one user to two users. 56 


 Adopt the current temporary Wyoming tract parking lot location as permanent. 57 


 Modify permission slips to require the signature of only one parent or guardian. 58 


 Add language to the permissions slips and online to indicate users are “highly 59 


recommended to mark all blinds and treestands with hunter orange”. 60 


 Modify the Public Access Policy as follows: 61 


o Allow treestands to be left in place from August 16-February 1.  Treestands 62 


left in place are available on first-come/first-serve basis and users accept all 63 


risk of property loss.  Treestands left in place outside of the allowed dates are 64 


subject to confiscation.  65 


o The use of drones or trail cameras are not allowed on PRRA properties. 66 


Motion was seconded by Mead and passed unanimously.  LaGrange abstained since NGPC 67 


administers the program. 68 


 69 


Public Forum 70 


Chairman Czaplewski asked for public comments, none were offered. 71 


 72 


Closing Business 73 


The next meeting will be scheduled at a later date, but is expected to be held prior to the 74 


September GC meeting. 75 


 76 


With no further business, the meeting was adjourned by Chairman Czaplewski at 10:15 a.m. 77 








PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/09/16 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Water Advisory Committee before approval.   
PRRIP WAC Meeting Minutes  Page 1 of 8 


 


 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 1 
Water Advisory Committee Meeting Minutes 2 


Nebraska Game and Parks Commission – Lake McConaughy Visitors Center 3 
May 3, 2016 4 


 5 
 6 


Meeting Attendees  7 
 8 


Water Advisory Committee (WAC)                Executive Director’s Office (ED Office) 9 
State of Colorado     Jerry Kenny, ED 10 
Suzanne Sellers – Member    Scott Griebling      11 
       Sira Sartori 12 
State of Wyoming     Kevin Werbylo    13 
Matt Hoobler      Justin Brei 14 
       Jason Farnsworth 15 
State of Nebraska     16 
Jessie Winter – Member  17 
       Contractors 18 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service    Mike Applegate (Special Advisor) – Applegate 19 
Tom Econopouly – Member     Group, Inc. 20 
Jeff Runge – Alternate      Dmitry Smirnov – Dewberry 21 


Stuart Geiger – Dewberry  22 
U.S. Bureau of Reclamation     Rick Wilson – JEO 23 
Brock Merrill – Alternate     Jake Miriovsky – JEO  24 


James Cannia – Aqua Geo Frameworks 25 
Downstream Water Users     Matt McConville – HDR  26 
Cory Steinke – Chair  27 
Duane Woodward – Member  28 
Jeff Shafer – Member  29 
Landon Shaw – Member  30 
Nolan Little 31 
Tyler Thulin 32 
 33 
Colorado Water Users 34 
Jon Altenhofen – Member  35 
Luke Shawcross 36 
 37 
Upper Platte Water Users 38 
Dennis Strauch – Member  39 
 40 
Environmental Groups 41 
Jacob Fritton – Member 42 
Bill Taddicken – Member  43 
Duane Hovorka – Member  44 


 45 


 46 


 47 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/09/16 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Water Advisory Committee before approval.   
PRRIP WAC Meeting Minutes  Page 2 of 8 


 


 


 48 
Welcome and Administrative:  Cory Steinke, WAC Chair 49 


Introductions were made. There were no agenda modifications. Some edits were reported on the 50 


February 2016 WAC meeting minutes. Motion to approve meeting minutes was made by Shafer, 51 


seconded by Woodward, unanimously approved.  52 


 53 


WAP Projects and Other Brief Water Updates 54 
J-2 Regulating Reservoirs:  Cory Steinke, CNPPID 55 


Steinke said the CNPPID is in negotiations to amend the Three-Party Agreement to make the 56 


reservoir one cell. The CNPPID is looking at a slurry wall concept and the preliminary findings 57 


look positive.  58 


 59 


Phelps Groundwater Recharge and Recapture Project:  Sira Sartori, ED Office 60 


Sartori gave an update on the Phelps recharge project – deliveries for recharge went through 61 


mid-April. The Cook tract recapture well was constructed and the electrical work and dissipation 62 


structure should be completed by the summer (the project will be operational at that time). 63 


 64 


No-Cost NCCW Score:  Sira Sartori, ED Office 65 


The Governance Committee (GC) assigned a score to the No-Cost Net Controllable Conserved 66 


Water (NCCW) project at the March 2016 meeting. The accepted score is 260 acre-feet per year 67 


(AFY) at Grand Island. 68 


 69 


CPNRD Water Leasing:  Duane Woodward, CPNRD and James Cannia, Aqua Geo 70 


Frameworks 71 


Woodward provided an updated on the surface water leasing project. The CPNRD is working on 72 


finalizing the surface water transfer permits with the NDNR for this year. The CPNRD diverted 73 


excess flows into their canals for recharge operations in March and April.  74 


 75 


Woodward reported the CPNRD and Twin Platte NRD have a grant through the Nebraska 76 


Environmental Trust for subsurface data collection in the Central Platte. Cannia from Aqua Geo 77 


Frameworks, the contractor completing the work, provided a brief presentation on the data 78 


collection process. Electromagnetics are used to measure the resistivity of materials, such as 79 


clays and gravels, to map the subsurface layers of material. The data is then calibrated using well 80 


logs from test holes in the area. The price of the work includes data analysis, groundwater 81 


modeling inputs, mapping inputs and a final report. The Program may also request extra data 82 


collection for the J-2 Reservoir area or potential recharge sites. This can help the Program 83 


determine if there are any thick clay layers for storage projects, or sand/gravel deposits that may 84 


support recharge facilities. 85 


 86 


NPPD Water Leasing:  Jeff Shafer, NPPD 87 


Shafer reported the surface water transfers applications are still pending with the NDNR.  88 


 89 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/09/16 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Water Advisory Committee before approval.   
PRRIP WAC Meeting Minutes  Page 3 of 8 


 


 


Kenny talked about the NPPD’s recharge projects in the Dawson County and Gothenburg Canals 90 


using excess flows.  The project is already permitted through the NDNR and the NPPD is 91 


offering an affordable price. The Program has leased some recharge water already and is looking 92 


at a 2016 water service agreement with the NPPD. 93 


 94 


CNPPID Water Leasing:  Jerry Kenny, ED 95 


There are no new updates from the last meeting. The Program hopes to try water leasing with 96 


irrigators in the future and will talk with the CNPPID and GC about 2016 leases. Since it is a 97 


new concept, it may take irrigators a year or two to get comfortable with the project. 98 


 99 


CPNRD Groundwater Market:  Jerry Kenny, ED 100 


Kenny noted the official term used is “exchange” instead of market. The CPNRD Groundwater 101 


Exchange is a blind exchange where sellers and buyers both put in offers for groundwater, and 102 


then a matching software is used to make transactions. The Program was a bidder and did a 103 


tiered bidding strategy to try to understand the demand curve for water. Unfortunately, the 104 


Program did not have any accepted bids. There were successful transactions within the exchange; 105 


however, they were farmer to farmer transactions. The Program asked the CPNRD to consider a 106 


post-exchange framework for negotiations to add more flexibility in the future. The Program 107 


likely did not offer high enough bids, due to the reduced yield for the Program based on the 108 


scoring process. 109 


 110 


Wet Meadows Update:  Scott Griebling, ED Office 111 


Wet meadows monitoring will continue through the spring. Griebling said the atmometers are 112 


installed, bubbler staff gages will be installed (to accommodate high flows) and soil moisture 113 


monitoring continues.  114 


 115 


COHYST Update:  Scott Griebling, ED Office 116 


COHYST is nearing completion – the GUI (graphical user interface) is almost complete for the 117 


integrated model run (surface water, groundwater and watershed models). The model will soon 118 


go from 1947 through 2010.  119 


 120 


Broad-Scale Recharge and Slurry Wall Concept:  Sira Sartori, Scott Griebling and Kevin 121 


Werbylo, ED Office and Jerry Kenny, ED 122 


Sartori gave an overview of the documentation on broad-scale recharge provided to the WAC 123 


and requested the WAC review and provide comments to the ED Office (white paper and status 124 


update memorandum). Econopouly said he would like the ED Office to add a section on the risks 125 


and uncertainties of the project (e.g., permitting and upstream competition for excesses).potential 126 


risks of the project.  127 


 128 


Werbylo gave updates on the feasibility testing at the Cottonwood Ranch site for potential broad-129 


scale recharge operations. Infiltration test pits were constructed on the Cottonwood Ranch site at 130 


the end of February/early March this year. One is an excavated test pit and one is a bermed test 131 


pit. Testing will run from March through June or July. Preliminary results show average 132 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/09/16 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Water Advisory Committee before approval.   
PRRIP WAC Meeting Minutes  Page 4 of 8 


 


 


infiltration rates of 0.3 ft/day for the bermed pit and 0.1 ft/day for the excavated pit. The U.S. 133 


Geological Survey (USGS) is scheduled to start a survey this week to evaluate the site’s 134 


subsurface material using an OhmMapper. This data will be used to assess the potential of 135 


recharge pond construction and operations at the site.  136 


 137 


The ED Office is also developing a groundwater model of the Cottonwood Ranch site to assess 138 


the feasibility. Griebling briefly described the model construction, extent of area modeled and 139 


the anticipated schedule to complete modeling. Little noted there is some high groundwater in 140 


the area to be aware of. 141 


 142 


Runge asked the ED Office when the Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) and Land Advisory 143 


Committee (LAC) would have a chance to review the project. Kenny said that after feasibility 144 


testing is complete, the concept can be introduced to other committees.  145 


Sartori introduced a new concept of constructing slurry walls around gravel pits to construct 146 


below-grade reservoirs. This would be another way to use excess flows and retime water, as the 147 


Cottonwood Ranch infiltration rates are lower than expected. The Program could either purchase 148 


existing pits with potential for slurry wall construction, or hire a company to mine out a new site. 149 


 150 


Kenny discussed how projects have evolved over time, since the J-2 Reservoir size and yield are 151 


less in the one-cell option, than in the original two-cell option. The ED Office evaluated broad-152 


scale recharge to compensate for the reduction in yield from the J-2 Reservoir. Cottonwood 153 


Ranch emerged as a potential site for recharge operations, as the site is an appropriate distance 154 


from the river and the Program owns or manages the properties and can easily gather 155 


information. The Program is moving forward studying the feasibility of recharge beginning with 156 


infiltration tests, stratigraphy surveys and groundwater modeling. Since the groundwater is high 157 


and infiltration rates are low at Cottonwood Ranch, a broad-scale recharge project may not yield 158 


what was anticipated during the project conception. The concept of using existing gravel pits as 159 


storage facilities developed as an alternative way to capture and retime excess flows. A 160 


combination of small gravel pit reservoirs could be constructed along the Platte River. Excess 161 


flows would be retimed similar to the J-2 Regulating Reservoir. 162 


 163 


Altenhofen asked how the NDNR would deal with gravel pit seepage. Kenny responded that the 164 


Program would work closely with the NDNR on the dam safety requirements; however, the 165 


NDNR has determined that seepage into gravel pits is not a depletion, so there shouldn’t be any 166 


issues with that aspect. Slurry walls key into bedrock, or at least a low-permeability layer, so 167 


seepage should be negligible.  It creates a volume of below-grade storage that is isolated from 168 


the surrounding groundwater. Mike Applegate mentioned the Colorado State Engineer’s Office 169 


has guidelines for lining criteria/allowable seepage into gravel pit lakes, as this has been a 170 


popular concept in Colorado. 171 


 172 


Hovorka asked if these storage basins could be used to store leased water rights that return to the 173 


river during times when the Program doesn’t need water, during excesses. Kenny said yes, one of 174 


the benefits of gravel pit lakes is that they could be constructed at various locations. Plus, the 175 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/09/16 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Water Advisory Committee before approval.   
PRRIP WAC Meeting Minutes  Page 5 of 8 


 


 


Program doesn’t need large areas of land at specific locations, like at the J-2 Reservoir site. Mike 176 


Applegate was selected as a Special Advisor to the ED Office to help in the evaluation of gravel 177 


pit lakes and slurry walls in the Central Platte Basin. 178 


 179 


Gravel Pit Slurry Walls for Storage:  Mike Applegate (Special Advisor), Applegate Group, Inc. 180 


Applegate provided an overview presentation on the general concept of slurry wall construction 181 


and the concerns regarding seepage and groundwater impacts of these types of projects. 182 


Applegate discussed the two methods to construct slurry wall trenches and the basic 183 


requirements to appropriately select sites, including evaluating the bedrock and subsurface 184 


materials. Data collected for the design includes geotechnical properties of the soil, survey data, 185 


estimates of on-site materials, groundwater table data, bedrock data and floodplain maps. He 186 


emphasized the importance of quality assurance/quality control during the design and 187 


construction phases of the projects. A contiguous layer of impermeable or low permeable 188 


materials to serve as the reservoir bottom for the slurry wall to key into is imperative in site 189 


selection. Applegate discussed some of the requirements for seepage rates used by the State 190 


Engineer’s Office in Colorado. It is unknown whether slurry walls have been used in Nebraska; 191 


however, they are very common along the South Platte in Colorado. 192 


 193 


Excess Flow Analysis:  Scott Griebling, ED Office  194 


The excess flow analysis was presented to the WAC by Griebling. He presented various graphs 195 


of annual/monthly gage excesses, excess distribution characterized over various time periods and 196 


showed the annual/monthly trends of excesses. A comparison of OpStudy hydrology excesses 197 


(used in the score model) and actual gage data was presented. The key points from the analysis 198 


include: 199 


 There is a wide variation in the distribution of excess flows; most years experience below 200 


average excesses, meaning high flows skew the average volume upwards. 201 


 Most of the excesses come in short periods of time during high flow events. 202 


 There are no clear trends in the distribution of excesses over the 1947 to 2015 analysis 203 


period. 204 


 OpStudy does a reasonable job of estimating gage excesses. 205 


 It may be best to capitalize on large flow events with storage and large diversion 206 


capacities.  207 


 208 


Hovorka stated that since the high flow events don’t occur often, it places more emphasize on 209 


drying up land and using the consumptive use credit for yield. Based on the cost increases of 210 


retiming and storage, other projects may start looking better for the Program.  211 


 212 


Nebraska Depletions Plan Update:  Jessie Winter, NDNR 213 


Winter went over the permitted uses including groundwater transfer permits, new well permits, 214 


groundwater variance permits and surface water permits. She described the net impact at the 215 


river through 2019. Kenny requested the calculations of the permitting activities and the 216 


mitigation efforts. Winter said the NDNR is working on compiling the data. There was some 217 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/09/16 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Water Advisory Committee before approval.   
PRRIP WAC Meeting Minutes  Page 6 of 8 


 


 


discussion about how a smaller J-2 Reservoir size may impact the NDNR’s mitigation of 218 


activities. 219 


 220 


Hydroclimatic Indices Update:  Stuart Geiger and Dmitry Smirnov, Dewberry 221 


Overviews of the Phase I and Phase II Hydroclimatic Indices Reports were given by Geiger and 222 


Smirnov. Phase II focused on developing quantitative forecasts of streamflow in the North and 223 


South Platte Basins including streamflow estimates at Kersey, Julesburg and Lewellen. 224 


Refinements in the Hydroclimatic Indices included the addition of modeling locations and an 225 


expansion of the condition designations to include more categories. 226 


 227 


The forecasts for 2016 include: 228 


 South Platte snowpack – average (19.0 inches SWEmax) 229 


 Kersey streamflow – high average (279,100 AF) 230 


 Julesburg streamflow – high average (229,200 AF) 231 


 Lewellen streamflow –  high average (310,700 AF) 232 


 233 


Dewberry is working on Phase III and anticipates completing a draft report in July or August. 234 


The Phase III goals include exploring the driving mechanisms of the Palmer Drought Severity 235 


Index to confirm its relationship with the Platte hydrologic forecasts. Other aspects to be 236 


explored in Phase III include assessing the feasibility of earlier forecasts and developing a South 237 


Platte precipitation index forecast. 238 


 239 


Runge said he would be interested in a workshop to integrate the hydroclimatic indices tools in 240 


the EA and look at decision-making processes and suggested the fall EAC/RCC for the 241 


workshop. Steinke said the CNPPID and other districts would likely not depend on the forecast 242 


tool for operations, such as filling Lake McConaughy, but that it may be useful for the Program 243 


in determining how to manage EA releases. There was some discussion of whether the tools are 244 


easy to use. Smirnov stated all of the data is public and users have access to the methods and 245 


equations developed by Dewberry. Griebling confirmed the analysis is straight-forward. 246 


 247 


Kenny commented that it may take several years of evaluating the success rate of the 248 


hydroclimatic indices before groups begin to use the method. He noted that the group is much 249 


more interested in the potential of this tool than when the concept was initially introduced at the 250 


WAC. The tool provides a good lead time, with the potential for pushing initial forecasts in 251 


November of the previous year and Dewberry is working on improving quantitative forecasts. 252 


 253 


Choke Point Update:  Justin Brei, ED 254 


Brei discussed the four choke point activities:  255 


 256 
State Channel 257 


The Program received a draft permit for the state channel project. The conditions include 258 


wetland mitigation of 3:1 with a buffer, plus a covenant on the property deed(s) with wetland 259 


mitigation. The ED Office will do the design and bid the project; completion is anticipated by the 260 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/09/16 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Water Advisory Committee before approval.   
PRRIP WAC Meeting Minutes  Page 7 of 8 


 


 


end of 2016. Mitigation is anticipated on the Program’s Speidell tract. Mitigation areas will not 261 


be counted towards the Program’s habitat goals. The next steps in the state channel project 262 


include the design/bid for wetland mitigation, securing easements for the state channel footprint 263 


and creating management agreements with the Twin Platte NRD for maintenance of the site. 264 


 265 


Vegetation Control 266 


The Program is working on channel widening and disking as an initial way to increase the 267 


chokepoint capacity. The work will be completed during low flows when vegetation can be 268 


disked. Obtaining landowner agreements for disking on private property is underway. The 269 


Program is also working with Platte Valley Weed Management to spray phragmites this fall.  270 


 271 


Bypass Canals 272 


The status of using canals to route water from the North Platte to the South Platte in order to 273 


avoid the chokepoint is currently on-hold. The Program would need to increase the capacity of 274 


bottleneck points, such as laterals and waste ways, for the project to be useful. The Platte Valley 275 


Irrigation Canal/North Platte Canal has a large main capacity and is the canal with the most 276 


potential for bypass activities. The project may resume after channel widening/vegetation 277 


clearing is completed. 278 


 279 


USACE Section 206 Project 280 


The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) offers partnerships to develop projects that 281 


enhance habitat for plants/fish/wildlife. The Program is evaluating whether there are projects that 282 


could be completed through this partnership, including chokepoint activities (such as 283 


constructing levees) for the benefit of species habitat in the Central Platte. The Program would 284 


likely use State funding for this project since the USACE would partially match funding and 285 


likely require non-federal funds for the match. The Program would also likely partner with the 286 


Twin Platte NRD as a local sponsor to ensure long-term maintenance of any project completed 287 


under this type of partnership. 288 


 289 


Federal Depletions Plan Update:  Tom Econopouly, USFWS 290 


Econopouly reported the consultations in Colorado. There weren’t any consultations in Nebraska 291 


or Wyoming. 292 


 293 


Wyoming Depletions Plan Update:  Matt Hoobler, WY SEO 294 


Hoobler presented the three baselines, and current status of each, used in the Wyoming 295 


Depletions Plan. He reported the Platte River Basin Water Plan is to be completed in 2016 under 296 


the direction of the Wyoming Water Development Office. 297 


 298 


Colorado Depletions Plan Update:  Jon Altenhofen, Northern Colorado Water Conservancy 299 


District & Suzanne Sellers, CO Water Conservation Board 300 


Sellers reported on the North Platte accounting in Colorado. Altenhofen discussed retiming water 301 


in the Tamarack project. In the past two years, the Tamarack project has exceeded the 10,000 302 


AFY goal.  303 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/09/16 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Water Advisory Committee before approval.   
PRRIP WAC Meeting Minutes  Page 8 of 8 


 


 


 304 


Additional Business:  Cory Steinke, WAC Chair 305 


The next WAC meeting is August 9, 2016.  306 


 307 


Action Items 308 
 309 


General WAC 310 


 Review and provide comments on the broad-scale recharge white paper and gravel pit 311 


memorandum on the WAC website. 312 


 313 


ED Office 314 


 Add a section in the broad-scale documentation white paper on potential difficulties with 315 


the project including permitting, future excess flows and other risks. 316 


 317 








PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  04/28/2016 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Technical Advisory Committee. 
 
PRRIP April 20, 2016 TAC Meeting Minutes  Page 1 of 3 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 1 


Technical Advisory Committee Meeting Minutes 2 


Kearney, Ne – Executive Director’s Office 3 


April 20, 2016 4 


 5 


Meeting Participants 6 


Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) Table 


State of Colorado     
Suzanne Sellers – (Chair)  


 


State of Wyoming    
Jeff Geyer – Alternate 


 


State of Nebraska    


 


U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (Service)   
Matt Rabbe – Member 


 


Bureau of Reclamation (BOR)  


Brock Merrill – Member 


 


Environmental Entities    
Rich Walters – Member  


 


Upper Platte Water Users 


 


Colorado Water Users 


Kevin Urie – Member 


 


Downstream Water Users 
Mark Czaplewski – Member 


Jim Jenniges – Member 


Mark Peyton – Member 


Executive Director’s Office (EDO) 


Chad Smith 


Jason Farnsworth 


Dave Baasch 


Patrick Farrell 


 


Other Participants 


Andrew Pierson (Rowe) 


Kevin Marks (Colorado) 


Jeff Runge (FWS) 


Andrew Caven (Trust) 


Carol Flaute (NDNR) 


Amy Zoeller (NDNR) 


Tom Econopouly (FWS) 


Mike Drain (CNPPID)







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  04/28/2016 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Technical Advisory Committee. 
 
PRRIP April 20, 2016 TAC Meeting Minutes  Page 2 of 3 


Welcome and Administrative 7 


Sellers and Smith called the meeting to order and asked for agenda modifications; none offered.  8 


 9 


TAC Minutes 10 


Sellers asked the group if there were any suggested changes for the February 9, 2016 TAC Minutes. Jenniges 11 


moved to approve the February 9, 2016 TAC minutes as edited in the meeting packet; Czaplewski 12 


seconded the motion; all supported the motion. 13 


Program Publication 14 


Smith led the discussion and informed the TAC the ISAC reviewed the Unvegetated Channel Width 15 


manuscript and their suggestions were incorporated and that the EDO received no comments from the TAC. 16 


Czaplewski moved to recommend the GC approve publishing the Unvegetated Channel Width 17 


manuscript; Jenniges seconded the motion; all supported the motion. 18 


Smith led the discussion and informed the TAC the Service provided email comments on the Peak Flow Habitat 19 


Paradigm manuscript indicating they did not share the EDO position regarding pre-development conditions on 20 


the central Platte River related to tern and plover use and productivity. The TAC discussed the manuscript and 21 


the Service comments regarding the manuscript. Sellers asked if the Service comment suggested they did not 22 


support publication; Rabbe said the comment was to be a note for the record regarding the Service’s perspective 23 


about some of the information included in the manuscript. Jenniges and Baasch asked if there was any data 24 


that the manuscript was in conflict with or if the EDO failed to include any data the Service was aware of; 25 


Rabbe said there weren’t. Runge stated the Service position was articulated during the review of the Tern and 26 


Plover document peer review. Rabbe said he couldn’t see any implications publishing the manuscript on 27 


management. Jenniges said the manuscript could have substantial implications going forward because if it was 28 


available during the development of Program hypotheses, might have changed some of the FSM related 29 


hypotheses. Smith said, similar to the Stage Change Study, his concern is with the implications of the Service’s 30 


perspective going forward given the GC already approved accepting the Tern and Plover Chapters and the peer 31 


review as final. Walters and Czaplewski said the Service has used the same limited data in the past when 32 


writing the EIS and having the manuscript published should be considered best available science as well. Smith 33 


stated the document will be published as a Program document and on its behalf not as an EDO document. 34 


Jenniges moved to recommend the GC approve publishing the Peak Flow Habitat Paradigm 35 


manuscript; Czaplewski seconded the motion; all supported the motion. 36 


Program Peer Review 37 


Smith asked the TAC for input on the Whooping Crane Habitat Synthesis Chapter Peer Review Scope of Work 38 


and the Expertise for the peer review panel; Smith suggested seeking a whooping crane ecologist, ecological 39 


statistician, and riparian vegetation. Rabbe asked for additional time for the Service to review questions in the 40 


Scope of work; Smith asked the TAC to provide comments and specific questions by May 4th. Czaplewski 41 


moved the TAC recommend the GC approve the Whooping Crane Habitat Synthesis Chapter Peer 42 


Review Scope of Work that includes questions posed by the Service prior to May 4th; Jenniges seconded 43 


the motion; all supported the motion.  44 


Smith informed the TAC the EDO developed a memo regarding additional 8 post hoc whooping crane habitat 45 


selection analyses. Jenniges asked if the memo was new or a revised version of the previous memo regarding 46 


how channel width measures were made; Baasch said it was a new memo. Smith asked the TAC for an email 47 


vote to determine if the TAC supports appending the memo to the peer review package by May 4th. 48 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  04/28/2016 
 


This document is a draft based on one person's notes of the meeting. The official meeting minutes may be different if corrections are 
made by the Technical Advisory Committee. 
 
PRRIP April 20, 2016 TAC Meeting Minutes  Page 3 of 3 


Smith discussed including the WEST Whooping Crane Habitat Selection Report to the scope of work for the 49 


Whooping Crane Habitat Synthesis document peer review. Jenniges said the peer reviewers need the WEST 50 


Report to get the background information for the model used in the chapters. The TAC recommended we 51 


have the same peer review panel review of Whooping Crane Habitat Synthesis Chapter as well as the 52 


WEST Report. 53 


Platte River Recreational Access Program 54 


The TAC discussed recent discussions about modifying the dates on the signage for the PRRA to coincide with 55 


the updated migration window used in the Program’s Whooping Crane Monitoring Protocol. Rabbe said the 56 


Program’s BO includes the dates of March 23rd through April 29th so changing the dates to an earlier date 57 


would be more conservative than what’s in the BO. Jenniges suggested we remove the dates from the signs 58 


and simply include seasonal closures may apply. Rabbe said the next step would be to seek LAC support. 59 


Closing Business 60 


Baasch informed the TAC he posted the WEST Whooping Crane Habitat Selection Report and the 2015 61 


Stopover Study Report to the Program website. Jason informed the TAC the EDO has been analyzing tern and 62 


plover data and is developing an off-channel nest site selection report, off-channel LTPP survival report, and 63 


a productivity versus flow report.  64 


Summary of Decisions from the February 2016 TAC Meeting 65 


1. The TAC accepted the February 9, 2016 TAC minutes as final 66 


2. The TAC recommended the GC approve publishing the Unvegetated Channel Width manuscript 67 


3. The TAC recommended the GC approve publishing the Peak Flow Habitat Paradigm manuscript 68 


4. The TAC recommended the GC approve the Whooping Crane Habitat Synthesis Chapter Peer Review 69 


Scope of Work that includes questions posed by the Service prior to May 4th 70 


5. The TAC recommended we have the same peer review panel review the Whooping Crane Habitat 71 


Synthesis Chapter and the WEST Report. 72 








PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/17/2016 
 


DRAFT PRRIP May 17, 206 FC Minutes  Page 1 of 2 
 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM (PRRIP or Program) 1 


Finance Committee Meeting Minutes 2 


May 17, 2016 3 


 4 


Meeting Attendees 5 


 6 


Finance Committee (FC)    Executive Director’s Office (EDO) 7 


State of Wyoming     Jerry Kenny, Executive Director (ED) 8 


Harry LaBonde – Member (Chair)   Jason Farnsworth 9 


        Bruce Sackett 10 


State of Colorado     Chad Smith 11 


Suzanne Sellers – Member        12 


        13 


State of Nebraska      14 


Jeff Fassett – Member     15 


        16 


Bureau of Reclamation (Reclamation) 17 


Brock Merrill – Alternate 18 


 19 


U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (Service) 20 


None 21 


 22 


Environmental Entities 23 


None 24 


 25 


Colorado Water Users 26 


None 27 


 28 


Downstream Water Users 29 


Don Kraus – Member 30 


Brian Barels – Alternate 31 


 32 


Welcome and Administrative 33 


FC Chair LaBonde called the meeting to order at 2:09 p.m. Central Time. Kenny listed everyone on the 34 


call. 35 


 36 


Fassett moved to approve the February 26, 2016 FC minutes; Merrill seconded.  Kraus abstained from 37 


voting. Minutes approved. 38 


 39 


PRRIP Procurement Policy 40 


Kenny discussed potential revisions to the PRRIP Procurement Policy related to changes in federal 41 


government procurement policies as recommended by the Nebraska Community Foundation (NCF). The 42 


NCF worked with Reclamation auditors to review provisions related to the Program. Kenny said we are 43 


doing this so that we comply with federal standards to continue to receive federal funds. LaBonde asked 44 


what process the Program goes through to encourage minority and women-owned small businesses to 45 


participate in selection processes. Kenny said there are no restrictions to their pursuit of work currently, 46 


several firms that fall in that category are on the contact list for when Program RFPs are open for 47 


submission. Additional work would be required to actively solicit proposals from such firms. LaBonde said 48 


Wyoming follows a very specific process in this regard and keeping a list of those entities is a good first 49 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE DRAFT  05/17/2016 
 


DRAFT PRRIP May 17, 206 FC Minutes  Page 2 of 2 
 


step. Kenny said he will work with the NCF to see if there needs to be a more formal process implemented.  50 


Merrill said he would help with these issues. 51 


 52 


Kenny said in the Program’s standard form contract we will have to include reference to applicable federal 53 


provisions.  There is also language that requires a cost or price analysis before going to bid or receiving 54 


proposals for any contracts that will be over $150,000. Kenny believes we cover this through the work plan 55 


process. Merrill said he will send Kenny examples of cost and price analyses that the EDO can use to 56 


modify what is already being done to make sure we remain in compliance. Kenny said he will have to 57 


develop a form that all Headwaters/EDO employees will have to sign saying that we won’t engage in 58 


conflicts of interest and we won’t accept gratuities from contractors.  Merrill said it wouldn’t be limited to 59 


just Headwaters employees, it would also extend to anyone on a Proposal Selection Panel. 60 


 61 


Kenny said he working to have all these changes in front of the GC by the June meeting but moving the 62 


item to September would work as well. Kraus asked about Section 9 and the cost that would trigger the cost 63 


and price analysis requirement. Right now, that language is in the “greater than $50,000 section” so there 64 


needs to be some clarification as to when the cost and price analysis requirement applies. Kenny said he 65 


would clarify that with the NCF. 66 


 67 


Kraus moved to recommend the GC review and approve the edited PRRIP Procurement Policy; Merrill 68 


seconded. Motion approved. 69 


 70 


Closing Business 71 


LaBonde requested that we set the next FC meeting date at a later time. Kenny said the EDO would 72 


submit a Doodle poll once items come up that require FC attention. 73 


 74 


FC meeting adjourned at 2:33 p.m. Central time. 75 


 76 


Summary of Action Items/Decisions from May 17, 2016 FC meeting 77 


1) Approved February 26, 2016 FC minutes. 78 


2) Recommended GC review and approved of the revised PRRIP Procurement Policy. 79 








INCOME AND TAXES BY YEAR 6/1/2016


YEAR
INCOME TAXES NET INCOME


COMPLEX NON COMPLEX TOTAL TOTAL PER ACRE


2019
2018
2017
2016 * 99,527.06$    45,714.01$          145,241.07$   180,155.00$   27.00$   (34,913.93)$       
2015 143,120.25$  47,525.82$          190,646.07$   169,721.54$   25.39$   20,924.53$        
2014 143,744.10$  40,558.04$          184,302.14$   148,590.10$   23.56$   35,712.04$        
2013 172,638.02$  76,682.00$          249,320.02$   88,214.62$     15.41$   161,105.40$      
2012 180,000.00$   73,776.14$     13.07$   106,223.86$      
2011 100,000.00$   


* Represents estimated values in income and taxes.







Payments by Complex/Parcel - calendar year 2016


Complex Property Crop Income Hay/Pasture 
Income Mscl Income* Royalty 


Income Total Income


Plum Creek 2009007 5,500.00$        
2009003 1,000.00$       500.00$         


Totals 5,500.00$        1,000.00$       500.00$         7,000.00$               


Cottonwood Ranch 2010001 6,000.00$       
2010001 9,800.00$       
2010001 2,000.00$       
2009006 2,000.00$       


Totals -$                19,800.00$     -$               19,800.00$             


Elm Creek 2009002 4,350.00$           
2012002 7,290.00$          
2009005 2,500.00$       


Totals 4,350.00$        9,790.00$       -$               14,140.00$             


Pawnee 2015002
1,000.00$      


Totals -$                -$                1,000.00$      1,000.00$               


Ft. Kearney 2008001  $      1,600.00 
2008001  $      4,500.00 
2009001 5,903.36
2012003  $      1,600.00 
2009004 5,353.70$       
2015001


Totals -$                 $    18,957.06 -$               18,957.06$             







Complex Property Crop Income Hay/Pasture 
Income Mscl Income* Royalty 


Income Total Income


Shoemaker Island 2010004  $      3,720.00 
2010004  $      1,650.00 
2010004  $      1,650.00 
2010004  $      2,160.00 
2010004  $    11,000.00 
2010004  $    13,800.00 
2010004  $      4,650.00 


Totals -$                 $    38,630.00 -$               38,630.00$             


Grand Total Complex 99,527.06$      


Non-Complex Property Crop Income Hay/Pasture 
Income Mscl Income* Royalty 


Income Total Income


DeBore 2012004 3,100.00$        
2012004 2,400.00$       


Totals 3,100.00$        2,400.00$       -$               5,500.00$               


Broadfoot 2009008 2,200.00$           18,000.00$  
2009008
2009008 1,400.00$       
2009008 200.00$         


Totals 2,200.00$        1,400.00$       200.00$         18,000.00$  21,800.00$             


Liehs 2013001 12,000.00$      
2011001 688.01$             


Totals 12,000.00$      688.01$          -$               12,688.01$             


Alda 2011002 4,726.00$        1,000.00$    
2011002


Totals 4,726.00$        -$                -$               1,000.00$    5,726.00$               







Grand Total Non-Complex 45,714.01$      


Grand Total All Income 145,241.07$    
*Mscl Income includes Long term leases, FSA payments and Sponsorship rents.







Payments by Complex/Parcel - calendar year 2015


Complex Property Crop Income Hay/Pasture 
Income Mscl Income* Royalty 


Income Total Income


Plum Creek 2009007 5,550.00$       
2009003 1,000.00$       500.00$         


Totals 5,550.00$       1,000.00$       500.00$         7,050.00$               


Cottonwood Ranch 2010001 6,000.00$       
2010001 9,800.00$       
2010001 2,078.25$       
2009006 2,000.00$       


Totals -$                19,878.25$     -$               19,878.25$             


Elm Creek 2009002 4,350.00$       
2012002 8,100.00$       
2009005 2,500.00$       


Totals 4,350.00$       10,600.00$     -$               14,950.00$             


Pawnee 2015002 720.00$          


Totals -$                720.00$          -$               720.00$                  


Ft. Kearney 2008001  $      1,600.00 
2008001  $      4,500.00 
2009001  $    12,537.00 
2012003  $      1,600.00 
2009004  $    16,905.00 
2015001  $    24,750.00 


Totals -$                 $    32,450.00 29,442.00$     61,892.00$             







Complex Property Crop Income Hay/Pasture 
Income Mscl Income* Royalty 


Income Total Income


Shoemaker Island 2010004  $      3,720.00 
2010004  $      1,650.00 
2010004  $      1,650.00 
2010004  $      2,160.00 
2010004  $    11,000.00 
2010004  $    13,800.00 
2010004  $      4,650.00 


Totals -$                 $    38,630.00 -$               38,630.00$             


Grand Total Complex 143,120.25$    


Non-Complex Property Crop Income Hay/Pasture 
Income Mscl Income* Royalty 


Income Total Income


DeBore 2012004 3,100.00$       400.00$         
2012004 2,478.70$       


Totals 3,100.00$       2,478.70$       400.00$         5,978.70$               


Broadfoot 2009008 306.60$         18,096.00$  
2009008 1,400.00$       
2009008
2009008 432.00$         


Totals -$                1,400.00$       738.60$         18,096.00$  20,234.60$             


Liehs 2013001 15,000.00$     
2013001  $           34.00 


Totals 15,000.00$     -$                34.00$           15,034.00$             


Alda 2011002 728.52$       
2011002 5,550.00$       


Totals 5,550.00$       -$                -$               728.52$       6,278.52$               







Grand Total Non-Complex 47,525.82$      


Grand Total All Income 190,646.07$    
*Mscl Income includes Long term leases, FSA payments and Sponsorship rents.







Payments by Complex/Parcel - calendar year 2014


Complex Property Crop Income Hay/Pasture 
Income Mscl Income* Royalty 


Income Total Income


Plum Creek 2009007 10,554.60$     
2009003 1,000.00$       
2009003 500.00$         


Totals 10,554.60$     1,000.00$       500.00$         12,054.60$             


Cottonwood Ranch 2008002
2010001 2,211.70$       
2010001 12,602.00$     
2009006 3,170.00$       


Totals -$                17,983.70$     -$               17,983.70$             


Elm Creek 2009002 7,930.00$       
2012001 15,990.00$     
2012001 1,428.00$       
2012002 8,000.00$      
2012002 330.00$         
2012002 8,100.00$       
2009005 2,000.00$       


Totals 16,030.00$     19,418.00$     8,330.00$      43,778.00$             


Ft. Kearney 2008001 5,000.00$       
2009001 8,299.80$       
2012003 22,200.00$     
2012003 1,400.00$       


Totals 22,200.00$     14,699.80$     -$               36,899.80$             


Shoemaker Island 2010004 5,500.00$       
2010004 8,100.00$       
2010004 11,500.00$     
2010004 1,400.00$       







2010004 6,500.00$       
Totals -$                33,000.00$     28.00$           33,028.00$             


Grand Total Complex 143,744.10$    


Non-Complex Property Crop Income Hay/Pasture 
Income Mscl Income* Royalty 


Income Total Income


DeBore 2012004 3,000.00$       
2012004 3,287.90$       


Totals 3,000.00$       3,287.90$       -$               6,287.90$               


Broadfoot 2009008 3,071.39$       7,000.00$    
2009008 400.00$          


Totals 3,071.39$       -$                -$               7,000.00$    10,071.39$             


Liehs 2013001 15,000.00$     
2013001  $         944.56 


Totals 15,000.00$     -$                944.56$         15,944.56$             


Leaman East 2011001
Totals -$                646.12$          -$               646.12$                  


Alda 2011002 5,550.00$       
2011002 2,058.07$    


Totals 5,550.00$       -$                -$               2,058.07$    7,608.07$               


Grand Total Non-Complex 40,558.04$      


Grand Total All Income 184,302.14$    
*Mscl Income includes Long term leases, FSA payments and Sponsorship rents.







Payments by Complex/Parcel - calendar year 2013


Complex Property Crop Income Hay/Pasture 
Income Mscl Income* Royalty 


Income Total Income


Plum Creek 2009007 10,554.60$     
2009003 500.00$         


Totals 10,554.60$     -$                500.00$         11,054.60$             


Cottonwood Ranch 2008002 2,627.00$      
2010001 1,265.00$      
2010001 3,285.22$       
2010001 12,602.00$     
2009006 3,170.00$       


Totals 15,887.22$     3,170.00$       3,892.00$      22,949.22$             


Elm Creek 2009002 7,930.00$       
2012001 5,084.00$       
2012002 15,990.00$     
2012002 10,131.00$     
2009005 2,000.00$       


Totals 20,061.00$     21,074.00$     -$               41,135.00$             


Ft. Kearney 2008001  $      5,910.00 
2012003  $      1,700.00 
2012003  $     22,200.00 
2012003  $            98.00 
2008002  $      2,627.00 
2009001  $      4,149.00 
2009001  $      6,686.90 
2009004  $      5,753.00 
2009004  $    13,883.30 


Totals  $     22,298.00  $    30,807.20  $      9,902.00 63,007.20$             







Complex Property Crop Income Hay/Pasture 
Income Mscl Income* Royalty 


Income Total Income


Shoemaker Island 2010004  $      1,050.00 
2010004  $      5,000.00 
2010004  $      8,920.00 
2010004  $      8,100.00 
2010004  $    10,400.00 
2010004  $      1,022.00 


Totals -$                 $    34,492.00 -$               34,492.00$             


Grand Total Complex 172,638.02$    


Non-Complex Property Crop Income Hay/Pasture 
Income Mscl Income* Royalty 


Income Total Income


DeBore 2012004 3,000.00$       


Totals 3,000.00$       -$                -$               3,000.00$               


Broadfoot 2009008 61,000.00$     
2009008 2,082.00$      
2009008 7,071.00$    


Totals 61,000.00$     -$                2,082.00$      7,071.00$    70,153.00$             


Leaman East 2011001 50.00$            
Totals -$                50.00$            -$               50.00$                    


Alda 2011002 5,550.00$       
2011002 2,058.07$    


Totals 5,550.00$       -$                -$               5,550.00$               


Grand Total Non-Complex 78,753.00$      
Grand Total All Income 251,391.02$    
*Mscl Income includes Long term leases, FSA payments and Sponsorship rents.





		Summary

		2016

		2015

		2014

		2013






Task/Contract Name Estimated FY16 Cost
PRRIP 
Budget 


Line Item


Approved FY16 
PRRIP Budget 


Amount


FY16 PRRIP Budget Available 
(approved budget less 


previous commitments)
Contract Entity


Previous GC, FC, or 
Advisory Committee 


Action
Requested GC Action June 2016 GC Meeting 


Document Reference


Geomorphology and Vegetation 
Monitoring and Data Analysis 512,981.00$                G-5 513,000.00$                513,000.00$                                Tetra Tech


FC approved contract 
amendment in February 


2016
N/A N/A


Website Support, Maintenace, 
and System Enhancements 80,822.70$                  PD-8 81,000.00$                  81,000.00$                                  Riverside


FC approved contract 
amendment in February 


2016
N/A N/A


Independent Scientific Advisory 
Committee 165,200.00$                ISAC-1 203,400.00$                203,400.00$                                Six (6) ISAC 


members


FC approved six (6) contract 
amendments in February 


2016
N/A N/A


Hydroclimatic Indices 51,000.00$                  WP-9


 $25,000.00 (CWCB 
will also provide 


$25,000; additional 
$1,000 will come from 
unexpended funds in 
other Water Budget 


line items) 


25,000.00$                                  Dewberry FC approved contract in 
February 2016 N/A N/A


Grassland Vegetation Monitoring 67,908.00$                  IMRP-2


 $60,000.00 (additional 
$7,908 will come from 
unexpended funds in 


other AMP Budget line 
items) 


60,000.00$                                  Prairie Legacy GC approved sole-source 
contract in March 2016 N/A N/A


Imagery Acquisition 297,528.00$                G-1 & G-2 200,000.00$                200,000.00$                                Quantum Spatial GC approved FY16 budget Approve multi-year 
contract


12 – LiDAR Selection Memo 
& Contract


PRRIP Whooping Crane Peer 
Review 71,600.00$                  PD-3 107,400.00$                107,400.00$                                Peer reviewers, 


Louis Berger
TAC support for joint peer 


review


Approve peer review 
scope of work and appoint 


review panel


15 – Whooping Crane 
Documents Peer Review 


Memo


PRRIP Publications 9,300.00$                    PD-21 9,000.00$                    9,000.00$                                    Various journals GC approved FY16 budget; 
TAC support for publication


Approve publication of 
three (3) manuscripts


16 – Unvegetated Channel 
Width Manuscript           


17 – Peak Flow Habitat 
Paradigm Manuscript       


18 – Channel Width & Nest 
Incidence Manuscript


3rd Quarter 2016


1st Quarter 2016


2nd Quarter 2016


4th Quarter 2015








PRRIP – ED OFFICE MEMORANDUM    5/18/2016 
 


 


TO: GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
FROM: LIDAR SELECTION PANEL – JUSTIN BREI, JASON FARNSWORTH, RICH WALTERS 
SUBJECT: RECOMMENDATION FOR 2016-2019 LIDAR CONTRACTOR 
DATE: MAY 18, 2016 
 
Multi-year RFP Overview 
The LiDAR and Aerial Photography RFP includes a scope of work covering the following activities:   


 Annual summer aerial imagery acquisition (2016-2019) 


 Annual fall LiDAR and concurrent imagery acquisition (2016-2019) 


 Annual summer LiDAR acquisition of J-2 Return to Overton bridge reach 


 Buy-up option for bathymetric LiDAR acquisition – all LiDAR flights 
 
Bathymetric LiDAR (green LiDAR) is a water-penetrating LiDAR technology that will provide 
topographic information for the river bottom, essentially removing the need for manual geomorphic 
anchor point transect surveys.  2016 will be a test year for the bathymetric LiDAR, and if it meets 
expectations, it will be implemented for all years. 
 
Recommendation 
Four proposals were received in response to the RFP.  One proposal did not include the required 
bathymetric buy-up option and was considered unresponsive.   The remaining proposals were evaluated 
based on qualifications and cost.  The selection panel recommends that the Governance Committee accept 
the proposal from Quantum Spatial, Inc (QSI).  QSI is one of the largest geospatial data acquisitions firms 
in the United States and demonstrated the most experience with bathymetric LiDAR.  Their proposal 
includes accuracy and point density standards above what was asked for and the deliverables described in 
their proposal showed the best understanding of PRRIP’s needs under this RFP.  QSI’s proposal was not 
the lowest-cost option.  At a total cost (including optional buy-ups) of $1,400,181.00 over the four-year 
contract, this proposal is 10% higher than the lowest-cost offering.  However, the other two proposals 
demonstrated very little experience with bathymetric LiDAR acquisition, and the selection panel believes 
that the 10% cost difference is justified in experience and quality deliverables.  
 
Budget Implications 
The total 2016 expenditure on aerial imagery and LiDAR acquisition will be $297,529. The Program 
budgeted $200,000 for 2016 acquisition under line items G1 & G2. This was an increase of $75,000 from 
the 2015 budget to allow for a limited reach bathymetric LiDAR test in June of this year. However, flows 
in the Associated Habitat Reach are currently elevated and are expected to remain high through much of 
the summer. Turbidity associated with high flows and local runoff would likely severely limit the 
accuracy of bathymetric LiDAR. Accordingly, the Executive Director’s Office is recommending 
canceling of the June LiDAR test and substituting with a full bathymetric LiDAR flight in association 
with fall imagery collection.1  This substitution of a full fall bathymetric collection ($151,274) for a 


                                                      
1 Assuming that water clarity is acceptable. 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE MEMORANDUM    5/18/2016 
 


 


limited 14-mile June collection ($58,352) results in a $97,529 line item budget shortfall in 2016. The line 
item budget shortfall will be made up with monies from line item LP-2 (habitat management).2  
 
If the bathymetric LiDAR test is successful and the Program obtains the permits necessary for full-scale 
sediment augmentation implementation, annual remote sensing costs in years 2017 – 2019 will be 
$367,552. This is a substantial increase in expenditures from past years. Approximately $60,000 of the 
increase is associated with collection of bathymetric LiDAR each June for the reach extending from the J-
2 Return downstream to the Elm Creek bridge. The June LiDAR collection will be a key component of 
sediment augmentation implementation monitoring and is expected to be much more cost efficient than 
establishing and surveying a channel transect network.  
 
Approximately $45,000 of the increase is due to acquisition of higher resolution imagery during the June 
flight. June imagery has historically been collected at a much lower resolution than fall imagery. Recent 
EDO analyses indicate greater potential for error when photo-interpreting channel metrics and changes in 
land use from June imagery due to the lower quality. Improving June imagery specifications to match the 
fall acquisition will provide for consistent datasets with lower potential for classification error.  
 
 The remainder of the annual increase (~$137,000) is associated with the collection of bathymetric 
LiDAR in the fall.  Assuming bathymetric LiDAR performance is acceptable, it will replace the field 
survey component of the Program’s system-scale geomorphology monitoring in 2017. The Program 
currently expends in excess of $500,000 on that effort annually. The increased cost of bathymetric 
LiDAR is expected to be more than offset by the elimination of annual field surveys of channel geometry. 
The continuous coverage of LiDAR will also dramatically improve the Program’s ability to detect and 
analyze spatial differences in channel morphology within the AHR.3    
 
If the Program is unable to implement full-scale sediment augmentation and/or bathymetric LiDAR 
performance is not acceptable, the Program retains the right to cancel or forego any of the data collections 
anticipated under the contract. Accordingly, the four-year total contract cost of $1,400,181 represents a 
maximum potential expenditure.    


                                                      
2 Sufficient excess budget is available in LP-2 due to the decision not to rebuild mechanical nesting islands at 
Shoemaker Island and Elm Creek Complexes and reduced need for disking due to persistent high flow conditions in 
the reach.   
3 The existing protocol includes field collection of three channel transects at approximately 2.5 – 5.0 mile intervals 
throughout the AHR. Accordingly, the data collection cost is extremely high in relation to area of coverage.  







PRRIP – ED OFFICE  5/20/2016 
 


 - 1 -


Quantum Spatial, Inc.      Nebraska Community Foundation 1 
517 SW 2nd St., Suite 400     PO Box 83107 2 
Corvallis, OR 97333      Lincoln, NE 68501-3107 3 
TIN# 39-1133181      TIN# 47-0769903 4 
 5 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 6 
Agreement between Nebraska Community Foundation, Platte River Recovery 7 


Implementation Program, and Quantum Spatial, Inc. 8 
  9 
1. Parties. 10 


This Agreement is made and entered into by and between the Nebraska Community 11 
Foundation (“Foundation”) of Lincoln, Nebraska, representing all signatories to the Platte 12 
River Recovery Implementation Program (“Program”) and Quantum Spatial, Inc. 13 
(“Contractor”). The following persons are authorized to represent the parties through this 14 
Agreement: Diane Wilson of the Foundation, Dr. Jerry Kenny of the Program; and Dr. 15 
Andrew Brenner of the Contractor. 16 


 17 
2. Purpose and Authority.   18 


The purpose of this Agreement is to allow the Foundation, acting as the fiscal agent for the 19 
Governance Committee (GC) of the Program, and the Contractor to enter into a firm fixed 20 
price Agreement for the Project “P16-009: 2016-2019 Annual LiDAR and Aerial 21 
Photography.” 22 


 23 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS 24 
 25 
3. Scope of Work and Schedule 26 


The Contractor will complete the base scope of work described in the Program’s “P16-009: 27 
2016-2019 Annual LiDAR and Aerial Photography” Request for Proposals (Attachment 1), 28 
and the Contractor’s Response to Request for Proposal (Attachment 2). 29 
 30 
The annual acquisition schedule for the base project is as follows: 31 
 32 


 June 2016:  Sub-project 2 - Aerial photography  33 
 November/December 2016:  Sub-project 1 - LiDAR and concurrent aerial 34 


photography 35 
 May/June 2017:  Sub-project 2 - Aerial photography and Sub-project 2a - LiDAR 36 
 November/December 2017:  Sub-project 1 - LiDAR and concurrent aerial 37 


photography 38 
 May/June 2018:  Sub-project 2 - Aerial photography and Sub-project 2a - LiDAR 39 
 November/December 2018:  Sub-project 1 - LiDAR and concurrent aerial 40 


photography  41 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE  5/20/2016 
 


 - 2 -


 May/June 2019:  Sub-project 2 - Aerial photography and Sub-project 2a - LiDAR 42 
 November/December 2019:  Sub-project 1 - LiDAR and concurrent aerial 43 


photography 44 
 45 
The Program’s Executive Director’s Office (ED Office) will issue a Notice to Proceed to the 46 
Contractor prior to each acquisition. 47 
 48 
The Foundation shall be responsible only for the financial aspects of the Contractor’s 49 
relationship with the Governance Committee. Technical aspects of the Contractor’s 50 
relationship with the Governance Committee will be the sole responsibility of the ED Office. 51 


 52 
4. Deliverables  53 


a) LiDAR (terrestrial and bathymetric) 54 
i) LiDAR point data meeting or exceeding 2.3 ft (0.7 m) GSD resolution in a 55 


classified LAS file format and adhering to the technical specifications in III.3 56 
above.  LAS file projected to Nebraska State Plane Feet (1983 datum) and vertical 57 
reference NAVD88 feet (Geoid 03).  Classified LAS file will include all LiDAR 58 
points, including first and last returns. 59 


ii) Daily reports during acquisition that display all flight lines, as well as completed 60 
areas.  Once acquisition is complete, a project summary report that shows time 61 
and date of all flightline acquisitions.  Time of day, not just the day, is important 62 
to match river flow condition to acquisition. 63 


iii) Tiling scheme shapefile for identifying LAS and DEM file locations.  Tile size 64 
and file size is flexible and will be discussed upon award of project. 65 


 66 
b) Digital Elevation Model 67 


i) Hydro-flattened bare-earth digital elevation model raster tiles (3-foot cell size), 68 
projected in Nebraska State Plane coordinate system – elevation and projection in 69 
feet.   70 


1) See pages 11-13, 15, and Appendix 2 of the USGS LiDAR Guidelines and 71 
Base Specifications v13 for details on hydro-flattening:  72 
http://pubs.usgs.gov/tm/11b4/.  In the proposal, provide details of the 73 
software/methodology to be used for this alternative. 74 


2) Breaklines used in the generation of the hydro-enforced DEM are also a 75 
required deliverable. 76 


ii) Full project area mosaic of digital elevation model tiles (3-foot cell size). 77 
iii) NOTE: For Bathymetric LiDAR acquisition, two versions of the DEM will be 78 


required.  One hydro-enforced DEM for the given flow conditions during the 79 
flight, and one DEM that incorporates bathymetry below the water surfaces. 80 
 81 
 82 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE  5/20/2016 
 


 - 3 -


c) Imagery 83 
i) Color-infrared (Sub-Project 1) and 4-band (Sub-Project 2) digital 84 


orthophotography with a six-inch (0.5 ft) pixel resolution (or better), covering the 85 
entire project area seamlessly and without data gaps.   86 


ii) The imagery should be geo-referenced and provided in GeoTIFF (.tif) format.   87 
iii) Shapefiles displaying photocenters and flight dates and times for image 88 


acquisitions.  Time of day, not just the day, is important to match river flow 89 
condition to acquisition. 90 


iv) Compressed imagery mosaic (.sid).  Typically entire reach compiled into one 91 
mosaic, but may be split due to file size.  Sub-Project 2 will require both a RGB 92 
mosaic and a CIR mosaic.  Sub-Project 1 will be a CIR mosaic only. 93 


 94 
d) LiDAR and Imagery 95 


i) FGDC-compliant metadata to include, but not limited to: flight dates and times, 96 
flight altitude, camera system information, LiDAR system information, aircraft 97 
information, imagery resolution, LiDAR point density, horizontal accuracy, post-98 
processing software and steps, and horizontal and vertical control references. 99 


ii) Ground survey control points and reports on all points used in this project.  100 


iii) All geo-referenced deliverables to be projected in Nebraska State Plane Feet 101 


(1983 datum).  102 


iv) All LiDAR data, photography, and supplemental products will be delivered on 103 
USB external hard drives or flash drives and will become the property of the 104 
Program.  All media and data collected under the contract shall be the sole 105 
property of and can be freely distributed by the Program.  No restrictions shall be 106 
placed on the data by the contractor. 107 


 108 
5. Compensation 109 


Compensation will occur for work in accordance with the approved scope of work and Firm 110 
Fixed Price Proposal submitted by the Contractor (Attachment 2). The duration of this 111 
contract will be the date of execution to December 31, 2019, with the budget allocated 112 
accordingly based on Program Fiscal Years (same as calendar years).   113 
 114 
Total Base Project Compensation (Program Fiscal Year): 115 
FY2016: $146,254.00 116 
FY2017:  $173,165.00 117 
FY2018: $173,165.00 118 
FY2019: $173,165.00 119 
 120 
Total Base Project Amount Funded for this Agreement: $665,749.00 121 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE  5/20/2016 
 


 - 4 -


At the discretion of the Program, bathymetric LiDAR may be collected in addition to 122 
terrestrial LiDAR as described in the buy-up section (Section IV) of the RFP for Sub-project 123 
1 and Sub-project 2A.  The following compensation will be added annually, in addition to 124 
the base compensation, if the buy-up is selected for that period.  All LiDAR flights are 125 
subject to retiming or cancellation based on river conditions during the flight window and the 126 
billing will be adjusted accordingly. 127 
 128 
Buy-up Project Compensation (per sub-project, per year): 129 
Sub-project 1 (November/December 2016-2019):  $151,274.00 130 
Sub-project 2a (May/June 2017-2019):  $43,112.00 131 
 132 
Maximum Buy-up Amount Funded for this Agreement: $734,432.00 133 
 134 
Maximum Total Amount Funded for this Agreement (Base + Buy-up): $1,400,181.00 135 


 136 
Activities in 2017, 2018, and 2019 are subject to Program Governance Committee 137 
budget authorization and a subsequent Notice to Proceed from the ED Office. 138 
 139 
Contractor shall provide written requests for payment to the ED Office (address included 140 
below). The Contractor may submit partial billing on a percent completed basis.  Invoices 141 
should be accompanied by a summary of work completed under the invoice.  Invoices should 142 
be submitted no less than twice per year (after each sub-project delivery).  Request for final 143 
payment shall be submitted along with final deliverables. The Program’s Executive Director, 144 
upon receiving a bill, will approve the bill and advise the Foundation of approval. The 145 
Foundation will make payment of these funds directly to the Contractor within 30 days. 146 
Payments of bills are due within 60 days after the billing date. 147 


 148 
Billing Point of Contact (Program): 149 
Dr. Jerry F. Kenny, Executive Director 150 
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program 151 
Headwaters Corporation 152 
4111 4th Avenue, Suite 6 153 
Kearney, Nebraska 68845 154 
Phone: (308) 237-5728 155 
Fax: (308) 237-4651 156 
Email: kennyj@headwaterscorp.com 157 
 158 


6. Time Frame 159 
This Agreement describes an approximately four-year program of work encompassing 160 
LiDAR and aerial photograph acquisitions and processing occurring twice annually prior to 161 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE  5/20/2016 
 


 - 5 -


December 31, 2019. Under the Agreement, Notice to Proceed from the ED Office will be 162 
required prior to commencement of each sub-project acquisition. 163 
 164 
The initial date of this agreement shall be the date of signing. The final date of this 165 
agreement shall be approximately December 31, 2019. This time frame may be extended 166 
upon mutual agreement of the parties and pursuant to the Program. 167 


 168 
7. Amendments and Termination 169 


This Agreement, scope, and budget may be amended by mutual written consent of the parties 170 
pursuant to the Program. This Agreement may be terminated within 30 days notice by any 171 
party. 172 


 173 
8. Agreement Contingent Upon Available Funding 174 


This Agreement is contingent upon funding availability and continuation of the Platte River 175 
Recovery Implementation Program. 176 


 177 
9. Inspection and Acceptance 178 


All deliverables furnished by the Contractor shall be subject to rigorous review by the ED 179 
Office prior to acceptance. 180 


 181 
10. Office Space, Equipment, and Supplies 182 


The Contractor will supply its own office space, equipment, and supplies. 183 
 184 


11. Independent Party 185 
The parties intend that the Contractor will not be considered an employee of the Foundation, 186 
but will act as an independent party for the Foundation. As an independent party, the 187 
Contractor will be responsible for all applicable taxes and is not eligible for any benefits 188 
provided by the Foundation. 189 
 190 


12. Confidentiality 191 
All documents, reports and any other work provided to or produced by the Contractor in the 192 
performance of this Agreement shall be kept confidential by the Contractor unless written 193 
permission for release is granted by the Program. 194 
 195 


13. Publicity 196 
Any publicity or media contact associated with the Contractor’s services and the result of 197 
those services provided under this Agreement shall be the sole responsibility of the Program. 198 
Media requests of the Contractor should be directed to the Director of Outreach and 199 
Operations in the ED Office. 200 
 201 


 202 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE  5/20/2016 
 


 - 6 -


14. Publication 203 
It is understood that the results of this work may be available to the Contractor for 204 
publication and use in connection with related work. Use of this work for publication and 205 
related work by the Contractor must be conducted with full disclosure to and coordination 206 
with the Program’s Technical Point of Contact. 207 
 208 


15. Rights in Data and Hardware 209 
All rights in data will be vested to the Program with the intent of sharing among stakeholders 210 
and the public as appropriate. Hardware and software purchased under this agreement shall 211 
be the property of the Program. 212 
 213 


16. Insurance 214 
The Contractor will maintain insurance coverage for Workers’ Compensation, General 215 
Liability, Professional Liability, and Automobile Liability and will provide certificates of 216 
insurance to Program upon request. 217 
 218 


17. Indemnification and Mutual Waiver 219 
A. Indemnification by Contractor. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor shall 220 


indemnify and hold harmless Foundation and Program, Foundation and Program’s officers, 221 
directors, partners, agents, consultants, and employees from and against any and all claims, 222 
costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to reasonable fees and charges of 223 
engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals, and all court, arbitration, or other 224 
dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the Project, provided that any such 225 
claim, cost, loss, or damage is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to 226 
damage to or destruction of tangible property, including the loss of use resulting therefrom, 227 
but only to the extent caused by any negligent act or omission of Contractor or Contractor’s 228 
officers, directors, partners, employees, or sub-consultants.  229 


B. Indemnification by Foundation and Program. To the fullest extent permitted by law, 230 
Foundation and Program shall indemnify and hold harmless Contractor, Contractor’s 231 
officers, directors, partners, agents, employees, and sub-consultants from and against any 232 
and all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges 233 
of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals, and all court, arbitration, or 234 
other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the Project, provided that any 235 
such claim, cost, loss, or damage is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, 236 
or to damage to or destruction of tangible property, including the loss of use resulting 237 
therefrom, but only to the extent caused by any negligent act or omission of Foundation or 238 
Program or Foundation or Program’s officers, directors, partners, agents, consultants, or 239 
employees, or others retained by or under contract to the Contractor with respect to this 240 
Agreement or to the Project.  241 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE  5/20/2016 
 


 - 7 -


C. Mutual Waiver. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Foundation, Program and Contractor 242 
waive against each other, and the other’s employees, officers, directors, agents, insurers, 243 
partners, and consultants, any and all claims for or entitlement to special, incidental, 244 
indirect, or consequential damages arising out of, resulting from, or in any way related to 245 
the Project.  246 


18. Contacts 247 
 248 


Administrative Point of Contact (Foundation): Admin. Point of Contact (Program): 249 
Diane M. Wilson Dr. Jerry F. Kenny, Executive Director 250 
Manager of Public/Private Partnerships Platte River Recovery Implementation Prog. 251 
Nebraska Community Foundation Headwaters Corporation 252 
PO Box 83107 4111 4th Avenue, Suite 6 253 
Lincoln, Nebraska 68501-3107 Kearney, Nebraska 68845 254 
Phone: (402) 323-7330 Phone: (308) 237-5728 255 
Fax: (402) 323-7349 Fax: (308) 237-4651 256 
Email: dwilson@nebcommfound.org Email: kennyj@headwaterscorp.com 257 
 258 
Technical Point of Contact (Program): Media Point of Contact (Program): 259 
Justin Brei, P.E., Biosystems Engineer Dr. Bridget Barron, Director of Outreach 260 
Platte River Recovery Implementation Prog. Platte River Recovery Implementation Prog. 261 
Headwaters Corporation Headwaters Corporation 262 
4111 4th Avenue, Suite 6 4111 4th Avenue, Suite E 263 
Kearney, Nebraska 68845 Kearney, Nebraska 68845 264 
Phone: (308) 237-5728 Phone: (308) 237-5728 265 
Fax: (308) 237-4651 Fax: (308) 237-4651 266 
Email: breij@headwaterscorp.com Email: barronb@headwaterscorp.com 267 
 268 
Administrative Point of Contact (Contractor): Technical Point of Contact (Contractor): 269 
Dr. Andrew Brenner, Sr. Program Director Mr. Steven Miller, Sr. Project Manager  270 
Quantum Spatial, Inc. Quantum Spatial, Inc. 271 
517 SW 2nd St., Suite 400 517 SW 2nd St., Suite 400 272 
Corvallis, OR 97333 Corvallis, OR 97333 273 
Phone: (734) 680-6424 Phone: (720) 708-8555 274 
Email:  abrenner@quantumspatial.com  Email: Stevenmiller@quantumspatial.com  275 
 276 
 277 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE  5/20/2016 
 


 - 8 -


IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement. 278 
 279 
Nebraska Community Foundation   Quantum Spatial, Inc. 280 
 281 
 282 
 283 
By____________________________________ By_________________________________ 284 
DIANE M. WILSON, Manager of Public/Private  Andrew Brenner, Senior Program Director 285 
 Partnerships 286 
 287 
Date:  ____________________   Date:  ____________________288 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE  5/20/2016 
 


 


ATTACHMENT 1: 2016-2019 ANNUAL LIDAR AND AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHY REQUEST FOR 289 
PROPOSALS 290 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE  5/20/2016 
 


 


ATTACHMENT 2: QUANTUM SPATIAL, INC RESPONSE TO REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 291 





		2016 LiDAR Selection Memo

		PRRIP_2016-19_LiDAR_Contract_P16-009






PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL   07/01/2016 
 


PRRIP Procurement Policy  Page 1 of 7 


 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 1 


  Procurement Policy 2 


 3 


Office of the Executive Director 4 


Kearney, Nebraska 5 


 6 


I.  Introduction 7 


This directive establishes policy to be applied and overseen by the Executive Director (ED) and staff in 8 


coordination with Nebraska Community Foundation (NCF). The policy is intended to provide a clearly-9 


defined and efficient process for obtaining the goods, services, and construction required to meet the goals 10 


of the Platte River Recovery Implementation Program (Program) while maintaining appropriate oversight 11 


from the Governance Committee (GC) and Finance Committee (FC). As referenced below, it is intended 12 


to ensure sound business practice and compliance with laws and policy of the United States of America and 13 


the States of Colorado, Nebraska, and Wyoming.  14 


 15 


II. Authorities 16 


A Memorandum of Understanding among the States of Colorado, Nebraska, and Wyoming; Nebraska 17 


Community Foundation; and the Bureau of Reclamation, Department of the Interior establishes a financial 18 


management and administrative support process for NCF to assist the Program as the Financial 19 


Management Entity (FME). Funds for the Program are provided to the Program fromby the Department of 20 


Interior (pursuant to a cooperative agreement with NCF) and the states of Colorado and Wyoming. through 21 


a grant agreement with the Nebraska Community Foundation, referred to as the Financial Management 22 


Entity (FME). Therefore, transactions are subject to regulations established by the federal Office of 23 


Management and Budget (OMB) , the General Services Administration, and laws and regulations 24 


established by the States of Colorado, Nebraska, and Wyoming.  25 


 26 


OMB Circular A-110Title 2, Part 200 of the Code of Federal Regulations, - Uniform Administrative 27 


Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards for Grants and Other 28 


Agreements with Institutions of Higher Education, Hospitals and Other Non-Profit Organizations, and 29 


references therein provides regulations governing grantsawards of federal funds. All applicable 30 


documentation is available at www.whitehouse.gov/ombwww.ecfr.gov. 31 


 32 


Federal Acquisition Regulations (FAR) issued by the General Services Administration apply to acquisitions 33 


from for-profit entities. They are available at www.gsa.gov.  34 


 35 


The instructions below are intended to incorporate the principles and intent of regulations to the conduct of 36 


the Program. 37 


 38 


III. Exceptions 39 


The Program document states that land may be acquired through a willing buyer/willing seller process with 40 


prices and terms established by negotiation. The procedures provided in this directive do not apply to land 41 


acquisition. 42 


 43 


In addition to land, water may be acquired for Program purposes. Similar to land, the acquisition of water 44 


is to be accomplished through a negotiation process. The procedures provided in this directive do not apply 45 


to water acquisition. 46 


 47 


Retention of special advisors to the ED of a technical or legal nature is exempt from the procedures provided 48 


in this directive. 49 



http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb

http://www.gsa.gov/





PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL   07/01/2016 
 


PRRIP Procurement Policy  Page 2 of 7 


 


IV. Full and Open Competition 50 


With rare exceptions, procurement of goods, services, and construction will be the result of a competitive 51 


market place. When goods, services, and construction are obtained in a manner other than a competitive 52 


process, a written justification for this deviation will be provided to the Governance Committee for approval 53 


prior to goods, services, or construction procurements being awarded. TheA written justification for non-54 


competitive selection will be based on unique qualifications, special circumstances, or similar conditions. 55 


 56 


V. Small and Minority Businesses, Women’s Business Enterprises, and Labor Surplus Area 57 


Firms Programs 58 


The Governance Committee may elect to award contracts for goods, services, and construction through 59 


small or disadvantaged business set-asides.Program is committed to the inclusion of small and minority 60 


businesses, women’s businesses, and labor surplus area firms in its procurement practices and will take all 61 


necessary affirmative steps to assure that such firms are used, whenever possible. 62 


 63 


VI. Conflict of Interest 64 


Offerors on a project will be required to address whether or not any potential conflict of interest exists 65 


between that project and any of their past or on-going projects, including any projects currently being 66 


conducted for the Program. 67 


 68 


VII.     Suspension and Debarment 69 


Prior to entering into a contract or other agreement to procure goods or services in a covered transaction 70 


(generally, a transaction expected to equal or exceed $25,000), assurance will be obtained that the 71 


contracting entity and its principals are not suspended or debarred from receiving federal funds.  This will 72 


be done by one or more of the following processes:  (1) review of the active and inactive exclusions 73 


in https://www.sam.gov/, (2) collecting a certification from the entity, or (3) adding a clause to the covered 74 


transaction. 75 


 76 


VIII. Types of Contracts and Agreements for Procurement of Goods, Services, and Construction 77 


The following types of procurement formats/strategies will be employed, but they may be adjusted or 78 


modified for a specific procurement so the approach is the most appropriate method to fill the need.  79 


 80 


Formats: 81 


 Firm Fixed Price Contract – The total requirement has a fixed price for satisfactory delivery or 82 


complete performance. Progress payments can be made based on completion of predetermined 83 


deliverable milestones and percentage of contract amount for each.  84 


 85 


 Time and Materials Contract – Used when a determination is made that no other contract format 86 


is suitable; Ttypically used for labor intensive requirements where the hours needed may 87 


depend upon variables not clarified until the work has started; services are based upon direct 88 


labor hours at a specified fixed hourly rate and materials at cost (including a material handling 89 


fee). Generally, tThe agreement will provides for a “not to exceed”  maximum 90 


expenditureceiling price that the contractor exceeds at its own risk. Progress payments are 91 


based on elapsed time for services rendered during the agreed upon period. 92 


 93 


Strategies: 94 


 Specific Project Contract – A contract developed for a specific project wherein the terms, 95 


conditions, scope, budget, schedule, and contract form are specified. 96 



https://www.sam.gov/





PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL   07/01/2016 
 


PRRIP Procurement Policy  Page 3 of 7 


 


 Indefinite Delivery/Indefinite Quantity (ID/IQ) Term Contract – A multiple award contract for 97 


specified line items through which delivery orders can be negotiated and issued over a three to 98 


five-year period. There would be a guaranteed earnings level established for the contract. 99 


 100 


 Blanket Purchase Agreement (BPA) – An agreement for specific line items with a provider 101 


who is intermittently called upon for those goods or services; terms and conditions are 102 


negotiated up front and any orders against the BPA must comply. 103 


 104 


 Grant/Cooperative Agreement – An agreement with a non-profit or public entity which shares 105 


interest in the Program’s goals to provide services which benefit the interests of both parties. 106 


This is the only instrument where funds can be advanced prior to the work. 107 


 108 


Content: 109 


 Contracts will include, and will require contractors to include in all sub-contracts, the 110 


applicable provisions described in Appendix II to Part 200 of the Code of Federal Regulations. 111 


 112 


IX. Thresholds and Procedures 113 


Procurement thresholds and general procedures are as follows. Contract thresholds reference the intended 114 


total contract amount over the duration of the contract. For example, a contract that is intended to cover 115 


five years at $30,000 per year ($30,000/year x 5 years = $150,000) would be subject to the procedures for 116 


a >$50,000 threshold. Further procedural detail will be established by the Executive Director. 117 


 118 


The Executive Director can solicit proposals for goods, services, or construction costing less than $25,000 119 


without FC approval if the costs of the goods and services are within the budget approved by the GC. 120 


Solicitations for proposals or bids for goods, services, or construction costing $25,000 or more must be 121 


approved in accordance with the “Governance Committee Approval Process for Contract Services” 122 


specified herein. 123 


 124 


All Thresholds: Authorization of budgets lies with the FC and the GC as described in the Program 125 


Document and summarized subsequently in this document. Authority and responsibility for 126 


procurements contained within an authorized budget rests with the Executive Director.  Input from 127 


various Program Committees will be solicited as described below or as otherwise deemed 128 


appropriate by the ED. In addition to the monetary thresholds described below, guidance from the 129 


Governance Committee pertaining to requests in areas of particular sensitivity may result in 130 


variances from the procedures described. The ED may delegate authority in writing to personnel 131 


directly reporting to the ED for acquisitions less than $5,000. Personnel so authorized may not 132 


disburse more than $5,000 to any one entity in a single year. 133 


 134 


<= $3,000 Goods 135 


<= $2,500 Services 136 


<= $2,000 Construction 137 


 Need for proposed item or service is documented. 138 


 Up to three quotes should be acquired; transaction can be by phone or in writing. 139 


 Award may be to the low quote or most qualified providing best value. 140 


 141 


> $3,000 but < $10,000 Goods 142 


> $2,500 but < $10,000 Services 143 


> $2,000 but < $10,000 Construction 144 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL   07/01/2016 
 


PRRIP Procurement Policy  Page 4 of 7 


 


 Need for proposed item or service is documented 145 


 Three quotes will be acquired by phone or in writing. 146 


 Award may be to the low quote or most qualified providing the best value. 147 


 148 


=> $10,000 and < $25,000:  149 


 Need for proposed item or service is documented. 150 


 Requirement will be advertised on Program Web site for five business days. 151 


 Quotes will be provided in writing by providers. 152 


 Award may be to the low quote or most qualified providing the best value. 153 


 154 


>= $25,000 and <= $50,000:  155 


 Requirement is documented in detail – specifications, units, delivery schedule, level of 156 


expertise, qualifications of personnel, and other specific requirements are clearly defined.  157 


 Requirement will be advertised on Program Web site for a minimum of 15 days and a 158 


maximum of 30 days, based on discretion of ED. Notice of requirements may also be 159 


advertised in regional and/or local newspapers, based on discretion of ED, for up to three 160 


days with initial publication at least two weeks prior to offer closing date. 161 


 Quotes, bid packages, or proposals to be provided in writing as requested.  162 


 Pre-offer meeting may be held up to one week prior to offer closing date. 163 


 Submittals will be reviewed for determination of responsiveness and acceptability. 164 


 In the case of proposals: 165 


o Offers will be reviewed and where necessary, ranked by three or more subject 166 


matter experts. The selection of the subject matter experts will be based on 167 


knowledge and expertise of the project at issue. The panel of subject matter experts 168 


will be assembled with input from the appropriate Program Committees. The 169 


Governance Committee will always be solicited for input on the composition of 170 


the panel proposed. 171 


o An interview of the offerors with the subject matter experts and ED may or may 172 


not be required, as determined by the subject matter experts and the ED. 173 


o Award is to highest ranking offer where consideration may be given to fee as part 174 


of the selection process. Negotiation of scope and fee will occur subsequent to 175 


selection. 176 


 In the case of a bid or quote: 177 


o A public bid opening will be held. 178 


o Award is to lowest cost bidder who can meet the requirements of the bid 179 


solicitation. 180 


 181 


>$50,000:  182 


 Requirement is documented in detail – specifications, units, delivery schedule, level of 183 


expertise, qualifications of personnel, and other specific requirements are clearly defined. 184 


 For procurements, including contract modifications, over the Simplified Acquisition 185 


Threshold ($150,000 as of August 6, 2015), a cost or price analysis will be performed prior 186 


to receiving bids or proposals. 187 


 Requirement will be advertised on Program Web site for a minimum of 21 days and a 188 


maximum of 45 days, based on the discretion of the ED. Notice of requirements will also 189 


be advertised in regional and/or local newspapers for up to three days with initial 190 


publication at least three weeks prior to offer due date. 191 


 Quotes, bid packages or proposals to be provided in writing as requested.  192 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL   07/01/2016 
 


PRRIP Procurement Policy  Page 5 of 7 


 


 Pre-offer meeting may be held up to two weeks prior to bids/proposals due date. 193 


 Submittals will be reviewed for determination of responsiveness and acceptability. 194 


 In the case of proposals: 195 


o Offers will be reviewed and where necessary, ranked by three or more subject 196 


matter experts using a pre-determined evaluation system. The selection of the 197 


subject matter experts will be based on knowledge and expertise of the project at 198 


issue. The panel of subject matter experts will be assembled with input from the 199 


appropriate Program Committees. The Governance Committee will always be 200 


solicited for input on the composition of the panel proposed. 201 


o An interview of the offerors by the subject matter experts and ED may or may not 202 


be required, as determined by the subject matter experts and the ED. 203 


o Award is to highest ranking offer where consideration may be given to fee as part 204 


of the selection process. Negotiation of scope and fee will occur subsequent to 205 


selection. 206 


 In the case of a bid: 207 


o Conduct a public bid/proposal opening. 208 


o Award is to lowest cost bidder who can meet the technical requirements of the bid 209 


solicitation.  210 


 211 


X. Governance Committee Approval Process for Contract Services 212 


1. At each Governance Committee meeting, the Executive Director will report the contract services 213 


that will be sought during the interim until the next GC meeting.  The report will include the budget item 214 


under which the work will be performed and the estimated amount required to provide the services.  If the 215 


request is in an area of particular sensitivity, guidance from the Governance Committee may result in 216 


variances from the procedures described in terms of strictly monetary thresholds in the policy described 217 


previously in this document.  If the estimated amount exceeds the budget for the item, the increased budget 218 


must be approved by the GC before the selection process can be initiated.  The members of the GC may 219 


offer representatives to review the requests for proposal and/or serve on the selection team. 220 


 221 


2. The Executive Director will draft all Requests for Proposals (RFPs) and seek comments from the 222 


related advisory committee(s) and representatives offered by the GC members. 223 


 224 


3. The final drafts of the (RFPs) with the updated cost estimates will be submitted to the Finance 225 


Committee (FC).   226 


 227 


If the RFP is for a single-year service and cost estimates do not exceed the budget for the related work item, 228 


the FC may authorize the initiation of the selection process.  If the cost estimates exceed the budget for the 229 


related work item, the selection process must be delayed until the GC has the opportunity to approve or 230 


reject a budget increase. 231 


 232 


All RFPs proposing multi-year services must be reviewed by the FC and approved by the GC, even if the 233 


existing budget includes funds for the first year’s activities. This is necessary as multi-year contracts affect 234 


future budgets, and future budgets are the responsibility of the GC. 235 


 236 


4. The Executive Director will ensure the Selection Process progresses as outlined previously in this 237 


Program Procurement Policy and in Section X of this document.  For those requests requiring a selection 238 


panel, the Executive Director will organize a selection team that includes representatives from the related 239 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL   07/01/2016 
 


PRRIP Procurement Policy  Page 6 of 7 


 


advisory committee and representatives offered by the GC.  The Executive Director may chair the selection 240 


team or designate as chair: 241 


1. a member of the Executive Director’s staff 242 


2. a member or alternate of the Governance Committee 243 


3. the chair of the related Advisory Committee, or 244 


4. any other person approved by the Governance Committee. 245 


 246 


5. After selection of the consultant/contractor, the Executive Director will prepare the draft contract 247 


including, as a minimum: general provisions, scope of work, contract amount and schedule.  The draft 248 


contract will be submitted to the FC for review.   249 


 250 


If the contract meets the standards of the Program procurement policy, the contract is for a single-year 251 


service, and the contract amount is within the budget for the work item, the FC can authorize the Executive 252 


Director to finalize the contract and submit it to the FME, as well as issue the notice to proceed to the 253 


consultant/contractor.  If the contract amount exceeds the budget for the cost item, the finalization of the 254 


contract must be delayed until the GC has the opportunity to approve or reject a budget increase. 255 


 256 


If the contract meets the standards of the Program procurement policy, the FC can authorize the ED to 257 


finalize multi-year contracts if the RFP was approved by the GC and the proposed contract amount is within 258 


the budget for the first year’s activities. 259 


 260 


Multi-year contracts will specify that each year’s work activities and contract amount must be approved in 261 


writing before the consultant can proceed on that year’s assignments. In order to streamline this process, 262 


the FC can authorize the ED to issue the written notice to proceed if the budget approved by the GC for that 263 


year’s work activity is not exceeded. If revisions are needed to the budget, those revisions must be approved 264 


by the GC. 265 


 266 


XI. SELECTION PROCESSSelection Process 267 


When Program services are sought through the RFP process, written submittals and interviews, if 268 


considered necessary, will be utilized in selecting the winning proposal. The Proposal Selection Panel will 269 


have a minimum of two weeks after the proposal submission deadline to review and rank submitted 270 


proposals in accordance with scoring guidelines developed by ED Office staff.  Proposal scores will be 271 


compiled by ED Office staff and the Proposal Selection Team will then discuss the rankings to determine 272 


if interviews are necessary, and if so which contractors to interview.  Interviews may be written, via 273 


conference call, or face-to-face depending on the situation.  Information from the proposal, from interviews, 274 


and from internal Program discussions will be used to determine the successful contractor. Commitments 275 


made by a contractor at the interview, if any, will be considered binding. 276 


 277 


After completing the evaluation of all proposals and, if deemed necessary, interviews, the Proposal 278 


Selection Panel will tentatively select the contractor that will provide the servicesis most advantageous to 279 


the Program, with price and other factors considered. A final award, however, will be contingent upon 280 


successful negotiation of a contract. If the Program is unable to negotiate a mutually satisfactory contract 281 


with its first choice, it may, at its sole discretion, negotiate with its secondary choices or cancel and reissue 282 


a new RFP. 283 


 284 


Debriefing of Unsuccessful Contractors 285 


Contractors whose proposals have not been selected for further consideration will be notified via e-mail. 286 


Only contractors who have submitted a proposal under the criteria established by this solicitation document 287 


may protest the rejection of a proposal and request a debriefing with the ED and staff. The request for a 288 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL   07/01/2016 
 


PRRIP Procurement Policy  Page 7 of 7 


 


debriefing must be received by the RFP point of contact within three (3) business days after the Notification 289 


of Unsuccessful Proposal Letter is e-mailed to the contractor. The debriefing must be held within three (3) 290 


business days of the request. 291 


 292 


Debriefing discussions will be limited to a critique of the contractor’s proposal. Comparisons between 293 


proposals or evaluations of the other proposals will not be allowed. The debriefing conferences may be 294 


conducted in person or on the telephone and will be scheduled for a maximum of one hour. 295 


 296 


Protest Procedures 297 


This procedure is available to contractors who submit a response to RFP solicitation documents and have 298 


participated in a debriefing conference. Upon completing the debriefing conference, the contractor is 299 


allowed three (3) business days to file a protest of the solicitation with the RFP point of contact. Protests 300 


may be submitted by e-mail but must be followed by the original document. Contractors protesting a 301 


contractor selection must adhere to the following procedure. This protest procedure constitutes the sole 302 


administrative remedy available to bidders: 303 


 304 


All protests must be in writing and signed by the protesting contractor’s authorized agent. The protest must 305 


state the grounds for the protest with specific facts and complete statements of the action(s) being protested. 306 


A description of the relief or corrective action being requested must also be included.  307 


 308 


Only protests stipulating an issue of fact concerning the following subjects shall be considered: 309 


 A matter of bias, discrimination, or conflict of interest on the part of an evaluator. 310 


 Non-compliance with procedures described in the solicitation document or with the Program’s 311 


Procurement Policy. 312 


 313 


Protests not based on procedural matters will not be considered. Protests will be rejected without merit if 314 


they address such issues as: (1) an evaluator’s professional judgment on the quality of the proposal, or (2) 315 


the Program’s assessment of its own needs or requirements.  316 


 317 


Upon receipt of a protest, a protest review will be held. The Executive Director will consider the record and 318 


all facts available and issue a decision within five (5) business days of receipt of protest unless additional 319 


time is required, in which case the protesting party will be notified by the Program.  320 


 321 


The final determination of the protest shall: 322 


 Find the protest lacking in merit and uphold the Proposal Selection Panel’s action; or 323 


 Find only technical or harmless errors in the solicitation process and determine the Proposal Selection 324 


Panel to be in substantial compliance and reject the protest; or 325 


 Find merit in the protest and provide the Governance Committee options which may include: 326 


- Correct the errors and re-evaluate all proposals; or 327 


- Reissue the solicitation document and begin a new process; or 328 


- Make other determinations and pursue other courses of action as appropriate. 329 








PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL   07/01/2016 
 


PRRIP Procurement Policy  Page 1 of 7 


 


PLATTE RIVER RECOVERY IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 1 


  Procurement Policy 2 


 3 


Office of the Executive Director 4 


Kearney, Nebraska 5 


 6 


I.  Introduction 7 


This directive establishes policy to be applied and overseen by the Executive Director (ED) and staff in 8 


coordination with Nebraska Community Foundation (NCF). The policy is intended to provide a clearly-9 


defined and efficient process for obtaining the goods, services, and construction required to meet the goals 10 


of the Platte River Recovery Implementation Program (Program) while maintaining appropriate oversight 11 


from the Governance Committee (GC) and Finance Committee (FC). As referenced below, it is intended 12 


to ensure sound business practice and compliance with laws and policy of the United States of America and 13 


the States of Colorado, Nebraska, and Wyoming.  14 


 15 


II. Authorities 16 


A Memorandum of Understanding among the States of Colorado, Nebraska, and Wyoming; Nebraska 17 


Community Foundation; and the Bureau of Reclamation, Department of the Interior establishes a financial 18 


management and administrative support process for NCF to assist the Program as the Financial 19 


Management Entity (FME). Funds for the Program are provided by the Department of Interior (pursuant to 20 


a cooperative agreement with NCF) and the states of Colorado and Wyoming. Therefore, transactions are 21 


subject to regulations established by the federal Office of Management and Budget (OMB), the General 22 


Services Administration, and laws and regulations established by the States of Colorado, Nebraska, and 23 


Wyoming.  24 


 25 


Title 2, Part 200 of the Code of Federal Regulations - Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 26 


Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards provides regulations governing awards of federal 27 


funds. All applicable documentation is available at www.ecfr.gov. 28 


 29 


Federal Acquisition Regulations (FAR) issued by the General Services Administration apply to acquisitions 30 


from for-profit entities. They are available at www.gsa.gov.  31 


 32 


The instructions below are intended to incorporate the principles and intent of regulations to the conduct of 33 


the Program. 34 


 35 


III. Exceptions 36 


The Program document states that land may be acquired through a willing buyer/willing seller process with 37 


prices and terms established by negotiation. The procedures provided in this directive do not apply to land 38 


acquisition. 39 


 40 


In addition to land, water may be acquired for Program purposes. Similar to land, the acquisition of water 41 


is to be accomplished through a negotiation process. The procedures provided in this directive do not apply 42 


to water acquisition. 43 


 44 


Retention of special advisors to the ED of a technical or legal nature is exempt from the procedures provided 45 


in this directive.  46 



http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb

http://www.gsa.gov/





PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL   07/01/2016 
 


PRRIP Procurement Policy  Page 2 of 7 


 


IV. Full and Open Competition 47 


With rare exceptions, procurement of goods, services, and construction will be the result of a competitive 48 


market place. When goods, services, and construction are obtained in a manner other than a competitive 49 


process, a written justification for this deviation will be provided to the Governance Committee for approval 50 


prior to goods, services, or construction procurements being awarded. A written justification for non-51 


competitive selection will be based on unique qualifications, special circumstances, or similar conditions. 52 


 53 


V. Small and Minority Businesses, Women’s Business Enterprises, and Labor Surplus Area 54 


Firms 55 


The Program is committed to the inclusion of small and minority businesses, women’s businesses, and 56 


labor surplus area firms in its procurement practices and will take all necessary affirmative steps to assure 57 


that such firms are used, whenever possible. 58 


 59 


VI. Conflict of Interest 60 


Offerors on a project will be required to address whether or not any potential conflict of interest exists 61 


between that project and any of their past or on-going projects, including any projects currently being 62 


conducted for the Program. 63 


 64 


VII.     Suspension and Debarment 65 


Prior to entering into a contract or other agreement to procure goods or services in a covered transaction 66 


(generally, a transaction expected to equal or exceed $25,000), assurance will be obtained that the 67 


contracting entity and its principals are not suspended or debarred from receiving federal funds.  This will 68 


be done by one or more of the following processes:  (1) review of the active and inactive exclusions 69 


in https://www.sam.gov/, (2) collecting a certification from the entity, or (3) adding a clause to the covered 70 


transaction. 71 


 72 


VIII. Types of Contracts and Agreements for Procurement of Goods, Services, and Construction 73 


The following types of procurement formats/strategies will be employed, but they may be adjusted or 74 


modified for a specific procurement so the approach is the most appropriate method to fill the need.  75 


 76 


Formats: 77 


 Firm Fixed Price Contract – The total requirement has a fixed price for satisfactory delivery or 78 


complete performance. Progress payments can be made based on completion of predetermined 79 


deliverable milestones and percentage of contract amount for each.  80 


 81 


 Time and Materials Contract – Used when a determination is made that no other contract format 82 


is suitable; typically for labor intensive requirements where the hours needed may depend upon 83 


variables not clarified until the work has started; services are based upon direct labor hours at 84 


a specified fixed hourly rate and materials at cost (including a material handling fee). The 85 


agreement will provide for a “not to exceed” ceiling price that the contractor exceeds at its own 86 


risk. Progress payments are based on elapsed time for services rendered during the agreed upon 87 


period. 88 


 89 


Strategies: 90 


 Specific Project Contract – A contract developed for a specific project wherein the terms, 91 


conditions, scope, budget, schedule, and contract form are specified. 92 



https://www.sam.gov/





PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL   07/01/2016 
 


PRRIP Procurement Policy  Page 3 of 7 


 


 Indefinite Delivery/Indefinite Quantity (ID/IQ) Term Contract – A multiple award contract for 93 


specified line items through which delivery orders can be negotiated and issued over a three to 94 


five-year period. There would be a guaranteed earnings level established for the contract. 95 


 96 


 Blanket Purchase Agreement (BPA) – An agreement for specific line items with a provider 97 


who is intermittently called upon for those goods or services; terms and conditions are 98 


negotiated up front and any orders against the BPA must comply. 99 


 100 


 Grant/Cooperative Agreement – An agreement with a non-profit or public entity which shares 101 


interest in the Program’s goals to provide services which benefit the interests of both parties. 102 


This is the only instrument where funds can be advanced prior to the work. 103 


 104 


Content: 105 


 Contracts will include, and will require contractors to include in all sub-contracts, the 106 


applicable provisions described in Appendix II to Part 200 of the Code of Federal Regulations. 107 


 108 


IX. Thresholds and Procedures 109 


Procurement thresholds and general procedures are as follows. Contract thresholds reference the intended 110 


total contract amount over the duration of the contract. For example, a contract that is intended to cover 111 


five years at $30,000 per year ($30,000/year x 5 years = $150,000) would be subject to the procedures for 112 


a >$50,000 threshold. Further procedural detail will be established by the Executive Director. 113 


 114 


The Executive Director can solicit proposals for goods, services, or construction costing less than $25,000 115 


without FC approval if the costs of the goods and services are within the budget approved by the GC. 116 


Solicitations for proposals or bids for goods, services, or construction costing $25,000 or more must be 117 


approved in accordance with the “Governance Committee Approval Process for Contract Services” 118 


specified herein. 119 


 120 


All Thresholds: Authorization of budgets lies with the FC and the GC as described in the Program 121 


Document and summarized subsequently in this document. Authority and responsibility for 122 


procurements contained within an authorized budget rests with the Executive Director.  Input from 123 


various Program Committees will be solicited as described below or as otherwise deemed 124 


appropriate by the ED. In addition to the monetary thresholds described below, guidance from the 125 


Governance Committee pertaining to requests in areas of particular sensitivity may result in 126 


variances from the procedures described. The ED may delegate authority in writing to personnel 127 


directly reporting to the ED for acquisitions less than $5,000. Personnel so authorized may not 128 


disburse more than $5,000 to any one entity in a single year. 129 


 130 


<= $3,000 Goods 131 


<= $2,500 Services 132 


<= $2,000 Construction 133 


 Need for proposed item or service is documented. 134 


 Up to three quotes should be acquired; transaction can be by phone or in writing. 135 


 Award may be to the low quote or most qualified providing best value. 136 


 137 


> $3,000 but < $10,000 Goods 138 


> $2,500 but < $10,000 Services 139 


> $2,000 but < $10,000 Construction 140 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL   07/01/2016 
 


PRRIP Procurement Policy  Page 4 of 7 


 


 Need for proposed item or service is documented 141 


 Three quotes will be acquired by phone or in writing. 142 


 Award may be to the low quote or most qualified providing the best value. 143 


 144 


=> $10,000 and < $25,000:  145 


 Need for proposed item or service is documented. 146 


 Requirement will be advertised on Program Web site for five business days. 147 


 Quotes will be provided in writing by providers. 148 


 Award may be to the low quote or most qualified providing the best value. 149 


 150 


>= $25,000 and <= $50,000:  151 


 Requirement is documented in detail – specifications, units, delivery schedule, level of 152 


expertise, qualifications of personnel, and other specific requirements are clearly defined.  153 


 Requirement will be advertised on Program Web site for a minimum of 15 days and a 154 


maximum of 30 days, based on discretion of ED. Notice of requirements may also be 155 


advertised in regional and/or local newspapers, based on discretion of ED, for up to three 156 


days with initial publication at least two weeks prior to offer closing date. 157 


 Quotes, bid packages, or proposals to be provided in writing as requested.  158 


 Pre-offer meeting may be held up to one week prior to offer closing date. 159 


 Submittals will be reviewed for determination of responsiveness and acceptability. 160 


 In the case of proposals: 161 


o Offers will be reviewed and where necessary, ranked by three or more subject 162 


matter experts. The selection of the subject matter experts will be based on 163 


knowledge and expertise of the project at issue. The panel of subject matter experts 164 


will be assembled with input from the appropriate Program Committees. The 165 


Governance Committee will always be solicited for input on the composition of 166 


the panel proposed. 167 


o An interview of the offerors with the subject matter experts and ED may or may 168 


not be required, as determined by the subject matter experts and the ED. 169 


o Award is to highest ranking offer where consideration may be given to fee as part 170 


of the selection process. Negotiation of scope and fee will occur subsequent to 171 


selection. 172 


 In the case of a bid or quote: 173 


o A public bid opening will be held. 174 


o Award is to lowest cost bidder who can meet the requirements of the bid 175 


solicitation. 176 


 177 


>$50,000:  178 


 Requirement is documented in detail – specifications, units, delivery schedule, level of 179 


expertise, qualifications of personnel, and other specific requirements are clearly defined. 180 


 For procurements, including contract modifications, over the Simplified Acquisition 181 


Threshold ($150,000 as of August 6, 2015), a cost or price analysis will be performed prior 182 


to receiving bids or proposals. 183 


 Requirement will be advertised on Program Web site for a minimum of 21 days and a 184 


maximum of 45 days, based on the discretion of the ED. Notice of requirements will also 185 


be advertised in regional and/or local newspapers for up to three days with initial 186 


publication at least three weeks prior to offer due date. 187 


 Quotes, bid packages or proposals to be provided in writing as requested.  188 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL   07/01/2016 
 


PRRIP Procurement Policy  Page 5 of 7 


 


 Pre-offer meeting may be held up to two weeks prior to bids/proposals due date. 189 


 Submittals will be reviewed for determination of responsiveness and acceptability. 190 


 In the case of proposals: 191 


o Offers will be reviewed and where necessary, ranked by three or more subject 192 


matter experts using a pre-determined evaluation system. The selection of the 193 


subject matter experts will be based on knowledge and expertise of the project at 194 


issue. The panel of subject matter experts will be assembled with input from the 195 


appropriate Program Committees. The Governance Committee will always be 196 


solicited for input on the composition of the panel proposed. 197 


o An interview of the offerors by the subject matter experts and ED may or may not 198 


be required, as determined by the subject matter experts and the ED. 199 


o Award is to highest ranking offer where consideration may be given to fee as part 200 


of the selection process. Negotiation of scope and fee will occur subsequent to 201 


selection. 202 


 In the case of a bid: 203 


o Conduct a public bid/proposal opening. 204 


o Award is to lowest cost bidder who can meet the technical requirements of the bid 205 


solicitation.  206 


 207 


X. Governance Committee Approval Process for Contract Services 208 


1. At each Governance Committee meeting, the Executive Director will report the contract services 209 


that will be sought during the interim until the next GC meeting.  The report will include the budget item 210 


under which the work will be performed and the estimated amount required to provide the services.  If the 211 


request is in an area of particular sensitivity, guidance from the Governance Committee may result in 212 


variances from the procedures described in terms of strictly monetary thresholds in the policy described 213 


previously in this document.  If the estimated amount exceeds the budget for the item, the increased budget 214 


must be approved by the GC before the selection process can be initiated.  The members of the GC may 215 


offer representatives to review the requests for proposal and/or serve on the selection team. 216 


 217 


2. The Executive Director will draft all Requests for Proposals (RFPs) and seek comments from the 218 


related advisory committee(s) and representatives offered by the GC members. 219 


 220 


3. The final drafts of the RFPs with the updated cost estimates will be submitted to the Finance 221 


Committee (FC).   222 


 223 


If the RFP is for a single-year service and cost estimates do not exceed the budget for the related work item, 224 


the FC may authorize the initiation of the selection process.  If the cost estimates exceed the budget for the 225 


related work item, the selection process must be delayed until the GC has the opportunity to approve or 226 


reject a budget increase. 227 


 228 


All RFPs proposing multi-year services must be reviewed by the FC and approved by the GC, even if the 229 


existing budget includes funds for the first year’s activities. This is necessary as multi-year contracts affect 230 


future budgets, and future budgets are the responsibility of the GC. 231 


 232 


4. The Executive Director will ensure the Selection Process progresses as outlined previously in this 233 


Program Procurement Policy and in Section X of this document.  For those requests requiring a selection 234 


panel, the Executive Director will organize a selection team that includes representatives from the related 235 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL   07/01/2016 
 


PRRIP Procurement Policy  Page 6 of 7 


 


advisory committee and representatives offered by the GC.  The Executive Director may chair the selection 236 


team or designate as chair: 237 


1. a member of the Executive Director’s staff 238 


2. a member or alternate of the Governance Committee 239 


3. the chair of the related Advisory Committee, or 240 


4. any other person approved by the Governance Committee. 241 


 242 


5. After selection of the consultant/contractor, the Executive Director will prepare the draft contract 243 


including, as a minimum: general provisions, scope of work, contract amount and schedule.  The draft 244 


contract will be submitted to the FC for review.   245 


 246 


If the contract meets the standards of the Program procurement policy, the contract is for a single-year 247 


service, and the contract amount is within the budget for the work item, the FC can authorize the Executive 248 


Director to finalize the contract and submit it to the FME, as well as issue the notice to proceed to the 249 


consultant/contractor.  If the contract amount exceeds the budget for the cost item, the finalization of the 250 


contract must be delayed until the GC has the opportunity to approve or reject a budget increase. 251 


 252 


If the contract meets the standards of the Program procurement policy, the FC can authorize the ED to 253 


finalize multi-year contracts if the RFP was approved by the GC and the proposed contract amount is within 254 


the budget for the first year’s activities. 255 


 256 


Multi-year contracts will specify that each year’s work activities and contract amount must be approved in 257 


writing before the consultant can proceed on that year’s assignments. In order to streamline this process, 258 


the FC can authorize the ED to issue the written notice to proceed if the budget approved by the GC for that 259 


year’s work activity is not exceeded. If revisions are needed to the budget, those revisions must be approved 260 


by the GC. 261 


 262 


XI. Selection Process 263 


When Program services are sought through the RFP process, written submittals and interviews, if 264 


considered necessary, will be utilized in selecting the winning proposal. The Proposal Selection Panel will 265 


have a minimum of two weeks after the proposal submission deadline to review and rank submitted 266 


proposals in accordance with scoring guidelines developed by ED Office staff.  Proposal scores will be 267 


compiled by ED Office staff and the Proposal Selection Team will then discuss the rankings to determine 268 


if interviews are necessary, and if so which contractors to interview.  Interviews may be written, via 269 


conference call, or face-to-face depending on the situation.  Information from the proposal, from interviews, 270 


and from internal Program discussions will be used to determine the successful contractor. Commitments 271 


made by a contractor at the interview, if any, will be considered binding. 272 


 273 


After completing the evaluation of all proposals and, if deemed necessary, interviews, the Proposal 274 


Selection Panel will tentatively select the contractor that is most advantageous to the Program, with price 275 


and other factors considered. A final award, however, will be contingent upon successful negotiation of a 276 


contract. If the Program is unable to negotiate a mutually satisfactory contract with its first choice, it may, 277 


at its sole discretion, negotiate with its secondary choices or cancel and reissue a new RFP. 278 


 279 


Debriefing of Unsuccessful Contractors 280 


Contractors whose proposals have not been selected for further consideration will be notified via e-mail. 281 


Only contractors who have submitted a proposal under the criteria established by this solicitation document 282 


may protest the rejection of a proposal and request a debriefing with the ED and staff. The request for a 283 


debriefing must be received by the RFP point of contact within three (3) business days after the Notification 284 







PRRIP – ED OFFICE FINAL   07/01/2016 
 


PRRIP Procurement Policy  Page 7 of 7 


 


of Unsuccessful Proposal Letter is e-mailed to the contractor. The debriefing must be held within three (3) 285 


business days of the request. 286 


 287 


Debriefing discussions will be limited to a critique of the contractor’s proposal. Comparisons between 288 


proposals or evaluations of the other proposals will not be allowed. The debriefing conferences may be 289 


conducted in person or on the telephone and will be scheduled for a maximum of one hour. 290 


 291 


Protest Procedures 292 


This procedure is available to contractors who submit a response to RFP solicitation documents and have 293 


participated in a debriefing conference. Upon completing the debriefing conference, the contractor is 294 


allowed three (3) business days to file a protest of the solicitation with the RFP point of contact. Protests 295 


may be submitted by e-mail but must be followed by the original document. Contractors protesting a 296 


contractor selection must adhere to the following procedure. This protest procedure constitutes the sole 297 


administrative remedy available to bidders: 298 


 299 


All protests must be in writing and signed by the protesting contractor’s authorized agent. The protest must 300 


state the grounds for the protest with specific facts and complete statements of the action(s) being protested. 301 


A description of the relief or corrective action being requested must also be included.  302 


 303 


Only protests stipulating an issue of fact concerning the following subjects shall be considered: 304 


 A matter of bias, discrimination, or conflict of interest on the part of an evaluator. 305 


 Non-compliance with procedures described in the solicitation document or with the Program’s 306 


Procurement Policy. 307 


 308 


Protests not based on procedural matters will not be considered. Protests will be rejected without merit if 309 


they address such issues as: (1) an evaluator’s professional judgment on the quality of the proposal, or (2) 310 


the Program’s assessment of its own needs or requirements.  311 


 312 


Upon receipt of a protest, a protest review will be held. The Executive Director will consider the record and 313 


all facts available and issue a decision within five (5) business days of receipt of protest unless additional 314 


time is required, in which case the protesting party will be notified by the Program.  315 


 316 


The final determination of the protest shall: 317 


 Find the protest lacking in merit and uphold the Proposal Selection Panel’s action; or 318 


 Find only technical or harmless errors in the solicitation process and determine the Proposal Selection 319 


Panel to be in substantial compliance and reject the protest; or 320 


 Find merit in the protest and provide the Governance Committee options which may include: 321 


- Correct the errors and re-evaluate all proposals; or 322 


- Reissue the solicitation document and begin a new process; or 323 


- Make other determinations and pursue other courses of action as appropriate. 324 








USFWS Update and Recommendations - Northern Long Eared Bat (NLEB) 


June 2016 PRRIP Governance Committee Meeting 


Background- The NLEB is a medium-sized bat with a body length of 3 to 3.7 inches and a wingspan of 9 


to 10 inches.  Their fur color can be medium to dark brown on the back and pale-brown on the 


underside.  As its name suggests, this bat is distinguished by its long ears, particularly when compared to 


other bats in its genus.  The bat spends winter hibernating in caves, mines and crevices in rock 


formations (hibernacula) and migrates in spring to summer roost habitat in cavities or crevices of trees 


where they give birth and raise a single pup during the spring and summer.  


Status1- Due to declines caused by white-nose syndrome (WNS) and continued spread of the disease, 


the bat was listed as threatened under the Endangered Species Act (ESA) on April 2, 2015. We also 


developed a final 4(d) rule, which published in the Federal Register on January 14, 2016. The 4(d) rule 


exempts certain activities from the take prohibition within the WNS zone. 


PRRIP and the NLEB - The associated habitat reach (AHR) is within the range of the NLEB and white-nose 


syndrome buffer zone [see attached WNS Buffer Zone Map].  While no known hibernacula (caves) are 


within the AHR, summer maternity roost habitat exists and impacts to this type of habitat while the bats 


are present could result in incidental take.   


Service Guidance and Recommendations2 - Incidental take from tree removal activities is not prohibited 


unless it results from removing a known occupied maternity roost tree or from tree removal activities 


within 150 feet of a known occupied maternity roost tree from June 1 through July 31 or results from 


tree removal activities within 0.25 mile of a hibernaculum at any time. The federal agency can rely upon 


the finding of the programmatic biological opinion for the final 4(d) rule to fulfill their project-specific 


section 7 responsibilities if they use the framework described below. This framework is optional, if the 


federal agency chooses not to follow the framework, standard section 7 consultation procedures apply. 


Given that there are no previously documented hibernacula in the AHR, take can be avoided by 


adopting this conservation measure, thereby avoiding tree removal activities from June 1-July 31.  The 


Service recommends the Governance Committee of the PRRIP formally adopt this conservation 


measure.  


 


                                                           
1
 http://www.fws.gov/Midwest/endangered/mammals/nleb/index.html 


2
 http://www.fws.gov/Midwest/endangered/mammals/nleb/pdf/KeyFinal4dNLEB_FedAgencies17Feb2016.pdf  



http://www.fws.gov/Midwest/endangered/mammals/nleb/index.html

http://www.fws.gov/Midwest/endangered/mammals/nleb/pdf/KeyFinal4dNLEB_FedAgencies17Feb2016.pdf





 


 








PRRIP – REVIEW DRAFT  03/29/2016 
 


DRAFT PRRIP EDO Unvegetated Channel Width Manuscript  Page 1 of 18 
 


Investigating differences between field-measured and photo-interpreted unvegetated channel 1 


width in a braided river system: a Platte River case study 2 


 3 


 4 


 5 


 6 


 7 


 8 


 9 


Kevin L. Werbylo1, Jason M. Farnsworth1, David M. Baasch1 and Patrick D. Farrell1 10 


1 Headwaters Corporation, 4111 4th Avenue, Suite 6, Kearney, Nebraska 68845, USA 11 


Corresponding author: Kevin L. Werbylo; (720) 524 – 6115; werbylok@headwaterscorp.com  12 



mailto:werbylok@headwaterscorp.com





PRRIP – REVIEW DRAFT  03/29/2016 
 


DRAFT PRRIP EDO Unvegetated Channel Width Manuscript  Page 2 of 18 
 


Abstract 13 


The central Platte River in Nebraska, USA has undergone substantial channel narrowing since 14 


basin settlement in the mid-19th century. Many researchers have studied the causes of channel 15 


narrowing and its implications for endangered species that use wide shallow channel segments 16 


with barren sandbars. As a result, changes in habitat metrics such as unvegetated channel width 17 


have been studied numerous times. With few exceptions, these measures are estimated from aerial 18 


imagery without mention of error in relation to actual channel conditions. This issue is not unique 19 


to central Platte River studies as there appears to be a general lack of commentary regarding the 20 


direct comparison of channel planform characteristics interpreted from aerial imagery as compared 21 


to those measured in the field. Here we present a case study where data collected by the Platte 22 


River Recovery Implementation Program (Program) was used to make multiple comparisons 23 


between three years of field-measured unvegetated channel width and those photo-interpreted from 24 


aerial imagery by three different investigators collected annually during summer and fall 25 


timeframes. The three investigators interpreted similar widths in almost all cases, indicating that 26 


differences were data-related not due to the bias of individual investigators. Photo-interpretation 27 


from fall imagery resulted in estimates of unvegetated channel width that were more consistent 28 


with measurements collected in the field than estimates derived using June imagery. Differences 29 


were attributed to three main factors: 1) influences of discharge on photo-interpretation of 30 


unvegetated channel width; 2) increases in vegetative cover throughout the growing season; and 31 


3) resolution of imagery. Most importantly, photo-interpretation of unvegetated widths from 32 


imagery collected during peak flow events can result in significant over-estimation of unvegetated 33 


channel width.  34 







PRRIP – REVIEW DRAFT  03/29/2016 
 


DRAFT PRRIP EDO Unvegetated Channel Width Manuscript  Page 3 of 18 
 


Keywords:  35 


braided river, field measurements, photo-interpretation, planform channel characteristics, Platte 36 


River, unvegetated channel width  37 


1.0 Introduction & Background 38 


At the time of basin exploration in the early 1800s, the central Platte River (CPR) in 39 


Nebraska, USA exhibited a wide braided planform characterized by 900 – 1,500 m channel widths 40 


largely free of in-channel vegetation (Eschner et al., 1983; Johnson, 1994; Simons and Associates, 41 


2000; Murphy et al., 2004; Schumm, 2005). Basin-wide settlement and water development 42 


beginning in the mid-1800s resulted in extensive alteration of hydrologic, sediment, and vegetation 43 


disturbance regimes in the CPR (Simons and Associates, 2000; Murphy et al., 2004; Schumm, 44 


2005). The channel within the CPR narrowed in response to these alterations through 45 


encroachment of riparian cottonwood forest into historically active and largely unvegetated 46 


channel areas (Johnson, 1994). As a result, the contemporary CPR has become a complex multi-47 


channel system with an anastomosed to braided planform where channel widths have decreased 48 


by an average of 80 to 90 percent since the mid-1800s (Murphy et al., 2004; Figure 1). 49 


Studies investigating linkages between channel narrowing in the CPR and habitat reduction 50 


for species that use the channel began in the mid to late 20th century and continued into the 21st 51 


century. These studies generally involved the evaluation of CPR channel widths and can be 52 


classified into two subject categories; biology and geomorphology. Biology-focused studies 53 


typically involve measurement and evaluation of channel width at locations where focal species 54 


are observed in order to infer species habitat requirements (Atkins, 1979; Lingle et al., 1984; Shenk 55 


et al., 1986; Ziewitz, 1987; Biology Workgroup, 1990; Faanes et al., 1994; Austin and Richert, 56 


2005). Geomorphology-focused studies involve the tracking of channel width measurements 57 







PRRIP – REVIEW DRAFT  03/29/2016 
 


DRAFT PRRIP EDO Unvegetated Channel Width Manuscript  Page 4 of 18 
 


through time to identify changes in channel morphology due to physical processes (Williams, 58 


1978; Eschner et al., 1983; Johnson, 1994; Murphy et al., 2004; Horn et al., 2012). 59 


 60 


Figure 1. Comparison of the central Platte River channel near Kearney, Nebraska USA in 1938 61 


and 2014. 62 


 63 


Several definitions of channel width are used in CPR studies including wetted, unvegetated 64 


and unobstructed width. Although some width metrics have been measured directly in the field, 65 


most are derived through interpretation of aerial imagery or planform maps (Williams, 1978; 66 


Atkins, 1979; Lingle et al., 1984; Faanes et al., 1994; Johnson, 1994; Murphy et al., 2004; Horn et 67 


al., 2012). Researchers on other river systems have investigated systematic errors in channel 68 


characteristics estimated from aerial imagery due to georectification and/or random errors due to 69 


the precision of feature identification. However, the potential for error associated with estimating 70 


channel width measures from aerial imagery currently have not been quantified or discussed. As 71 


such, there appears to be a general lack of knowledge about how channel characteristics derived 72 


from aerial imagery compare to those measured directly in the field (Mount et al., 2003, Mount 73 


and Louis, 2005; Hughes et al., 2006; Swanson et al., 2010). 74 







PRRIP – REVIEW DRAFT  03/29/2016 
 


DRAFT PRRIP EDO Unvegetated Channel Width Manuscript  Page 5 of 18 
 


We used channel characteristic data collected on the CPR as a case study to assess the 75 


potential for errors associated with data collection methodology, data quality, timing of data 76 


collection efforts, and investigator bias. Specifically, we compared unvegetated channel width 77 


measurements collected in the field annually during the summer to widths interpreted from annual 78 


aerial imagery series collected in June and October or November (henceforth, fall). We also 79 


compared June and fall photo-interpreted widths as well as widths interpreted by three different 80 


investigators. These analyses allowed us to: 1) determine if interpreted widths from the three 81 


investigators were similar or not; 2) determine if photo-interpreted estimates of unvegetated 82 


channel width using aerial imagery collected during the June are similar to those obtained using 83 


imagery collected during the fall; 3) determine if measures of unvegetated channel width collected 84 


in the field are similar to photo-interpreted estimates obtained remotely using aerial imagery; and 85 


4) evaluate implications for future Program monitoring efforts along the central Platte River. 86 


2.0 Methodology 87 


2.1 Study Area 88 


The focus area of our study is a 145 km reach of the central Platte River extending from 89 


Lexington, Nebraska downstream to Chapman, Nebraska USA. This reach of river is known as 90 


the Associated Habitat Reach (AHR; Figure 2)  for three threatened or endangered avian species; 91 


whooping crane (Grus americana), piping plover (Charadrius melodus), and interior least tern 92 


(Sterna antillarum athalassos; Department of the Interior, 2006). Despite the extensive channel 93 


narrowing in the AHR during the 20th century, typical width-to-depth ratios remain greater than 94 


50:1 at most flows and typically range from 100:1 to 300:1 at flows of 35 m3/s to 230 m3/s. Flows 95 


throughout the AHR are highly variable and can fluctuate >30 m3/s during a day as they are heavily 96 


influenced by diversions and returns associated with agriculture and hydropower uses.  97 







PRRIP – REVIEW DRAFT  03/29/2016 
 


DRAFT PRRIP EDO Unvegetated Channel Width Manuscript  Page 6 of 18 
 


Approximately 50% of the active channel within the AHR is split by large islands 98 


comprised of grasslands and riparian cottonwood forests. Smaller, unvegetated sandbars and 99 


sandbars covered with annual vegetation are typically submerged by flows >100 m3/s. The result 100 


is a complex multi-channeled anastomosed to braided planform with unvegetated channel widths 101 


that are quite sensitive to discharge. 102 


 103 


Figure 2. Associated Habitat Reach (AHR) of the central Platte River including counties, towns 104 


and cities, major diversions and returns, USGS flow gages, and anchor point locations within the 105 


associated habitat boundary. An example of how unvegetated channel width measurements (green 106 


lines) were estimated using aerial imagery is shown in the top left corner. 107 


 108 


2.2 Data 109 


2.2.1 Field-Collected Unvegetated Channel Width Data 110 


Field-measured unvegetated channel width data was collected annually, 2010–2012, 111 


through the Program’s system-scale geomorphology and vegetation monitoring protocol. The 112 


protocol included the collection of topographic and vegetation monitoring data during July and 113 


August along transects at 40 anchor point locations distributed at approximately four km intervals 114 







PRRIP – REVIEW DRAFT  03/29/2016 
 


DRAFT PRRIP EDO Unvegetated Channel Width Manuscript  Page 7 of 18 
 


throughout the AHR (Program 2010; Figure 2). Half (20) of the anchor points spaced at eight km 115 


intervals were visited in all years and the remaining 20 anchor points were visited on a 4-year 116 


rotation; five anchor points per year. Each anchor point consisted of three transects separated by 117 


approximately 152 m (Figure 2). Data was collected along 25 anchor points each year with the 118 


total number of transects varying from 84 to 87 depending on the number of major flow splits at 119 


rotating anchor point locations. A real time kinematic global positioning system (RTK GPS) unit 120 


was used to survey topographic features along each transect and to delineate unvegetated channel 121 


segments. Data was downloaded from the RTK GPS unit and ESRI ArcMap software was used to 122 


measure unvegetated channel segments at each anchor point (Environmental Systems Research 123 


Institute, 2012). Lengths of unvegetated channel segments along each transect were added together 124 


to develop a field measured total unvegetated channel width for each transect.  125 


2.2.2 Photo-Interpreted Unvegetated Width Data 126 


Aerial imagery collected during June and fall, 2010–2012, was used to develop multi-year, 127 


multi-season, and multi-investigator estimates of unvegetated channel width. June imagery was 128 


collected at a ground resolution of 0.61 m and fall imagery at a ground resolution of 0.15 m. Data 129 


from these three years represented hydrologic conditions ranging from low (2012) to high (2011) 130 


flows with 2010 conditions considered to be average. Investigator #3 photo-interpreted 131 


unvegetated channel widths for June and fall imagery for each year, 2010 – 2012. This resulted in 132 


two photo-interpreted estimates of unvegetated channel width per transect per anchor point per 133 


year. Investigators #1 and #2 only photo-interpreted unvegetated widths for fall imagery. 134 


2.3 Statistical Analyses 135 


 We compared field-measured and photo-interpreted unvegetated channel width 136 


measurements using iterative bootstrap sampling. For each comparison, we randomly drew a 137 







PRRIP – REVIEW DRAFT  03/29/2016 
 


DRAFT PRRIP EDO Unvegetated Channel Width Manuscript  Page 8 of 18 
 


sample of 29 transects from the 25 anchor points within each year to compare field-measured and 138 


photo-interpreted estimates of unvegetated channel width. Extracting measurements from the same 139 


transects for each comparison allowed us to assess similarities of measurements at individual 140 


transects, as opposed to only identifying similarities of central tendencies and distributions 141 


possible without paired data. Sampling 29 transects each year was utilized to minimize spatial 142 


autocorrelation within anchor points. We used unvegetated channel width measurements at sample 143 


transects to compare: 1) fall photo-interpreted widths between three investigators; 2) June versus 144 


fall photo-interpreted widths; and 3) field-measured versus photo-interpreted widths from June 145 


and fall imagery. All analyses were conducted using Program R (R Development Core Team, 146 


2013).  147 


We considered field measurements to be the “true” measure of unvegetated channel width 148 


because of our ability to easily identify vegetation in the field. Differences between field-measured 149 


and photo-interpreted width differences in photo-interpreted estimates were assumed to represent 150 


the “error” in the photo-interpreted estimates. For example, if the field measurement was 100 151 


meters (m) and the photo-interpreted estimate was 120 m, the ‘error’ associated with the photo-152 


interpreted estimate was considered to be +20.0 m.  153 


Paired t-tests were used to assess differences in photo-interpreted and field-measured 154 


unvegetated channel width at each transect. Separate paired t-tests were performed to assess 155 


differences between estimates derived using June and fall imagery (Table 1). We used a repeated 156 


measures ANOVA to assess differences in estimates derived using fall imagery by the three 157 


investigators. We used a confidence level of 95% (α = 0.05) to determine whether estimates were 158 


significantly different. P-values of the paired t-test and ANOVA were recorded and repeated over 159 


1,000 iterations with replacement for each comparison; analogous to a bootstrap method of 160 







PRRIP – REVIEW DRAFT  03/29/2016 
 


DRAFT PRRIP EDO Unvegetated Channel Width Manuscript  Page 9 of 18 
 


resampling. We assessed the percentage of iterations where significant differences occurred in our 161 


three annual comparisons and generated boxplots to assess the central tendencies and distribution 162 


of investigator error and unvegetated width values.  163 


3.0 Results 164 


3.1 Evaluation of Fall Photo-Interpreted Widths between Three Investigators 165 


We found investigator estimates of unvegetated channel width were very similar within 166 


years. Of the 1,000 samples within each year, we found zero percent of estimates were significantly 167 


different between investigators in 2010 and 2011 and only 2% were significantly different in 2012 168 


(Table 2). Based on the 1,000 samples, the largest discrepancies between the mean of investigator 169 


estimates was in the 2010 where average unvegetated channel width estimates varied by 37 m (146 170 


m – 183 m; Table 2).  171 


Table 1. Comparison of estimates of unvegetated channel width from fall imagery by three 172 


investigators and error in these estimates as compared to field measurements for investigator #3, 173 


based on iterative bootstrap sampling.  174 


  Year 


Metric Investigator 
2010 2011 2012 


Average (Standard Deviation) 


Average Estimates of 


Unvegetated Channel Width (m) 


Investigator #1 146 (60) 193 (83) 113 (46) 


Investigator #2 183 (64) 169 (73) 132 (50) 


Investigator #3 173 (55) 180 (83) 137 (49) 


Significant Differences Between 


Investigators (%) 


Investigator(s) 


#1,#2,#3 
0  0 2 


3.2 Evaluation of June versus Fall Photo-Interpreted Widths 175 


 From 2010–2012, 100% of all bootstrapped estimates of June and fall unvegetated channel 176 


width, as photo-interpreted by investigator #3, were significantly different. Photo-interpreted 177 


unvegetated channel width derived from June imagery had a mean of 239.4 m (SD = 69.5 m) in 178 


2010, 220.1 m (SD = 90.6 m) in 2011, and 173.0 (SD = 77.6 m) in 2012. Photo-interpreted 179 







PRRIP – REVIEW DRAFT  03/29/2016 
 


DRAFT PRRIP EDO Unvegetated Channel Width Manuscript  Page 10 of 18 
 


unvegetated channel width derived from fall imagery had a mean of 166.1 m (SD = 71.4 m) in 180 


2010, 199.3 m (SD = 86.7 m) in 2011, and 130.0 m (SD = 60.6 m) in 2012.  181 


3.3 Evaluation of Field-Measured versus Photo-Interpreted Widths from June and Fall 182 


Imagery 183 


Photo-interpreted unvegetated channel widths from fall aerial imagery were generally more 184 


similar to field measurements than estimates derived from June imagery, as photo-interpreted by 185 


investigator #3 (Figure 3). This was most apparent in 2010 and 2012 where the central tendency 186 


of unvegetated channel widths derived from June imagery were positively biased (i.e., 187 


overestimated) and estimates derived from fall imagery tended to be unbiased or biased slightly 188 


negative (i.e., underestimated; Figure 3). Differences in unvegetated channel widths derived from 189 


June imagery were significantly different in 100% of the 2010 iterations, 33% of the 2011 190 


iterations and 87% of the 2012 iterations. Differences for fall imagery were significant in 3% of 191 


the 2010 iterations, 91% of the 2011 iterations and 15% of the 2012 iterations.  192 


 193 Measured June Fall


-1
0
0


0
1
0
0


2
0
0


3
0
0


U
n


v
eg


et
a


te
d


 C
h


a
n


n
el


 W
id


th
 E


rr
o


r 
(m


) 2010


A)


Measured June Fall


-1
0
0


0
1
0
0


2
0
0


3
0
0


2011


B)


Measured June Fall


-1
0
0


0
1
0
0


2
0
0


3
0
0


2012


C)







PRRIP – REVIEW DRAFT  03/29/2016 
 


DRAFT PRRIP EDO Unvegetated Channel Width Manuscript  Page 11 of 18 
 


 194 


Figure 3. Distribution of photo-interpreted estimates of unvegetated channel width error (top) and 195 


bootstrapped estimates of error (bottom). Boxes represent 25th – 75th percentiles, whiskers 196 


represent the range of data, dots represent extreme values, and lines in the center of the boxes and 197 


the small target-like boxes represent the median and average values for all observations, 198 


respectively. Dashed line at y=0 represents zero error in estimates obtained using imagery.  199 


 200 


Table 2. Mean and standard deviation of errors in photo-interpreted estimates of unvegetated 201 


channel width collected by investigator #3 as compared to field measurements for 1,000 bootstrap 202 


samples. “Percent” refers to the percentage of the bootstrap samples where photo-interpreted 203 


estimates were significantly different than field measurements at a 95% confidence level (α = 204 


0.05). 205 


Imagery 


Dataset 


Mean 


(m) 


STDEV 


(m) 


LCI 


(m) 


UCI 


(m) Percent 


June 2010 88 66 2 241 100 


Fall 2010 6 34 -24 137 3 


June 2011 23 33 -16 134 33 


Fall 2011 -9 23 -50 78 91 


June 2012 46 65 -90 235 87 


Fall 2012 5 54 -99 136 15 


 206 


4.0 Discussion 207 


We found the magnitude of difference between the field-measured unvegetated channel 208 


widths and the widths interpreted from fall aerial imagery were typically small. The relative 209 


difference between field-measured and photo-interpreted widths from June imagery was much 210 


Measured June Fall


-1
0
0


0
1
0
0


2
0
0


3
0
0


U
n


v
eg


et
a


te
d


 C
h


a
n


n
el


 W
id


th
 E


rr
o


r 
(m


)


D)


Measured June Fall


-1
0
0


0
1
0
0


2
0
0


3
0
0


E)


Measured June Fall


-1
0
0


0
1
0
0


2
0
0


3
0
0


F)







PRRIP – REVIEW DRAFT  03/29/2016 
 


DRAFT PRRIP EDO Unvegetated Channel Width Manuscript  Page 12 of 18 
 


larger. Our results indicate unvegetated channel width estimates derived from fall imagery were 211 


similar across the three investigators in all but a very few cases in 2012. 212 


The positive bias and magnitude of difference when interpreting unvegetated channel width 213 


from June imagery can be partially explained by basin hydrology (Figure 5). June aerial imagery 214 


often coincides with the late-spring runoff when flows through the AHR are at or near their annual 215 


peak. Field measurements and fall aerial imagery are typically collected after the late-spring runoff 216 


when flows are much lower. The timing of data collection affects the unvegetated width 217 


measurement because, as an anastomosed to braided system, width-related metrics are sensitive to 218 


river discharge. For example, the average flow at Anchor Point #23 during the collection of June 219 


and fall 2010 imagery was approximately 210 m3/s and 22 m3/s, respectively (Figure 6). Many of 220 


the vegetated bars present in the October imagery were fully submerged in June due to the much 221 


higher flow (Figures 5 and 6). Submerged vegetated bars were difficult to identify in imagery, 222 


leading to an over-estimation of unvegetated channel width based on that imagery series.  223 


Differences of fall 2011 photo-interpreted and field measurements was most likely 224 


attributed to flows as well. Fall flows were considerably different than those experienced during 225 


field measurements and statistical accuracy reflected this influence (Figure 5). Despite a lack of 226 


statistical accuracy, fall estimates at transects were generally very similar to field measurements 227 


in 2011 (e.g. averaged <10 m of difference) and the distribution of fall estimates shows a very 228 


precise yet negatively biased relationship, which lead to low statistical accuracy of fall estimates. 229 


If flows were more similar between the two time periods in 2011, we would expect an increase of 230 


statistical accuracy of fall measurements comparable to those observed in 2010 and 2012. 231 







PRRIP – REVIEW DRAFT  03/29/2016 
 


DRAFT PRRIP EDO Unvegetated Channel Width Manuscript  Page 13 of 18 
 


 232 


Figure 5. Time series of Platte River flows measured at the Grand Island, Nebraska USGS gage, 233 


2010–2012. Also shown are typical periods of data collection. 234 


 235 


 236 


Figure 6. Anchor Point #23 in aerial imagery collected in June (A) and October (B) of 2010 with 237 


photo-interpreted and field-measured unvegetated channel widths along each of the three 238 


transects. Average discharge through the Associated Habitat Reach on the date of June imagery 239 


collection was 210 m3/s while flow on the date of fall imagery collection was 22 m3/s. 240 


 241 







PRRIP – REVIEW DRAFT  03/29/2016 
 


DRAFT PRRIP EDO Unvegetated Channel Width Manuscript  Page 14 of 18 
 


The resolution of imagery also likely contributed to differences in estimates of unvegetated 242 


channel width. The ground resolution of fall imagery (0.15 m) was four times finer than the June 243 


imagery (0.61 m). This difference is apparent in Figure 6 where surface features (e.g., sandbars, 244 


banks, bedforms, trees, etc.) are more clearly defined in the fall imagery (Figure 6B) than the June 245 


imagery (Figure 6A). Similarly, other researchers have shown that resolution of aerial imagery 246 


directly influences the magnitude of the errors in planform characteristics estimated from the 247 


imagery (Mount et al., 2003, Mount and Louis, 2005; Swanson et al., 2010). We also believe the 248 


coarser resolution of the June imagery likely contributed to the larger estimates of unvegetated 249 


channel widths because it was more difficult to distinguish a sandbar as being vegetated unless 250 


vegetation was very dense (i.e., very red in the imagery).  251 


In addition to river flow and imagery resolution, another potential source of photo-252 


interpretation error is encroachment of annual vegetation in the channel during the growing season 253 


in low flow years. For example, the difference between June and fall photo-interpreted unvegetated 254 


channel widths was fairly large in 2012 even though flows during the collection of June and fall 255 


imagery were nearly equal due to increased vegetation abundance on low sandbars the fall of 2012 256 


(Figure 7). The majority of the channel bed, largely free of vegetation in June following two years 257 


of medium to high flows, was exposed during the 2012 growing season and colonized by annual 258 


vegetation. Consequently, the unvegetated widths estimated from June imagery were larger than 259 


those measured in the field and estimated from fall aerial imagery.  260 







PRRIP – REVIEW DRAFT  03/29/2016 
 


DRAFT PRRIP EDO Unvegetated Channel Width Manuscript  Page 15 of 18 
 


 261 


Figure 7. Anchor Point #33 as it appears in aerial imagery collected in June (A) and fall (B) of 262 


2012 with estimated widths. There is a subtle but apparent increase in the abundance of 263 


vegetation from June to fall in the non-wetted portions of the active river channel.  264 


 265 


5.0 Conclusions  266 


Using high-resolution aerial imagery collected in the fall, three independent investigators 267 


were able to photo-interpret reasonable approximations (range of average error = -9 m – 6 m) of 268 


field measured unvegetated channel widths collected in the field during summer. However, photo-269 


interpreted widths from June imagery (peak flow season) tended to be much greater (range of 270 


average error = 46 m – 83 m) than field measured unvegetated channel widths. High flows in June, 271 


imagery resolution and vegetation encroachment were likely the primary factors attributing to the 272 


increased error in estimates of unvegetated channel width derived from June imagery. 273 


Accordingly, we conclude that photo-interpreting unvegetated channel width from high-resolution 274 


aerial imagery can be a viable and reproducible alternative to implementing expensive field 275 


monitoring in braided river systems. However, interpretation from aerial imagery series collected 276 


at high flows can result in significant overestimation of unvegetated channel width. This is an 277 


especially important consideration for analyses of publically-available imagery in the Great Plains 278 







PRRIP – REVIEW DRAFT  03/29/2016 
 


DRAFT PRRIP EDO Unvegetated Channel Width Manuscript  Page 16 of 18 
 


region of the United States. Many of those imagery series were collected in the April – July period, 279 


coinciding with the annual late-spring runoff period.  280 


These conclusions will be used to assist Platte River Recovery Implementation Program 281 


decision-makers as they consider how to allocate the Program’s research and monitoring budget 282 


in the future. Transitioning away from time- and money-intensive field monitoring of metrics like 283 


unvegetated channel width may free up resources for other research activities and/or allow the 284 


Program to increase the spatial and temporal resolution remote sensing data acquisition.  285 


Acknowledgements 286 


We would like to thank all members of the Platte River Recovery Implementation 287 


Program’s Independent Science Advisory Committee and Technical Advisory Committee, 288 


especially Dr. Brian Bledsoe and Dr. Jennifer Hoeting, for their helpful and insightful comments. 289 


The Platte River Recovery Implementation Program provided funding for this research. 290 


References 291 


Atkins, R.J. 1979. Breeding ecology of least terns and piping plovers on the Platte River, Nebraska. 292 


United States Fish and Wildlife Service, Northern Prairie Wildlife Research Center. 293 


Austin, J.E. and A.L. Richert. 2001. A comprehensive review of the observational and site 294 


evaluation data of migrant whooping cranes in the United States, 1943-99. U.S. Geological 295 


Survey, Northern Prairie Wildlife Research Center, Jamestown, North Dakota, and State 296 


Museum, University of Nebraska, Lincoln, USA. 297 


Biology Workgroup. 1990. Platte River management joint study final report. Available at: 298 


http://cwcbweblink.state.co.us/WebLink/0/doc/134258/Page6.aspx. 299 


Department of the Interior. 2006. Platte River Recovery Implementation Program Final 300 


Environmental Impact Statement. [Denver, Colo.] Bureau of Reclamation and Fish and 301 


Wildlife Service. Available at: 302 


https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/ProgramLibrary/DOI%202006_Record%303 


20of%20Decision%20PRRIP%20FEIS.pdf 304 


Eschner, T.R., R.F. Hadley and K.D. Crowley. 1983. Hydrologic and morphologic changes in 305 


channels of the Platte River Basin in Colorado, Wyoming and Nebraska: A historical 306 


perspective. United States Department of the Interior, Geological Survey. 307 



http://cwcbweblink.state.co.us/WebLink/0/doc/134258/Page6.aspx

https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/ProgramLibrary/DOI%202006_Record%20of%20Decision%20PRRIP%20FEIS.pdf

https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/ProgramLibrary/DOI%202006_Record%20of%20Decision%20PRRIP%20FEIS.pdf





PRRIP – REVIEW DRAFT  03/29/2016 
 


DRAFT PRRIP EDO Unvegetated Channel Width Manuscript  Page 17 of 18 
 


Environmental Systems Research Institute (ESRI). 2012. ArcGIS Desktop: Release 10.1. 308 


Redlands, CA. 309 


Faanes, C.A., D.H. Johnson and G.R. Lingle. 1992. Characteristics of whooping crane roost sites 310 


in the Platte River. North American Crane Workshop Proceedings. Paper 259. 311 


Horn, J.D., R.M. Joeckel and C.R. Fielding. 2012. Progressive abandonment and planform changes 312 


of the central Platte River in Nebraska, central USA, over historical timeframes. 313 


Geomorphology. 139:372–383. 314 


Hughes, M.L., P.F. McDowell and W.A. Marcus. 2006. Accuracy assessment of georectified aerial 315 


photographs: implications for measuring lateral channel movement in a GIS. Geomorphology. 316 


74:1–16. 317 


Johnson, W.C. 1994. Woodland expansions in the Platte River, Nebraska: Patterns and causes. 318 


Ecological Monographs. 45–84. 319 


Lingle, G.R., P.J. Curier and K.L. Lingle. 1984. Physical characteristics of a whooping crane roost 320 


site on the Platte River, Hall County, Nebraska. Prairie Naturalist. 16:39–44. 321 


Mount, N. and J. Louis. 2005. Estimation and propagation of error in measurements of river 322 


channel movement from aerial imagery. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms. 30:635–323 


643. 324 


Mount, N.J., J. Louis, R.M. Teeuw, P.M. Zukowskyj and T. Stott. 2003. Estimation of error in 325 


bankfull width comparisons from temporally sequenced raw and corrected aerial photographs. 326 


Geomorphology. 56:65–77. 327 


Murphy, P.J., T.J. Randle, L.M. Fotherby and J.A. Daraio. 2004. Platte River channel: History and 328 


restoration. Bureau of Reclamation, Technical Service Center, Sedimentation and River 329 


Hydraulics Group, Denver, Colorado. 330 


Platte River Recovery Implementation Program (Program). 2010. Final protocol: Monitoring the 331 


channel geomorphology and in-channel vegetation of the central Platte River. Executive 332 


Director’s Office of the Platte River Recovery Implementation Program. Available at: 333 


https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/Pages/ProgramLibrary.aspx 334 


R Development Core Team. 2013. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R 335 


Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Available at: http:www.R-336 


project.org/. 337 


Schumm S.A. 2005. River variability and complexity. Cambridge University Press. 338 


Shenk, T.M. and M.J. Armbruster. 1986. Whooping crane habitat criteria for the Big Bend area of 339 


the Platte River. U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service, Fort Collins, Colorado, 34p. 340 


Simons & Associates, Inc. and URS Greiner Woodward Clyde. 2000. Physical history of the Platte 341 


River in Nebraska: Focusing upon flow, sediment transport, geomorphology, and vegetation. 342 


Prepared for Bureau of Reclamation and Fish and Wildlife Service Platte River EIS Office, 343 


dated August 2000. 344 



https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/Pages/ProgramLibrary.aspx

http://www.r-project.org/

http://www.r-project.org/





PRRIP – REVIEW DRAFT  03/29/2016 
 


DRAFT PRRIP EDO Unvegetated Channel Width Manuscript  Page 18 of 18 
 


Swanson, B.J., G.A. Meyer, and J.E. Coonrod. 2011. Historical channel narrowing along the Rio 345 


Grande near Albuquerque, New Mexico in response to peak discharge reductions and 346 


engineering: Magnitude and uncertainty of change from air photo measurements. Earth 347 


Surface Processes and Landforms. 36:885–900. 348 


Williams, G.P. 1978. The case of the shrinking channels – the North Platte and Platte Rivers in 349 


Nebraska. M.S. Thesis. University of Wyoming, Laramie. In U.S. Geological Survey Circular 350 


781. 48 pp. 351 


Ziewitz, J.W. 1992. Whooping crane riverine roosting habitat suitability model. Pages 71–81 in 352 


D. A. Wood, editor. Proceedings of the 1988 North American Crane Workshop. Florida Game 353 


and Fresh Water Fish Commission Nongame Wildlife Program Technical Report 12. 354 


Tallahassee, Florida, USA. 355 








1 
 


PLATTE RIVER HYDROLOGY AND SANDBAR DYNAMICS: IMPLICATIONS FOR 


TERN AND PLOVER REPRODUCTIVE ECOLOGY 


 


 


J.M. FARNSWORTH*, D. BAASCH, and K. WERBYLO 


 
Platte River Recovery Implementation Program, Kearney, NE 68845, USA 


 


 


ABSTRACT 


John William Hardy’s (1957) concept of the physiological adaptation of interior least tern 


(Sternula antillarum athalassos) to begin nesting concurrent with recession of the spring rise has 


been embraced in Platte River literature and expanded to include piping plover (Charadrius 


melodus). The distributions of central Platte River tern and plover nest initiation dates were 


examined in relation to the annual hydrograph of the historical central Platte River and 


contemporary central and lower Platte River. An emergent sandbar habitat model was developed 


to evaluate the potential for reproductive success given observed hydrology, stage-discharge 


relationships, and sandbar height distributions. No evidence was found to suggest these species 


are physiologically adapted to begin nesting concurrent with the recession of the late spring rise 


on the Platte River. Model results indicate a limited potential for piping plover reproductive 


success due to the timing and length of the nesting and brood rearing period in relation to the 


timing of the late spring rise. Least tern success potential is higher due to the shorter nesting and 


brood rearing duration which increases the likelihood of successful renesting following nest loss 


during the late spring rise. Sensitivity analyses indicate the potential for reproductive success was 


most sensitive to sandbar height. Past species habitat suitability and productivity assessments 


based on the assumption that sandbars build to the water surface during peak flow events should 


be re-evaluated.  


 


SHORT TITLE: Sandbar dynamics and tern and plover reproduction 


 


KEY WORDS: central Platte River, hydrology, interior least tern, lower Platte River, piping 


plover, reproductive success, sandbar height distributions, stage-discharge relationships.  


 


 


INTRODUCTION 


 


Interior least tern (Sterna antillarum athalassos; hereafter, least tern) and piping plover 


(Charadrius melodus) are two species of endangered and threatened shore birds that nest on 


barren to sparsely vegetated riverine sandbars, sand and gravel pits, and along lake shorelines 


                                                            
* Correspondence to: J.M. Farnsworth, Headwaters Corporation, 4111 4th Ave., Suite 6. Kearney, NE 68845; E-mail: 


farnsworthj@headwaterscorp.com; Telephone: 308-237-5728; Fax: 308-237-4651. 



mailto:farnsworthj@headwaterscorp.com





2 
 


(USFWS, 1990). The Platte River Recovery Implementation Program (Program) has been tasked 


with improving tern and plover use and productivity along 145 km of the big bend reach of the 


Platte River in central Nebraska, USA. Program activities in this reach, known as the Associated 


Habitat Reach (AHR), are intended to mitigate declines in species habitat suitability due to water 


development in the Platte River basin (Department of the Interior, 2006).  


The decline in AHR habitat suitability has been inferred from 1) the body of evidence 


documenting a substantial change in central Platte River hydrology and associated reduction in 


unvegetated channel width over historical timeframes, 2) the presence of species nesting on off-


channel habitat, but lack of suitable sandbar nesting habitat and on-channel productivity in the 


contemporary central Platte River, and 3) species use of riverine habitat in the contemporary lower 


Platte River which experiences higher peak flow magnitudes. Implicit in this inference are the 


assumptions that on-channel productivity in the lower Platte is sufficient to maintain stable 


subpopulations and the lower Platte River is an analog for the historical central Platte prior to water 


development.  


The hydrology of the central and lower Platte River is characterized by two spring rises, 


one in early spring due to localized snowmelt and one in the late spring due to snowmelt and 


precipitation runoff from basin headwaters in the high plains and Rocky Mountains (Murphy et 


al., 2004). Investigations of breeding ecology of least tern and piping plover in the Platte basin 


have embraced Hardy’s (1957) suggestion of a relationship between nesting and cessation of 


spring floods, stating that these species are adapted to begin nesting in the central Platte River after 


water levels recede in the spring and sandbars are exposed (Faanes, 1983; Sidle et al., 1988; Kirsch, 


1996). Thus, the lack of use and productivity in the central Platte River has been attributed to the 


reduction in the magnitude of the spring rise resulting in unsuitably-low sandbar habitat likely to 


be inundated as a result of rainfall events during the nesting season (USFWS, 2006).  


The relationship between the annual hydrograph, sandbar habitat and species ecology has 


been explored and debated in other river systems (Dugger et al., 2002; Jorgensen, 2009; Catlin et 


al., 2010). These relationships and statements about the similarities of the contemporary lower 


Platte River and the historical central Platte River have been debated, but not evaluated through 


comparative analyses. The objectives of this investigation were to: 1) examine the timing of the 


late spring rise in relation to least tern and piping plover nesting ecology on the historical and 


contemporary central Platte River and the contemporary lower Platte River and 2) compare and 


contrast the potential for on-channel species productivity in the central and lower Platte River 


segments given our current understanding of channel hydraulics and sandbar height relationships.  


 


METHODS 


 


Study Areas 


Two segments of the Platte River in Nebraska were included in this study (Figure 1). The 


AHR in central Nebraska USA is a 145 km stretch of river extending from Lexington downstream 


to Chapman, Nebraska. The lower Platte River (LPR) study area is a 53 km stretch of river 







3 
 


extending from the confluence of the Elkhorn River to the Missouri River near Plattsmouth, 


Nebraska. This segment has the highest incidence of on-channel nesting in the Platte River basin.  


 


Nest and Brood Exposure Data 


The specific dates least tern and piping plover initiate nests, hereafter referred to as nest 


initiation dates, were compiled from all on- and off-channel central Platte River monitoring data 


for the period of 2001– 2013 (Baasch, 2014). Standardized Program nest exposure periods (nest 


initiation to chick fledging) were used to establish the nesting and brood rearing period for each 


species (Baasch et al., 2015). To eliminate the disproportionate effect of early and late nests on 


the length of the nest initiation season, the 5th and 95th percentile of the nest initiation dates were 


used to define the nest initiation window. A direct analysis of on-channel only nest initiation dates 


in relation to peak discharge dates was not possible given the paucity of on-channel nesting in the 


central Platte River and lack of season-long systematic monitoring data for the LPR. 


 


Historical Central Platte River Flow Record Extension 


Mean daily flow observations in the historical AHR (1895–1938) were of specific interest 


in this study. However, with the exception of a five-year period from 1902–1906, they were 


unavailable prior to 1915 (Stroup et al., 2006). Mean daily flows were, however, available 


upstream on the North Platte River near North Platte in all years but 1910 and on the North Platte 


River above Lake McConaughy in all years except 1913–1914 (Stroup et al., 2006). A flow record 


extension technique, Maintenance of Variance Extension Type 1 (MOVE.1; Hirsch, 1982), was 


used to estimate mean daily flows on the Platte River near Overton, Nebraska from 1895–1914 


using upstream flow observations. The North Platte River data near North Platte, Nebraska was 


used to develop flow estimates for the period of 1895–1914 with the exception of 1910 which used 


the North Platte River data above Lake McConaughy. Model performance was assessed by 


comparing MOVE.1 estimated and observed Platte River flows near Overton, Nebraska, 1902–


1906 using Nash Sutcliffe Coefficient of Efficiency (NSCE; Nash and Sutcliffe, 1970). The NSCE 


values for the application of the MOVE.1 method for the North Platte River at North Platte and 


above Lake McConaughy were deemed acceptable with NSCE values of 0.75 and 0.70, 


respectively. The historical central Platte River daily discharge records from the flow record 


extension exercise (1895–1914) were combined with records from USGS Gage 06768000 at 


Overton (1915–1938) to produce a 44 year historical AHR data series.  


 


Contemporary Central and Lower Platte Discharge 


Daily discharge records for the contemporary central and lower Platte River reaches were 


retrieved from the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS, 2001) National Water Information System 


(NWIS) for 1954–2012, which was the longest concurrent period of record for both the central and 


lower Platte River gages. Gage 06770500 at Grand Island, Nebraska was used for AHR hydrology 


and gage 06805500 at Louisville, Nebraska was used for the LPR hydrology.  


 







4 
 


Species Nest Initiation in Relation to Platte River Hydrology 


The annual hydrograph was computed for the historical AHR and contemporary AHR and 


LPR reaches from mean daily discharge records. The hydrographs were plotted against the 


distribution of AHR least tern and piping plover nest initiation dates to evaluate the relative timing 


of the species nest initiations period in relation to annual peaks. A more detailed within-year 


analysis of nesting in relation to peak flows was not possible due to the lack of systematically 


collected season-long monitoring data in the historical AHR and contemporary LPR reaches.  


 


Modeling the Availability of Emergent Sandbars 


 


Stage-Discharge Relationships 


Stream gage stage-discharge rating curves were used to characterize river hydraulics in the 


contemporary reaches in an effort to be consistent with previous analyses (Parham, 2007; 


Jorgensen, 2009). However, critiques of similar analyses in other systems caution that use of 


hydraulic data at gage locations may not be representative of the geomorphic variability of a river 


system, specifically in reaches with least tern and piping plover nesting (Jorgensen, 2009; Catlin 


et al., 2010). To address this concern, stage-discharge relationships at gage locations were 


compared to best-available hydraulic data at nest sites. In the contemporary AHR, limited nesting 


has occurred on sandbars at river kilometers 320 and 370 (Baasch, 2014). Modeled HEC-RAS 


stage-discharge relationships at these locations were compared to USGS stage-discharge rating 


curves for the Kearney and Grand Island, Nebraska gages (HDR Inc. et al., 2011). No stream gage 


stage-discharge relationships exist for the historical AHR. As such, the stage-discharge 


relationship for the historical AHR was generated from a HEC-RAS hydraulic model of the 


historical channel near Odessa, Nebraska (Simons & Associates Inc., 2012). 


In the LPR, a Federal Emergency Management Agency HEC-2 hydraulic model was used 


to make a similar comparison (HDR Inc. et al., 2009). Stage-discharge relationships at the 


Louisville and Ashland, Nebraska gages were compared to modeled stage-discharge relationships 


in the Cedar Creek and Gun Club reaches, which have consistently supported nesting (Brown and 


Jorgensen, 2008, 2009, 2010; Brown et al., 2011, 2012, 2013).  


 


Sandbar Heights 


A combination of remote-sensing data and hydraulic modeling data were used to develop 


a distribution of sandbar heights relative to peak stage in the contemporary AHR following a 


natural high-flow event that occurred in 2010. The USGS conducted field surveys of sandbar 


topography in the LPR following the 2010 event and generated a similar sandbar height 


distribution (Alexander et al., 2013). Sandbar data was not available for the historical AHR.  


 


Emergent Sandbar Availability Model 


A spreadsheet model was developed to estimate the annual availability of emergent sandbar 


habitat during the nesting season using discharge records, stage-discharge relationships, and 







5 
 


observed sandbar heights in the AHR and LPR segments. Model input and output variables are 


listed in Table 1. 


Model operations/calculations for each analysis year included: 


1. Identify maximum daily discharge for the period from 1 January the year prior to each 


analysis year and ending 1 July of the analysis year. Maximum flow during this period was 


considered to be the habitat-forming discharge (DISCHHAB) controlling the height of 


sandbars in the analysis year. The 1.5 year period for identification of DISCHHAB allowed 


for sandbar persistence through two nesting seasons.  


2. Calculate stage (STAGEHAB) of the habitat-forming discharge for each nesting season from 


gage stage-discharge relationship.  


3. Calculate the stage associated with sandbars (STAGEBAR) for each nesting season by 


subtracting sandbar height (BAR HEIGHT) relative to peak stage from STAGEHAB.  


4. Calculate daily stage (STAGEDAILY) during the least tern and piping plover nesting and 


brood rearing seasons of each year.  


5. Compare daily river stage (STAGEDAILY) to sandbar stage (STAGEBAR) to determine if bar 


height exceeded river stage (i.e., were emergent).  


6. Calculate the maximum number of contiguous days during each nesting and brood rearing 


seasons when bar height exceeded stage. 


7. Subtract period for successful nesting and brood rearing (64 days for piping plovers and 49 


for least terns; Table 2) from maximum contiguous days with emergent sandbars to 


determine the number of days during each nesting season when a nest could have been 


initiated and successfully fledge chicks without being inundated (SUCCESS WINDOW).  


 


Model Sensitivity to Stage-Discharge Relationships and Sandbar Height 


The contemporary AHR and LPR reach models were run for the period of 1954–2012 and 


the historical AHR model was run for the period of 1895–1938. The median SUCCESS 


WINDOWs were calculated for each species as well as the percent of years when there was no 


SUCCESS WINDOW (0 days) and the percent of years when the SUCCESS WINDOW 


encompassed the entire nesting seasons. The sensitivity of SUCCESS WINDOW to stage-


discharge relationships and sandbar heights was assessed using Oracle® Crystal Ball software. 


Monte Carlo simulations were run with triangular distribution of stage per unit discharge ranging 


from 70% – 130% of the default model value, approximating the range of observed stage-discharge 


relationships in the reaches. Sandbar heights were varied by ±0.46 meters from the default model 


value to represent bar height potential ranging from at peak stage to approximately 1 m below peak 


stage. Each input variable’s contribution to variance in species SUCCESS WINDOW output was 


used to assess sensitivity.  


 


  







6 
 


RESULTS 


 


Species Nest Initiation in Relation to Platte River Hydrology 


The contemporary AHR nest initiation window for piping plovers was 1 May – 23 June 


and was 28 May – 16 July for least terns (Table 2). Approximately 90% of on-channel least tern 


and piping plover nest initiation dates reported on the lower Platte River during the period of 2008–


2013 also fell within the same timeframes (Brown and Jorgensen, 2008, 2009, 2010; Brown et al., 


2011, 2012, 2013). The entire nesting and brood rearing season for piping plovers encompassed 


the period from 1 May – 26 August and 28 May – 30 August for least terns (Table 2). 


Two spring rises were evident in the annual hydrographs of the historical AHR, 


contemporary AHR and contemporary LPR (Figure 2). The first occurred in the February–March 


period and the second peak occurred in mid-June. The peaks were less defined in the contemporary 


AHR due to the flow damping influence of storage reservoirs (Simons & Associates Inc. and URS 


Greiner Woodward Clyde, 2000). The beginning of the piping plover nest initiation window 


coincided with the end of the early-spring rise, but peaked a month prior to the late-spring rise in 


June (Figure 2). The nest initiation window for least tern coincided more closely with the late-


spring rise, although the peak of initiation still preceded the mid-June peak (Figure 2).  


 


Modeling the Availability of Emergent Sandbars 


 


Stage-Discharge Relationships 


Stage-discharge relationships for the Grand Island (06770500) and Ashland gages 


(06801000) were most representative of nesting colony locations within the AHR and LPR, 


respectively (Figures 3 and 4). It was not possible to directly assess the representativeness of the 


stage-discharge relationship for the historical AHR. However, channel width in the modeled reach 


near Odessa, Nebraska (1,300 m) was similar to that of the channel near Lexington, Nebraska, 


(1,220 m) where the earliest on-channel nesting in the AHR was observed (Wyoff, 1960) providing 


some confidence that the relationship was reasonable.  


 


Sandbar Heights 


Median bed material grain size in the contemporary AHR is approximately 0.96 mm and 


in the LPR is 0.22 mm. The median sandbar height in the AHR in 2010 was 0.46 m below peak 


stage and the median height in the LPR was 0.61 m below peak stage (Program unpublished report; 


Figure 5). The slightly lower sandbar heights relative to peak stage observed in the lower Platte 


River were consistent with published bedform height relationships in which bedform height 


potential decreases as bed material grain size decreases (Ikeda, 1984; Van Rijn, 1984; Julien and 


Klaassen, 1995). The median bed material grain size of the historical AHR of approximately 0.4 


mm (USACE, 1931) was finer than the contemporary AHR (0.96 mm) and coarser than the LPR 


(0.22 mm). Consequently, median sandbar heights would be expected to range between 0.46 m 







7 
 


and 0.61 m below peak stage. A median sandbar height of 0.46 m was used in the historical AHR 


model to provide a conservatively high estimate of sandbar heights.  


 


Emergent Sandbar Availability Model 


We found the median annual windows that species could have initiated a nest and 


successfully fledged chicks (SUCCESS WINDOW) to be highest in the LPR Reach and lowest in 


the Historical AHR (Table 3). However, the median SUCCESS WINDOW for piping plover was 


minimal in all reaches (<5 days). The SUCCESS WINDOW for least terns was somewhat higher 


in the LPR and Contemporary AHR reaches. However, the potential for season-long successful 


nesting was less than 30% for both species in all reaches. Overall, the model predicted limited 


potential for successful fledging either species in the Historical AHR and piping plover in the 


contemporary reaches. The potential for successful fledging of least tern chicks was somewhat 


higher in the contemporary reaches, although the median window was only three weeks in the LPR 


and two weeks in the contemporary AHR.  


 


Model Sensitivity to Stage-discharge Relationships and Sandbar Height 


 The emergent sandbar model sensitivity analysis indicated that the median SUCCESS 


WINDOW for all reaches was insensitive to stage-discharge and quite sensitive to sandbar height 


input variables. In all cases, over 90% of the variance in SUCCESS WINDOW was attributable 


to sandbar height (Table 4).  


 


DISCUSSION 


 


Timing of Annual Hydrograph in Relation to Tern and Plover Nesting Ecology 


The late-spring rise on the Platte River typically occurs during mid-June and recedes in 


late-June or July. Least tern and piping plover nest initiation dates within the AHR peak 2–4 weeks 


prior to the late spring rise. The nesting ecology of the piping plover appears to be especially 


problematic because the late-spring rise often occurs after most nests have been initiated and, given 


the length of the nesting and brood rearing season, there is little potential for renesting. The peak 


of least tern nest initiation also often occurs prior to the late-spring rise, but the later overall nest 


initiation window and shorter nesting and brood rearing periods provide more potential for 


renesting following a late-spring rise.  


 


Potential for Successful Nesting  


Previous AHR and LPR analyses predicted the potential for successful nesting in most 


years (Parham, 2007; USFWS, 2006). In contrast, the emergent sandbar habitat model predicts 


limited potential for successful nesting in the contemporary AHR and LPR Reaches and extremely 


limited potential in the historical AHR. The widely differing predictions are the result of the prior 


assumption that sandbars build to the peak flow stage during the annual peak flow. This assumption 







8 
 


is challenged by the empirical analyses of sandbar heights discussed herein. It is also challenged 


by observations of nest loss due to flood events.  


Wycoff (1960) provided the earliest least tern nest records in the historical AHR. His 


observations in the 1940s occurred slightly after the historical AHR model period, but before 


substantial changes in AHR channel width occurred. In 1947, a mean daily peak discharge of 394 


cms occurred on 23 June. On-channel nests observed in 1948 were inundated twice even though 


the highest mean daily peak discharge during the 1948 nesting season was 127 cms which is well 


below the hypothesize habitat-forming discharge of 394 cms.  


In 1978, discharge in the AHR peaked at 297 cms. Faanes (1983) reported all on-channel 


least tern and piping plover nests in 1979 were inundated by flows of 85 cms. In 2014, two least 


tern nests were initiated within the AHR following the 2013 high flow event that had a peak mean 


daily discharge of 286 cms (Baasch, 2014); those nests were inundated at 82 cms. The 


contemporary AHR model predicted that the 1979 nests would have been inundated at 123 cms 


and 2014 nests inundated at 116 cms. 


Similarly, a discharge of 2,379 cms within the LPR at Louisville in 2008 produced sandbar 


habitat inundated by a discharge of 595 cms in 2009, flooding 50 least tern and 14 piping plover 


nests (Brown and Jorgensen, 2009). In 2010, a mean daily peak discharge of 3,398 cms at 


Louisville produced sandbar habitat inundated in 2011 at a peak discharge of 940 cms flooding all 


56 least tern and 7 piping plover nests observed on the river (Brown et al., 2011). The 


contemporary LPR model predicted that the 2009 nests would have been inundated at 968 cms and 


2011 nests inundated at 1,489 cms.  


These comparisons indicate the sandbar model slightly over-predicts the discharge 


necessary to inundate sandbars used by the species. Consequently, sandbar heights of 0.45 m below 


peak stage in the AHR and 0.61 m in the LPR appear to be conservatively high and previous 


analyses assuming sandbars build to the water surface seriously underestimated the potential for 


nest loss due to inundation.  


Nest loss to flooding is a natural event to which least terns, and to some extent piping 


plovers, have adapted to through renesting and other reproductive strategies (Sidle et al., 1992; 


Kirsch and Sidle, 1999). The potential for success of late season renesting is a model uncertainty 


linked to the viability of on-channel nesting following the late spring rise. A considerable level of 


tern renesting has been reported in the LPR following flooding but chicks resulting from renesting 


events were not monitored to fledging age so it is unknown they fledged (Brown and Jorgensen, 


2009; Brown et al., 2011). Support of LPR monitoring of renesting events through fledging would 


allow for a better understanding of least tern population dynamics. 


 


Decline in Central Platte River Habitat Suitability for Least Tern and Piping Plover 


The decline of on-channel species habitat in the AHR has been inferred from the reduction 


in AHR channel width from the pre-development period, lack of on-channel nesting in the 


contemporary AHR, and species use of the LPR. This inference assumes the LPR currently 


supports reproductive levels sufficient to maintain species populations and that the LPR is a 







9 
 


functional analog for the historical AHR. The assumption that the LPR is a functional analog for 


the historical AHR is not supported by this analysis. Channel width in the historical AHR was 


much wider than the contemporary LPR and flows were approximately 50% lower. Consequently, 


stage increase and the associated ability to build suitably-high sandbars was likely very limited. 


The late-spring rise also consistently occurred during mid-June, seriously limiting the potential for 


successful plover renesting.   


 


An Alternative Hypothesis for the Persistence of Species Populations in the Platte Basin 


Why then, do these species occur along the Platte River? An alternative view is suggested 


by historical and contemporary species use of both in- and off-channel habitats. The earliest 


species observations in the AHR include documentation of nesting on natural sandbars, artificially 


created on-channel islands comprised of spoil from a sandpit operation, and at an off-channel 


sandpits (Wycoff, 1960). In the lower portion of the basin, records in the late 1800s include off-


channel nesting at rainwater basins and along lake shorelines (Pitts, 1988; Ducey, 2000).  


In the contemporary LPR and AHR, these species routinely make use of off-channel 


habitats regardless of whether on-channel habitat is available or not (Baasch, 2014; Brown and 


Jorgensen, 2008, 2009, 2010; Brown et al., 2011, 2012, 2013). These off-channel habitats have 


been viewed as an inferior alternative to on-channel nesting habitat that became necessary as on-


channel habitat suitability declined over historical timeframes (Sidle et al., 1993; National 


Research Council, 2005). However, the limited potential for success of on-channel nesting in the 


central and lower Platte and the consistent use of off-channel habitat, off-channel habitats may 


have allowed the species to expand into and persist in a basin where the hydrology is not ideally 


suited to their reproductive ecology.  


 


Implications for Species Management in the Contemporary AHR 


The results of these analyses and other ongoing least tern and piping plover research and 


monitoring efforts have led the Program to re-examine the benefits of management strategies that 


place a heavy emphasis on flow-created on-channel habitat. The Program has instead shifted 


towards species management activities focused primarily on maintaining a substantial supply of 


suitable off-channel habitat while providing a limited amount of on-channel habitat. Program 


decision-makers are currently engaged in a structured decision-making process to determine how 


much and what kinds of off- and on-channel habitat the Program will manage in the future.  


 


ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 


We would like to thank all members of the Platte River Recovery Implementation Program’s 


Independent Science Advisory Committee and Technical Advisory Committee for their helpful 


and insightful comments. The Platte River Recovery Implementation Program provided support 


for this project.  


 


 







10 
 


REFERENCES 


 


Alexander, JS, Schultze DM, Zelt RB. 2013. Emergent sandbar dynamics in the lower Platte River 


in eastern Nebraska—Methods and results of pilot study, 2011. U.S. Geological Survey 


Scientific Investigations Report. U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, VA.  


Baasch DM. 2014. Platte River Recovery Implementation Program: 2012–2013 interior least tern 


and piping plover monitoring and research report for the central Platte River, Nebraska. 


Available at: https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/ProgramLibrary/PRRIP% 


202014_LTPP%20Monitoring%20and%20Research%20Report%20for%202012-2013.pdf 


(accessed February 25, 2016).  


Baasch DM, Hefley TJ, Cahis SD. 2015. A comparison of breeding population estimators using 


nest and brood monitoring data. Ecology and Evolution 18 : 4197–4209. Available at: 


https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/ProgramLibrary/Baasch%20et%20al%2


02015.pdf   


Brown MB, Jorgensen JG. 2008. Interior Least Tern and Piping Plover monitoring, research, 


management, and outreach report for the lower Platte River, Nebraska. Joint report of the 


Tern and Plover Conservation Partnership and the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission 


(2008).  


 Brown MB, Jorgensen JG. 2009. Interior Least Tern and Piping Plover monitoring, research, 


management, and outreach report for the lower Platte River, Nebraska. Joint report of the 


Tern and Plover Conservation Partnership and the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission 


(2009).  


 Brown MB, Jorgensen JG. 2010. Interior Least Tern and Piping Plover monitoring, research, 


management, and outreach report for the lower Platte River, Nebraska. Joint Report of the 


Tern and Plover Conservation Partnership and the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission 


(2010).  


 Brown MB, Jorgensen JG, Dinan LR. 2011. Interior Least Tern and Piping Plover monitoring, 


research, management, and outreach report for the lower Platte River, Nebraska. Joint Report 


of the Tern and Plover Conservation Partnership and the Nebraska Game and Parks 


Commission (2011).  


 Brown MB, Jorgensen JG, Dinan LR. 2012. Interior Least Tern and Piping Plover monitoring, 


research, management, and outreach report for the lower Platte River, Nebraska. Joint Report 


of the Tern and Plover Conservation Partnership and the Nebraska Game and Parks 


Commission (2012).  


Brown MB, Jorgensen JG, Dinan LR. 2013. Interior Least Tern and Piping Plover monitoring, 


research, management, and outreach report for the lower Platte River, Nebraska. Joint Report 


of the Tern and Plover Conservation Partnership and the Nebraska Game and Parks 


Commission (2013).  



http://pubs.usgs.gov/sir/2013/5031/sir13_5031.pdf

https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/ProgramLibrary/PRRIP%25%20202014_LTPP%20Monitoring%20and%20Research%20Report%20for%202012-2013.pdf

https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/ProgramLibrary/PRRIP%25%20202014_LTPP%20Monitoring%20and%20Research%20Report%20for%202012-2013.pdf

http://obpa-nc.org/Birds/2009-Nebraska%20least%20tern%20and%20piping%20plover%20report.pdf

http://outdoornebraska.ne.gov/wildlife/programs/nongame/NGBirds/Interior%20Least%20Tern%20and%20Piping%20Plover%20reports/2010_tern%20and%20plover%20annual%20report.pdf

http://outdoornebraska.ne.gov/wildlife/programs/nongame/NGBirds/Interior%20Least%20Tern%20and%20Piping%20Plover%20reports/2011_tern%20and%20plover%20annual%20report.pdf

http://outdoornebraska.ne.gov/wildlife/programs/nongame/NGBirds/Papers/2012_LPR_tern%20and%20plover_annual_report.pdf

http://ternandplover.unl.edu/download/annualreport/2013_TPCP_annual_report.pdf





11 
 


Catlin D, Jacobson R, Sherfy M, Anteau M, Felio J, Fraser J, Stucker J. 2010. Discussion of 


“Natural hydrograph of the Missouri River near Sioux City and the least tern and piping 


plover” by DG Jorgensen. Journal of Hydrologic Engineering 15 : 1076–1078. 


Department of the Interior. 2006. Platte River Recovery Implementation Program Final 


Environmental Impact Statement. [Denver, Colo.] Bureau of Reclamation and Fish and 


Wildlife Service. Available at: 


https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/ProgramLibrary/PRRIP 2006_FEIS 


Summary.pdf 


Ducey JE. 2000. Birds of the untamed west: the history of birdlife in Nebraska, 1750 to 1875. 


Omaha, NE, Making History. 


Dugger KM, Ryan MR, Galat DL, Renken RB, Smith JW. 2002. Reproductive success of the 


interior least tern (Sterna antillarum) in relation to hydrology on the Lower Mississippi 


River. River Research and Applications 18 : 97–105. 


Faanes CA. 1983. Aspects of the nesting ecology of least terns and piping plovers in central 


Nebraska. Prairie Naturalist 15 : 145–154. 


Hardy JW. 1957. The least tern in the Mississippi Valley. Master of Science Michigan State 


University, East Lansing, MI.  


HDR Inc. in association with Mussetter Engineering Inc., The Flatwater Group Inc., Pegg M. 2009. 


Lower Platte River Stage Change Study Final Protocol Implementation Report.  


HDR Inc. in association with Tetra Tech, Inc. and The Flatwater Group, Inc. 2011. 1-D Hydraulic 


and Sediment Transport Model Final Hydraulic Modeling Technical Memorandum. Prepared 


for Platte River Recovery Implementation Program.  


Hirsch RM. 1982. A Comparison of four streamflow record extension techniques. Water 


Resources Research 18 : 1081–1088. 


Ikeda S. 1984. Prediction of alternate bar wavelength and height. Journal of Hydraulic 


Engineering 110 : 371–386. 


Jorgensen DG. 2009. Natural hydrograph of the Missouri River near Sioux City and the least tern 


and piping plover. Journal of Hydrologic Engineering 14 : 1365–1373. 


Julien PY, Klaassen GJ. 1995. Sand–dune geometry of large rivers during floods. Journal of 


Hydraulic Engineering 121 : 657–663. 


Kirsch EM. 1996. Habitat selection and productivity of least terns on the lower Platte River, 


Nebraska. Wildlife Monographs 132 : 3–48. 


Kirsch EM, Sidle, JG. 1999. Status of the interior population of least tern. The Journal of Wildlife 


Management 63 : 470–483. 


Murphy PJ, Randle TJ, Fotherby LM, Daraio JA. 2004. "Platte River channel: history and 


restoration". Bureau of Reclamation, Technical Service Center, Sedimentation and River 


Hydraulics Group, Denver, Colorado. 


Nash JE, Sutcliffe JV. 1970. River flow forecasting through conceptual models part I–A discussion 


of principles. Journal of Hydrology 10 : 282–290. 



https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/ProgramLibrary/TC-R190%20PRRIP%20FEIS%20Volume%201.pdf

https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/ProgramLibrary/PRRIP%202006_FEIS%20Summary.pdf

https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/ProgramLibrary/PRRIP%202006_FEIS%20Summary.pdf

https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/ProgramLibrary/FINAL%20PRRIP%20Stage%20Change%20Study.pdf





12 
 


National Research Council. 2005. Endangered and Threatened Species of the Platte River. 


Committee on Endangered and Threatened Species in the Platte River Basin, National 


Research Council, National Academy of Sciences. The National Academies Press, 


Washington, D.C. 


Parham, JE. 2007. Hydrologic analysis of the lower Platte River from 1954-2004, with special 


emphasis on habitats of the endangered least tern, piping plover, and pallid sturgeon. 


Prepared for Nebraska Game and Parks Commission, Lincoln, NE.  


Pitts T. 1988. Status of the Interior Least Tern and Piping Plover in Nebraska (Period of Record 


through 1986). Interstate Task Force on Endangered Species.  


Sidle JG, Dinan JJ, Dryer MP, Rumancik JP Jr, Smith JW. 1988. Distribution of the least tern in 


interior North America. American Birds 42 : 195–201. 


Sidle JG, Carlson DE, Kirsch EM, Dinan JJ. 1992. Flooding: mortality and habitat renewal for 


least terns and piping plovers. Colonial Waterbirds 15 : 132–136. 


Sidle JG, Kirsch EM. 1993. Least tern and piping plover nesting at sand pits in Nebraska. Colonial 


Waterbirds 16 : 139–148. 


Simons & Associates, Inc., URS Greiner Woodward Clyde. 2000. Physical history of the Platte 


River in Nebraska: Focusing upon flow, sediment transport, geomorphology, and vegetation. 


Prepared for Bureau of Reclamation and Fish and Wildlife Service Platte River EIS Office, 


dated August 2000.  


Simons & Associates, Inc. 2012. Analysis of Platte River Channel Geometry Data. Prepared for 


the Platte River Recovery Implementation Program.  


Stroup D, Rodney M, Anderson D. 2006. Flow characterizations for the Platte River Basin in 


Colorado, Wyoming, and Nebraska. Prepared for Platte River Recovery Program EIS Office, 


Lakewood, Colorado. 


US Army Corps of Engineers [USACE]. 1931. Silt investigation in the Missouri River basin, main 


stem of the Missouri River and minor tributaries, appendix XV, supplement V, Sediment 


characteristics of the Platte River. 


US Fish and Wildlife Service [USFWS]. 1990. Recovery Plan for the interior population of the 


least tern (Sterna antillarum). 


U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service [USFWS]. 2006. Biological Opinion on the Platte River Recovery 


Implementation Program.  


US Geological Survey [USGS]. 2001. National Water Information System. Available at 


http://waterdata.usgs.gov/ne/nwis/current/?type=flow (Accessed February 25, 2016). 


Van Rijn LC. 1984. Sediment transport, part III: bed forms and alluvial roughness. Journal of 


Hydraulic Engineering 110 : 1733–1754. 


Wycoff RS. 1960. The least tern. Nebraska Bird Review 28 : 39–42.  



https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/ProgramLibrary/TC-R20%20Physical%20History%20of%20the%20Platte%20River%20in%20Nebraska.pdf

http://waterdata.usgs.gov/ne/nwis/current/?type=flow





13 
 


Table 1. Input and output variables for the emergent sandbar habitat model. 


Model Input Variables 


DISCHHAB 


Maximum of mean daily flow (cms) from 1 January of the 


previous year through 1 July of analysis year. Considered to be the 


discharge that controlled sandbar height in analysis year 


STAGEHAB River stage (m) associated with DISCHHAB 


BAR HEIGHT Sandbar height (m) below peak stage.  


STAGEBAR Stage (m) of sandbars  


DISCHDAILY Daily river discharge (cms) 


STAGEDAILY Daily river stage (m) 


Model Output Variables 


SUCCESS 


WINDOWPLOVER 


Number of days when piping plover nests could be initiated, 


incubated, and hatch and the chicks successfully fledged without 


being inundated. 


SUCCESS 


WINDOWTERN 


Number of days when least tern nests could be initiated, incubated, 


and hatch and the chicks successfully fledged without inundation. 


 


Table 2. Ninetieth percentile of least tern and piping plover nesting and brood rearing 


dates within the Associated Habitat Reach (AHR), 2001–2013. 


Nest Exposure Metric Piping Plover Interior Least Tern 


Nest Count (Number of Nests) 287 770 


Nest Initiation and Egg Laying Period (Days)1 8 3 


Incubation Period (Days) 28 21 


Brooding Period (Days) 28 21 


Period for Successful Nesting (Days)2 64 45 


First Nest Initiation Date (Day-Month) 1-May 28-May 


First Hatch Date (Day-Month)3 6-Jun 21-Jun 


First Fledge Date (Day-Month)4 4-Jul 12-Jul 


Median Nest Initiation Date (Day-Month) 15-May 10-Jun 


Median Hatch Date (Day-Month) 20-Jun 8-Jul 


Median Fledge Date (Day-Month) 18-Jul 29-Jul 


Last Nest Initiation Date (Day-Month) 23-Jun 16-Jul 


Last Hatch Date (Day-Month) 29-Jul 9-Aug 


Last Fledge Date (Day-Month) 26-Aug 30-Aug 


Nesting Initiation Window (Days) 118 95 
1 Nest initiation date was determined by the date a nest (scrape with ≥1 egg) was first observed 


or by egg floating techniques. 
2 Nest initiation and egg-laying period + incubation period + brooding period 
3 Hatch date was determined by observations of ≥1 chick or was estimated based on chick age. 







14 
 


4 Fledge date was determined by the earlier date between first observing sustained flight and a 


predefined fledging age for each species. 


 


Table 3. Emergent sandbar habitat model output by reach. 


 


 


Median  


SUCCESS 


WINDOW  


(days) 


No  


SUCCESS 


WINDOW                    


(% of years) 


Season-Long  


SUCCESS 


WINDOW                        


(% of years) 


Reach Model Period 


Piping 


Plover 


Least 


Tern 


Piping 


Plover 


Least 


Tern 


Piping 


Plover 


Least 


Tern 


LPR Reach 1954 -2012 4 21 42% 17% 22% 25% 


Contemporary AHR 1895 -1938 0 14 53% 29% 25% 29% 


Historical AHR 1954 -2012 0 0 84% 68% 5% 7% 


 


Table 4. Emergent sandbar habitat model median SUCCESS WINDOW sensitivity to 


stage-discharge and sandbar height input variable values. Monte Carlo sensitivity analysis 


utilized stage-increase per unit discharge range from 70% to 130% of default model value. 


Sandbar height range for AHR reaches ranged from 0 to 0.91 m below formative stage. 


Sandbar height range for LPR Reach ranged from 0.15 to 1.07 m below formative stage.  


 Stage-Discharge (% of Variance) Sandbar Height (% of Variance) 


Reach Piping Plover Least Tern Piping Plover Least Tern 


LPR Reach 6.0% 6.1% 94.0% 93.9% 


Contemporary AHR 3.6% 5.3% 96.4% 94.7% 


Historical AHR 2.0% 3.9% 98.0% 96.1% 


 


  







15 
 


Lead Author: J. M. Farnsworth 


Figure 1 


Top of Figure 


 
 


Figure 1.  Location of AHR and LPR study areas and stream gages. 


  







16 
 


Lead Author: J. M. Farnsworth 


Figure 2 


Top of Figure 


 
 


Figure 2.  Distribution of AHR piping plover nest initiation dates (2001–2013) in relation to 


the annual hydrographs of the LPR (1954–2012), contemporary AHR (1954–2012) and 


historical AHR (1895–1938). 


  







17 
 


Lead Author: J. M. Farnsworth 


Figure 3 


Top of Figure 


 
 


Figure 3.  Comparison of contemporary Grand Island (06770500) and Kearney (06770200) 


stream gage stage-discharge relationships and HEC-RAS model stage-discharge 


relationships at river kilometer 515 and 595 in the AHR. All relationships were normalized 


to a stage of 0.0 m at 34 cms for comparison. The stage-discharge relationship at the Grand 


Island gage was within 0.09 m of the relationships at the nest locations throughout the 


discharge range and the shape of the curves was very similar. 


  







18 
 


Lead Author: J. M. Farnsworth 


Figure 4 


Top of Figure 


 
 


Figure 4.  Comparison of Louisville (06805500) and Ashland (06801000) stream gage stage-


discharge relationships and FEMA HEC-2 model stage-discharge relationships at Cedar 


Creek and Gun Club colony locations in the LPR. All relationships were normalized to a 


stage of 0.0 m at 113 cms for comparison. 


  







19 
 


 


Lead Author: J. M. Farnsworth 


Figure 5 


Top of Figure 


 
 


Figure 5.  Cumulative distribution of heights of sandbars formed during the 2010 natural 


high-flow event. 


 








1 
 


INTEGRATING SPECIES- AND GEOMORPHIC-CENTRIC VIEWS OF HABITAT: A 


CASE STUDY OF THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN INTERIOR LEAST TERN AND 


PIPING PLOVER NESTING INCIDENCE AND CHANNEL WIDTH 


 


J. M. FARNSWORTH*, D. BAASCH, and P. FARRELL 


 


Platte River Recovery Implementation Program, Kearney, NE 68845, USA 


 


 


ABSTRACT 


The endangered interior least tern (Sterna antillarum athalassos) and piping plover (Charadrius 


melodus) nest on emergent sandbars in several braided river segments in Nebraska, USA. Previous 


habitat selection and geomorphic investigations identified a relationship between channel width 


and nest incidence. Species-centric analyses indicated selection for the widest available channels. 


Geomorphic-centric analyses indicated the species occurred in narrow channels that better 


supported suitable sandbar habitat. We examined species use in relation to channel width metrics 


across segments of the Platte River, Niobrara River, and Loup River from both perspectives. We 


found the probability of nesting incidence increases with increasing maximum unvegetated 


channel width in all river segments. However, maximum unvegetated width decreases with 


increasing total channel width once total width exceeds 500 m as does the probability that a channel 


will be free of permanently-vegetated islands. Channels with total widths of 500 – 800 are both 


wide enough to have a high probability of nest incidence and narrow enough to be free of vegetated 


islands. Actions that affect channels <500 m and >800 m would likely have a small influence on 


species use. Actions that change the width characteristics of 500 – 800 m channels could have a 


strong negative or positive influence on species use. Integration of species- and geomorphic-


centric analyses provided a fuller picture of species-width relationships. 


 


SHORT TITLE: Least tern and piping plover nesting incidence and channel width 


 


KEY WORDS: channel width, interior least tern, piping plover, Platte River, Niobrara River, 


Loup River, nesting colony incidence, cross-disciplinary. 


 


 


INTRODUCTION 


 


The endangered interior least tern (Sterna antillarum athalassos; hereafter, least tern) and 


threatened piping plover (Charadrius melodus) nest on emergent sandbar habitat present in 


several braided river systems in Nebraska, USA including segments of the Platte, Niobrara, and 


                                                            
* * Correspondence to: J.M. Farnsworth, Headwaters Corporation, 4111 4th Ave., Suite 6. Kearney, NE 68845; E-


mail: farnsworthj@headwaterscorp.com; Telephone: 308-237-5728; Fax: 308-237-4651. 



mailto:farnsworthj@headwaterscorp.com





Loup Rivers (National Research Council 2005). Resource managers and conservationists have 


long been concerned about the impacts of basin water development on the habitats used by the 


species with much of the focus centered on the central and lower Platte River.  


The Platte River Recovery Implementation Program (Program) invested substantial 


resources in observational studies of sandbar dynamics and evaluating sandbar height in relation 


to peak flow stage and the probability of sandbar inundation during the species’ nesting seasons. 


This led to stakeholder concerns that too much emphasis was being placed on sandbar height 


when previous analyses identified channel width as an important variable for determining least 


tern and piping plover nest initiation in the Platte River system (Ziewitz et al. 1992, Elliott 2011 


and Jorgensen et al. 2012). Program stakeholders hypothesized channel width was the primary 


driver for selection of on-channel habitat with the species initiating nests on the available 


sandbar habitat that occurred within suitably-wide channel segments.  


Ziewitz et al. (1992) performed a habitat selection analysis for 40 nest sites that defined 


average channel width as the area of a 402 m long channel segment, free of permanent 


vegetation, divided by the length of the segment (Figure 1). Ziewitz et al. (1992) found average 


channel width, as defined, at central Platte River (CPR; n=6) and lower Platte River (LPR; n=34) 


nest sites was significantly greater than mean width at systematic samples of available sites 


(CPR: 295 m vs. 201 m; LPR: 519 m vs. 430 m).  


Elliott (2011) performed a geomorphic classification of the lower segment of the Platte 


River below the Loup River confluence and evaluated species nest occurrence in relation to 


geomorphic groupings. They defined total channel width as the distance between left and right 


channel banks including permanently vegetated islands (Figure 1). Elliott (2011) found least tern 


and piping plover nest sites (n=265) occurred disproportionally in narrower reaches of the LPR 


without permanently vegetated islands in 2006‒2008. Their results lead to the conclusion narrow 


channels, under 2006 flow regimes, provide ample sediment transport capacity for sandbar 


maintenance and likely furnished the most opportunity for providing least tern and piping plover 


habitat in the LPR (Elliott 2011).  


Jorgensen et al. (2012) also investigated the relationship between channel width and nest 


site incidence in the LPR using a transect-based logistic regression approach. They defined channel 


width as the distance between left and right channel banks, but treated channel segments split by 


vegetated islands as separate channels (Figure 1). For example, a 365 m channel split in the middle 


by a 65 m wide vegetated mid-channel island would be treated as two 150 m channels. They found 


a strong relationship between nesting incidence (n=64) and channel width. The modeled 


probability of presence of nesting sites was low (<0.03) when channel widths were ≤327 m and 


increased sharply as channel width increased with 610 m wide channels having the highest 


probability of nesting (>0.80).  


Each of these investigations had unique objectives and employed different definitions of 


channel width, which in turn influenced the authors’ interpretations of the relationships between 


species’ use and channel width. The two bird-centric or bird-focused habitat selection analyses 


(Ziewitz et al. 1992, Jorgensen et al. 2012) concluded the species use the widest channels, 







indicating actions that reduce width would reduce habitat suitability. The geomorphology-focused 


analysis (Elliot 2011) concluded narrower channels with less potential for occurrence of 


permanently vegetated islands supported the conditions needed for species nesting. Taken 


independently, these analyses could lead to very different interpretations of the channel width 


characteristics that support least tern and piping plover nesting. 


In this investigation, we endeavored to reconcile the bird- and geomorphic-centric views 


of species-width relationships to help inform management decisions that may affect channel 


widths in the braided river segments used by the species.  Our primary objectives were: 1) evaluate 


least tern and piping plover nest site selection in relation to total channel width and maximum 


unvegetated channel width; and 2) evaluate the relationship between total channel width and 


maximum unvegetated channel width across segments of the Platte, Niobrara, and Loup Rivers 


that are used by the species. The analyses were conducted with the clear understanding the species 


also select nest sites based on non-width related metrics including the presence of emergent 


sandbar habitat. As such, our results are contingent on the understanding that suitable width may 


be a necessary but insufficient condition for least tern and piping plover nest initiation.  


 


METHODS 


 


Study Areas 


The four study areas included river segments from three regional river systems in Nebraska 


that have been utilized by least tern and piping plover for nesting (Figure 2). The 166 km lower 


Platte River (LPR) study area extended from the confluence of the Loup River downstream to the 


Missouri River confluence. The 64 km Niobrara River study area extended from State Highway 


137 downstream to the Spencer Hydropower plant. The 116 km Loup River study area extended 


from the confluence of the Middle and North Loup Rivers downstream to the confluence with the 


Platte River at Columbus. The AHR of the central Platte River (CPR) study area included a 145 


km reach extending from Lexington, NE downstream to Chapman, NE, USA.  The CPR study area 


was excluded from the analysis of the relationship between channel width and nest incidence 


because species use sites were confined to mechanically-created habitats in three short river 


segments. However, all four study areas were included in our efforts to establish a relationship 


between total channel width and maximum unvegetated channel width. 


 


Nest Data 


Least tern and piping plover nest data was obtained from several sources. Nest and colony 


locations (hereafter, “use sites”) were generally reported to the nearest 161 m in the LPR, Niobrara 


and Loup study areas. As such, our analyses were performed at a colony scale such that all nests 


on each island were treated as a colony and the colony location was assumed to be a single point 


on the island. Use sites within the LPR study area for the period of 2008–2013 were obtained from 


joint annual reports produced by the Tern and Plover Conservation Partnership and Nongame Bird 


Program of the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission (Brown and Jorgensen 2008, 2009, 2010; 







Brown et al. 2011, 2012, 2013). Use sites from the Niobrara study area were provided for the 


period of 2005–2013 by Jim Jenniges, biologist with Nebraska Public Power District (personal 


communication, 2014). Use sites for the Loup River study area for the period of 2010–2012 were 


obtained from USFWS reports (Lackey and Runge 2010; Lackey 2011, 2012). 


 


Aerial Imagery 


Channel width measures for the LPR, Niobrara and Loup River study areas were estimated 


from aerial imagery collected by the Farm Service Agency (FSA) National Aerial Imagery 


Program (NAIP). Imagery was gathered during the months of June and July and provided data 


coverage for all study areas. NAIP imagery was not collected annually, however, which resulted 


in the occasional need to use one imagery dataset for two analysis years. We deemed this 


acceptable given there is little change in the area or distribution of permanently vegetated islands 


between years (Jorgensen et al. 2012). Channel width metrics within the CPR study area were 


measured using aerial imagery collected under the Program’s remote sensing data collection 


protocol (Program 2011).   


 


Channel Width Measurements 


Channel widths were measured using ESRI ArcMAP geographic information system (GIS) 


software. Measurements at systematic locations were made perpendicular to the direction of flow 


at approximately 305 m intervals for each year (hereafter referred to as “available sites”). Channel 


width measurements were also developed at each species use site in the LPR, Niobrara and Loup 


study areas. Two width measurements were recorded at each use and available site including 1) 


total channel width and 2) maximum unvegetated channel width (Figure 3). Total channel width 


was defined as the total distance from apparent left bank to apparent right bank and included 


permanently vegetated islands which was consistent with the total channel width definition used 


by Elliott (2011). Maximum unvegetated channel width at available sites was calculated as the 


longest contiguous unvegetated channel width from apparent left bank to apparent right bank. This 


was similar to the Jorgensen et al. (2012) definition of active channel width, except that the shorter 


unvegetated channel width segments along individual transects were not included as additional 


independent transects in our analyses. Maximum unvegetated channel width at use sites was 


calculated as the contiguous unvegetated channel width at the nesting colony location.  


Approximately 40% of the central Platte River study area has river channels that are split 


by up to 2 km wide and 10 km long permanent islands resulting in a main and one or more side 


channels. Similar conditions do not occurr in our other three study areas. As such, in reaches where 


the channel was split by these large permanent islands channel width measurements at available 


sites within the CPR study area were limited to the main channel. 


 


Data assimilation and processing 


A single data set was created by combining channel width measurements at use and 


available sites. A value of zero (0) was assigned to each available site measurement, and a value 







of one (1) was assigned to each use site measurement. The river study area associated with each 


use and available site was also included in order to identify the river system where the 


measurements were taken. A covariate called “channel break” was created and was assigned a 


value of one (1) if the maximum unvegetated channel width was <95% of the total channel width 


and zero (0) if the maximum unvegetated channel width was ≥95% of the total channel width. This 


covariate was used as an indicator of whether or not the channel was free of permanently vegetated 


mid-channel islands. Finally, the assimilated data was split into training and test datasets where 


approximately 50% of the data was randomly assigned to the training dataset and 50% to the test 


dataset. 


 


Relationship between nest incidence and channel width  


Logistic regression was used to analyze the relationship between nest incidence and 


channel width metrics. Twelve models including most subsets of main and interaction effects of 


study area (LPR, Niobrara River and Loup River), total channel width, maximum unvegetated 


channel width, and channel break were evaluated to determine their usefulness for predicting 


probability of nesting incidence across study areas (Table 1). The logistic regression models were 


fit to the training data set with the probability of nesting incidence for each observation in the test 


data set predicted using the models. The predicted probability of nesting and the test data set were 


used to calculate predictive deviance (i.e., ‒2 times the predictive log-likelihood) and the model 


with the lowest predictive deviance was selected as the best model.  


 


Relationship between channel width metrics 


The relationship between total and maximum unvegetated channel width was evaluated 


using generalized additive models (GAM) assuming a Gaussian (normal) response and a 


smoothing spline (Hastie and Tibshirani 1990). GAMs are a type of regression model which allow 


for nonlinear relationships between the response variable (maximum unvegetated channel width) 


and a covariate (total channel width). GAMs use a series of polynomials to approximate unknown 


functional relationships, which made them particularly useful in this case given the theoretical 


relationship between the variables was unknown. Although GAMs can be used to model nonlinear 


relationships when the functional form of the relationship is unknown, particular care needs to be 


taken so the model does not over fit the data. To ensure over fitting did not occur, the target 


equivalent degrees of freedom for the smoothing spline were varied in integer values from 1 to 5. 


An additive and interaction effect of river segment (LPR, Niobrara, Loup and CPR) were included 


to test for different relationships between river systems. This resulted in 16 models to fit using 


training data. To select the best model, the mean square error was calculated for test data and the 


model that minimized this value was chosen (Hastie et al. 2009). 


Logistic regression was also used to evaluate the relationship between total channel width 


and channel consolidation, where consolidation refers to channels free of permanently vegetated 


islands. A single model that included total channel width and river system as an additive and 


interaction effect was tested. All analyses were conducted in Program R 3.2.4 (R Core Team, 







Vienna, Austria). Plots of predicted relationships obtained with testing data were developed and 


presented for the best nest incidence and channel width relationship models as well as for the single 


logistic model.  


 


RESULTS 


 


Relationship between nest incidence and channel width 


A total of 73, 78, and 16 use sites were reported in the LPR, Niobrara, and Loup River 


study areas, respectively. Median total channel width at use sites across all river segments was 485 


m and median maximum unvegetated channel width was 434 m (Table 2). Ninety percent of use 


sites occurred in channels with total widths exceeding 352 m and maximum unvegetated channel 


widths exceeding 265 m. Channel width measures were generally greater at use sites than available 


sites.  


The logistic regression model with the highest predictive ability (i.e., lowest predictive 


deviance) contained the effects maximum unvegetated channel width, channel break, river system, 


and an interaction between maximum unvegetated channel width and channel break (Table 1). We 


found probability of nesting increased rapidly once maximum unvegetated channel width reached 


approximately 500 m for consolidated channels, regardless of river system (Figure 4). In 


unconsolidated channels, the probability of nesting also increased with increasing maximum 


unvegetated channel width, but not as rapidly. The Niobrara River had the highest likelihood of 


use of any study area with probability of use maximized when total channel width and maximum 


unvegetated channel width were approximately 780 m. Utilizing the predictive model built using 


data collected on the lower Platte, Niobrara, and Loup River systems, we found the CPR study 


area was predicted to have a very low probability of nesting which was similar to the Loup River. 


 


Relationship between channel width metrics 


The modeled relationship between total channel width and maximum unvegetated channel 


width was similar for all study areas. Our model predicted maximum unvegetated channel width 


would increase until total channel width exceeded approximately 500 m (Table 3; Figure 5). In 


channels wider than 500 m, maximum unvegetated channel width decreased in spite of increasing 


total channel width due to the increasing occurrence of vegetated islands in wider channels. 


However, the underlying data was highly variable as segments of the LPR channels as narrow as 


335 m contained vegetated islands and channels as wide as 700 meters were found to be fully 


consolidated (Figure 5). The width relationship and underlying data in the Niobrara study area was 


very similar to the lower Platte River. The general relationships for the Loup and CPR study areas 


were also similar, but overall widths were narrower with few consolidated channels occurring 


when total channel width exceeded 350 m.  


 The relationship between total channel width and probability of channel consolidation 


(i.e., free of vegetated islands) indicates a decreasing probability of consolidation with increasing 


total channel width (Figure 6). We estimate there is a 50% probability of consolidation when 







total channel width exceeded 560 m in the LPR study area, 480 m in the Niobrara River study 


area, 360 m in the Loup River study area, and only 100 m in the CPR study area. 


 


DISCUSSION 


 


Jorgensen et al. (2012) found probability of least tern and piping plover nesting incidence 


on the LPR increased sharply with unvegetated channel width and that both species appeared to 


avoid anabranch (side) channels. Similarly, we found probability of nesting incidence increased 


with increasing maximum unvegetated channel width and the widest channels free of vegetated 


islands had the highest probability of use in all study areas (Figure 4).  


Elliott (2011) on the other hand included vegetated islands in channel width calculations 


and concluded narrower channels, with less potential for occurrence of vegetated islands, were 


more suitable for nesting. This conclusion is supported by the relationship between total and 


maximum unvegetated channel widths indicating declining maximum unvegetated channel widths 


(and associated probability of nest incidence) when total width exceeds approximately 500 m 


(Figure 5). It is also supported by the logistic regression analysis which indicated a decreasing 


probability of the channel being free of vegetated islands with increasing total channel width 


(Figure 6).  


When interpreted together, the bird- and geomorphology-centric relationships indicate the 


widest channels free of permanently vegetated islands are critical from a species use perspective. 


Comparatively narrow segments like the central Platte River and Loup River may be width-limited 


regardless of the presence of sandbar habitat. In the wider lower Platte and Niobrara River 


segments, there is a tradeoff between increasing probability of use and decreasing probability of 


consolidation with increasing total channel width. Consolidated channels with total widths of 500 


– 800 m are relatively rare, but have the highest probability of use. Actions reducing width in these 


locations would have the greatest negative impact on least tern and piping plover use. Conversely, 


actions in the widest channels would likely have little impact on use as such channels cannot be 


maintained free of vegetated islands through natural processes. If management actions are 


contemplated to increase species use, removal of permanently vegetated islands in 500 – 800 m 


channels could greatly improve probability of use. However, there would be a tradeoff between 


increasing probability of use and a decreasing probability the channel will remain free of vegetated 


islands. Further exploration of differences in physical characteristics of consolidated and 


unconsolidated channels of similar widths would be beneficial. 


Natural resource professionals tend to gravitate toward either a species- or geomorphic-


centric viewpoint depending on their background and training. Both viewpoints are necessary, but 


taken independently (as in this case) can lead to a limited view of the implications of actions that 


affect the physical environments used by at-risk species. We encourage natural resource 


professionals to embrace cross-disciplinary research and training in order to build a more 


comprehensive understanding of at-risk species use of important habitats and to make this 


understanding more useful for management and decision making purposes.     







 


ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 


We would like to thank Staci Cahis of Headwaters Corporation and all members of the Platte 


River Recovery Implementation Program’s Independent Science Advisory Committee and 


Technical Advisory Committee for their helpful and insightful comments. The Platte River 


Recovery Implementation Program provided support for this project.  


 


 


REFERENCES 


 


Baasch DM. 2014. Platte River Recovery Implementation Program: 2012–2013 interior least tern 


and piping plover monitoring and research report for the central Platte River, Nebraska. 


Available at: https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/ProgramLibrary/PRRIP% 


202014_LTPP%20Monitoring%20and%20Research%20Report%20for%202012-2013.pdf 


(accessed February 25, 2016). 


Brown MB, Jorgensen JG. 2008. Interior Least Tern and Piping Plover monitoring, research, 


management, and outreach report for the lower Platte River, Nebraska. Joint report of the 


Tern and Plover Conservation Partnership and the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission 


(2008).  


Brown MB, Jorgensen JG. 2009. Interior Least Tern and Piping Plover monitoring, research, 


management, and outreach report for the lower Platte River, Nebraska. Joint report of the 


Tern and Plover Conservation Partnership and the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission 


(2009).  


Brown MB, Jorgensen JG. 2010. Interior Least Tern and Piping Plover monitoring, research, 


management, and outreach report for the lower Platte River, Nebraska. Joint Report of the 


Tern and Plover Conservation Partnership and the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission 


(2010).  


Brown MB, Jorgensen JG, Dinan LR. 2011. Interior Least Tern and Piping Plover monitoring, 


research, management, and outreach report for the lower Platte River, Nebraska. Joint Report 


of the Tern and Plover Conservation Partnership and the Nebraska Game and Parks 


Commission (2011). 


Brown MB, Jorgensen JG, Dinan LR. 2012. Interior Least Tern and Piping Plover monitoring, 


research, management, and outreach report for the lower Platte River, Nebraska. Joint Report 


of the Tern and Plover Conservation Partnership and the Nebraska Game and Parks 


Commission (2012). 


Brown MB, Jorgensen JG, Dinan LR. 2013. Interior Least Tern and Piping Plover monitoring, 


research, management, and outreach report for the lower Platte River, Nebraska. Joint Report 


of the Tern and Plover Conservation Partnership and the Nebraska Game and Parks 


Commission (2013). 



https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/ProgramLibrary/PRRIP%202014_LTPP%20Monitoring%20and%20Research%20Report%20for%202012-2013.pdf

https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/ProgramLibrary/PRRIP%202014_LTPP%20Monitoring%20and%20Research%20Report%20for%202012-2013.pdf





Department of the Interior. 2006. Platte River Recovery Implementation Program Final 


Environmental Impact Statement. [Denver, Colo.] Bureau of Reclamation and Fish and 


Wildlife Service.  


Elliott CM. 2011. Geomorphic classification and evaluation of channel width and emergent 


sandbar habitat relations on the Lower Platte River, Nebraska: U.S. Geological Survey 


Scientific Investigations Report 2011–5028, 22 p. 


Freeman DM. 2012. Implementing the Endangered Species Act on the Platte Basin Water 


Commons. University Press: Colorado.  


Hastie TJ, Tibshirani RJ. 1990. Generalized additive models (Vol. 43). CRC Press: New York. 


Hastie TJ, Tibshirani RJ, Friedman JI. 2009. The elements of statistical learning: data mining, 


inference, and prediction 2 edition. Springer: New York.  


Jorgensen JG, Brown MB, Tyre AJ. 2012. Channel width and Least Tern and piping plover 


nesting incidence on the lower Platte River, Nebraska. Great Plains Res, 22 : 59–67. 


Lackey J, Runge J. 2010. Loup and Middle Loup River Interior Least Tern and Piping Plover 


Monitoring Report. Prepared by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 


Lackey J. 2011. Least Tern and Piping Plover Survey Report. Prepared by the U.S. Fish and 


Wildlife Service. 


Lackey J. 2012. Interior Least Tern and Piping Plover Survey Report Loup River, Nebraska 


2012. Prepared by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 


National Research Council. 2005. Endangered and threatened species of the Platte River. 


Washington, D.C.: National Academic Press. 


Platte River Recovery Implementation Program (Program). 2011. Platte River Recovery 


Implementation Program technical specifications: Annual LiDAR and aerial photography. 


Executive Director’s Office of the Platte River Recovery Implementation Program. Available 


at: https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/Pages/ProgramLibrary.aspx 


U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service [USFWS]. 2006. Biological Opinion on the Platte River 


Recovery Implementation Program.  


Ziewitz JW, Sidle JG, Dinan JJ. 1992. Habitat conservation for nesting least terns and piping 


plovers on the Platte River, Nebraska. Prairie Naturalist 24 : 1–20.  



https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/ProgramLibrary/TC-R190%20PRRIP%20FEIS%20Volume%201.pdf

https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/Pages/ProgramLibrary.aspx





Table 1. A priori set of models used to evaluate in-channel nesting incidence in the lower 


Platte, Niobrara, and Loup River study areas as ranked by a predicted deviance statistic.  


 


Table 2. Total channel width (m) and maximum unvegetated channel width (m) at 


systematic available sites and use sites. 


TOTAL CHANNEL WIDTH 


 10th Percentile Median 90th Percentile 


Study Area Available Use Available Use Available Use 


Lower Platte  347 415 513 536 789 664 


Niobrara 247 390 415 481 602 702 


Loup  136 159 227 264 389 428 


All Study Areas 200 352 416 485 671 668 


MAXIMUM UNVEGETATED CHANNEL WIDTH 


 10th Percentile Median 90th Percentile 


Study Area Available Use Available Use Available Use 


Lower Platte  269 337 403 496 548 608 


Niobrara  158 318 323 431 473 549 


Loup  120 136 201 181 318 329 


All Study Areas 156 265 325 434 495 588 


 


  


Model Deviance AIC 


Channel Break * Max Unvegetated Channel Width + River System 738.22 630.69 


Channel Break + Max  Unvegetated Channel Width + River System 739.05 634.02 


Channel Break * Max  Unvegetated Channel Width 742.89 628.01 


Max  Unvegetated Channel Width 743.87 630.42 


Channel Break + Max  Unvegetated Channel Width 743.95 631.58 


Channel Break * Total Width 745.57 629.61 


Channel Break * Total Width + River System 745.76 633.60 


Channel Break + Total Width 766.66 671.37 


Channel Break + Total Width + River System 767.26 673.78 


Total Width 774.15 678.70 


Channel Break 775.87 685.74 


Null  777.25 684.71 







Table 3. Top models for analysis of the relationship between total channel width and 


maximum unvegetated channel width in the lower Platte, Niobrara, Loup and central 


Platte study areas, ranked by mean square error (MSE) of predicted relationships.  


 


 


  


Covariates MSE AIC 


Total Width(df=5) * River System 7396.21 59358.83 


Total Width(df=4) * River System 7424.42 59379.96 


Total Width(df=3) * River System 7482.41 59432.75 


Total Width(df=2) * River System 7812.20 59691.94 


Total Width(df=1) * River System 9011.80 60444.38 


Total Width(df=5) + River System 7937.66 59801.57 


Total Width(df=4) + River System 7968.67 59821.93 


Total Width(df=3) + River System 8021.78 59856.94 


Total Width(df=2) + River System 8231.21 59996.69 


Total Width(df=1) + River System 9339.30 60632.52 


Total Width(df=5) 14899.60 62721.98 


Total Width(df=4) 14970.44 62744.86 


Total Width(df=3) 15127.98 62795.31 


Total Width(df=2) 15658.53 62969.09 


Total Width(df=1) 18490.09 63795.39 







Lead Author: J. M. Farnsworth 


Figure 1 


Top of Figure 


 
 


Figure 1. Examples of different in-channel width measurements. The channel width in the 


example ranged from 116 m (Jorgensen et al. 2012 definition) to 588 m (Elliot 2011 


definition). 


  







Lead Author: J. M. Farnsworth 


Figure 2 


Top of Figure 


 


 


Figure 2. Niobrara River, Loup River, lower Platte River, and central Platte River study 


areas. 


  







Lead Author: J. M. Farnsworth 


Figure 3 


Top of Figure 


 


 


Figure 3. Total channel width and maximum unvegetated channel width metric 


measurement example. 


 


  







Lead Author: J. M. Farnsworth 


Figure 4 


Top of Figure 


 


 


Figure 4.  Predicted probability of use for consolidated (red) and unconsolidated channels 


(black) for the lower Platte (upper left), Niobrara (upper right), and Loup (lower left) 


segments from our best model. Predicted probability of nesting incidence is only plotted 


over the range of total channel widths observed within each river system. Open circle 


points show total channel widths for use sites (Red) and available (Black) sites. Predicted 


probability of use was plotted for the central Platte segment area (lower right) but data 


from the central Platte were not used to estimate model parameters. 


  







Lead Author: J. M. Farnsworth 


Figure 5 


Top of Figure 


 


 


 


Figure 5. Relationship between total channel width and maximum unvegetated channel 


width for all study segments. 


 


  







Lead Author: J. M. Farnsworth 


Figure 6 


Top of Figure 


 


 
 


Figure 6. Relationship between total channel width and probability that channel will be 


free of vegetated islands (consolidated) for all study segments. 


 








PRRIP Forage Fish Manuscript  Page 1 of 13 
 


Interior Least Tern Productivity in Relation to Flow in the Central Platte River Valley 1 


David M. Baasch, Patrick D. Farrell, Jason M. Farnsworth, Chadwin B. Smith 2 


Executive Director’s Office for the Platte River Recovery Implementation Program 3 


4111 4th Avenue 4 


Kearney, NE, 68845 5 


 6 


Abstract 7 


Implementation of the Platte River Recovery Implementation Program’s (Program) adaptive 8 


management plan (AMP) has proceeded with the understanding that management uncertainties, expressed 9 


as hypotheses, encompass complex physical and ecological responses. Adaptive management in the Platte 10 


River ecosystem relies on a combination of monitoring of physical and biological responses to 11 


management treatments, predictive modeling, and retrospective analyses. Given the abundance and 12 


diversity of fish occurring in streams decreases with groundwater extractions and flow alterations, we 13 


used existing interior least tern productivity data and flow data collected on the central Platte River in 14 


retrospective analyses to assess the influence of forage fish availability during the brood rearing season on 15 


interior least tern productivity. We found low flows during the least tern brood rearing season do not 16 


negatively affect interior least tern productivity. As such, we used this indirect line of evidence to build 17 


empirical support to assess the forage fish-related hypotheses in the Program’s AMP and concluded 18 


forage fish abundance does not limit interior least tern productivity on the central Platte River.  19 


Key Words: central Platte River, forage fish, interior least tern, Platte River Recovery Implementation 20 


Program, productivity. 21 


Introduction 22 


The Platte River Recovery Implementation Program (Program) is responsible for implementing 23 


certain aspects of the endangered interior least tern (Sterna antillarum athalassos; hereafter, least tern) 24 


recovery plan in the Associated Habitat Reach (AHR) of the Platte River in central Nebraska. One of the 25 


Program’s management objectives is to increase least tern productivity within the AHR. Uncertainty related 26 


to the relationship between least tern productivity, prey (forage fish) availability, and river flow is captured 27 


in several priority hypotheses in the Program’s Adaptive Management Plan (AMP; Program 2006). To date, 28 







PRRIP Forage Fish Manuscript  Page 2 of 13 
 


these hypotheses have served as guidance for the Program to investigate the implications of low flow in the 29 


central Platte River during summer on the abundance of small fish for least terns and any resulting impact 30 


on least tern productivity. However, no studies have been conducted to date and thus no data exists that 31 


would suggest the fish community within the AHR limits least tern productivity (USFWSa, USFWSb).  32 


Within the Great Plains, abundance and diversity of fish occurring in streams has been shown to 33 


decrease with groundwater extractions and flow alterations, especially when desiccation events occur and 34 


water temperature rises due to prolonged periods of low flow adversely affect the fish community 35 


(Marchetti and Moyle 2001, Falk et al. 2010, Kiernan et al. 2012, Perkin et al. 2014). It is hypothesized 36 


that low flows during the nesting season limit prey fish populations, which in turn limits least tern 37 


productivity (Figure 1; Wilson et al. 1993, National Research Council 2004, Department of the Interior et 38 


al. 2006, Jenniges and Plettner 2008). The Program’s Biological Opinion indicates the Program will 39 


investigate whether or not the fish community within the AHR provides an adequate forage base for least 40 


terns (USFWS 2006). 41 


 42 


Figure 1. Hypothesized relationships between forage fish abundance and least tern productivity (Priority 43 


Hypothesis T2).  44 







PRRIP Forage Fish Manuscript  Page 3 of 13 
 


 Ideally the preferred condition would have been for the Program to develop and implement a 45 


targeted research project or conservation monitoring protocol designed to specifically address 46 


management objectives and forage-based a priori hypotheses (Nichols and Williams 2006) to test if 47 


forage availability limits least tern productivity more below 800 cfs than above. Such a study would 48 


require extensive fish sampling and handling and weighing least tern chicks on a regular basis. To date, 49 


the monetary cost and potential for negative impacts to both least terns and the fish community have not 50 


been justified given the paucity of information indicating abundance of appropriate sized forage fish in 51 


the Platte River or any riverine system limit least tern productivity (Chadwick 1997). Furthermore, the 52 


Program has a limited ability to manage flows in the river and would have great difficulty showing a 53 


causative relationship between a decrease in the abundance and diversity of the fish community 54 


associated with reductions in flow and least tern productivity. Therefore, in the spirit of Platt’s “strong 55 


inference” (Platt 1964), which has been used by the Program with other questions related to the 56 


application of management actions and species response, a more systematic approach was used. 57 


The Program strives to use all available data in a credible manner to inform Program decision 58 


making. Analyses of available forage fish data, discharge records, and data on least tern productivity and 59 


behavior on the central Platte River proved to be uninformative and suggested a retrospective analysis 60 


might provide insight on certain Program hypotheses. Retrospective analyses can be useful as a 61 


“compromise” between expedience and rigor when attempting to develop useful information for decision 62 


making (Smith 1998). The objective of this study was to utilize existing data to investigate if the fish 63 


community during the nesting and brood rearing season was adequate to support least tern productivity 64 


within the AHR. Program priority hypothesis T2 is a syllogism between flow, forage fish availability and 65 


least tern productivity. As such, it was hypothesized that decreases in flow, a proxy for forage fish 66 


availability, would influence productivity of least terns within the AHR. We used this deductive reasoning 67 


to build empirical support to assess the forage fish related hypothesis T2 in the Program’s AMP.  68 







PRRIP Forage Fish Manuscript  Page 4 of 13 
 


Methods 69 


Study Area 70 


The Program surveys an 1,815 km2 area between Lexington and Chapman, Nebraska USA 71 


(hereafter, AHR) for least tern nesting and foraging activity on an annual basis. Least tern nesting and 72 


foraging habitat surveyed within the AHR includes a 145 km reach of the central Platte River and off-73 


channel habitat (sand and gravel mines) within approximately 4.8 km of the river (Figure 2). 74 


Flow measurements 75 


We obtained mean daily flow (m3s-1; henceforth, cms) records from United States Geological 76 


Survey (USGS) gaging stations on the Platte River near the cities of Overton (06768000), Kearney 77 


(06770200) and Grand Island, Nebraska (06770500), 2001–2014. The gage closest to the geographic 78 


location of each brood was identified. The flow records were used to calculate minimum and average 79 


mean flow for the 7, 14, and 21 days prior to the day when each brood’s fate was determined.  80 


 81 


Figure 2. Study area (AHR) showing least tern and piping plover productivity data collection sites and 82 


locations of USGS gaging stations used in the analyses.  83 







PRRIP Forage Fish Manuscript  Page 5 of 13 
 


Least tern productivity model 84 


 Given we expected the probability of fledging to be related to flow, we used logistic regression 85 


models to relate flow to least tern productivity. An assumption of our logistic regression model was the 86 


proportion of fledglings from each brood (𝑏𝑘) followed a binomial distribution: 87 


𝑏𝑘~𝐵𝑖𝑛𝑜𝑚𝑖𝑎𝑙 (𝐶𝑘 , 𝜂𝑘), 88 


where 𝐶𝑘 is the number of chicks hatched from each nest, 𝜂𝑘 is the probability a chick fledged from the 89 


kth brood (k=1,2,…,457) and whether or not a chick fledged was treated as a binomial trial within each 90 


brood. Broods with an unknown fate and broods that failed due to known cause such as flooding, 91 


predation and adverse weather events were excluded from the analysis since these failures were not 92 


related to forage dynamics. Seven total models were tested in an attempt to establish a relationship 93 


between productivity and flow. We assumed the logit of 𝜂𝑘 depended on 𝑓𝑘, which was the minimum or 94 


average mean daily flow 7, 14, and 21 days prior to the date of fate determination: 95 


 logit(𝜂𝑘) = 𝛼1 + 𝛼2𝑓𝑘.  (2) 96 


We also included a model that did not include an influence of flow, which was: 97 


 logit(𝜂𝑘) = 𝛼1 (4) 98 


 We randomly split the data into a training set with 229 observations and test set with 228 99 


observations. We used a generalized linear model and maximum likelihood to obtain parameter estimates 100 


using the training data set (Stroup 2012). We calculated the predictive deviance (i.e., ‒2 times the 101 


predictive log likelihood) using the test data. Predictive deviance is a measure of the models predictive 102 


ability and has a similar interpretation as Akaike information criterion (AIC; Burnham & Anderson 2002; 103 


Hooten & Hobbs 2015). We also calculated and reported AIC scores for comparison. 104 


Results 105 


 We observed 977 least tern nests from 2001–2014, of which 546 nests successfully hatched ≥1 106 


chick. Eighty-nine broods failed due to known causes not attributed to forage dynamics. The remaining 107 


457 broods either fledged (n=416) or failed due to unknown causes (n=41). Only the 41 broods that failed 108 







PRRIP Forage Fish Manuscript  Page 6 of 13 
 


to unknown causes were identified as possible forage related failures. Those 457 broods produced 1040 109 


chicks and 830 fledglings (Table 1). Of these broods, 79% had fates determined when the flow was 110 


≤22.65 cms (800 ft3s-1; cfs) which resulted in 78% of the fledglings observed. During the least tern nesting 111 


and brood rearing period, which begins in late May and extends through August, flows were below 22.65 112 


cms in approximately 75% of years and approached 0 cms in 25% of years, 2001–2014 (Figure 3). 113 


Overall, 79% of broods included in our analyses were exposed to river discharges below 22.65 cms within 114 


7 days of brood fate determination and 50% of nests were exposed to discharges below 5.80 cms (Figure 115 


4). Discharge during the median nest initiation period only exceeded 22.65 cms in four out of 14 years. 116 


There were no apparent differences in fledge ratios when median discharge was less than 22.65 cms 117 


(Figure 5) and the fledge ratio exceeded the proposed fledge ratio target of 0.70 in all four years. During 118 


the study period, the annual least tern fledge ratio (fledglings/breeding pair, Baasch et al. 2015) ranged 119 


from a low of 0.75 (2006) to a high of 1.83 (2001) and averaged 1.19 (Table 2).  120 


Table 1. Proportion of chicks fledged from all broods observed, 2001–2014. 121 


Proportion of Chicks Fledged Number of Broods Percent of Broods 


0.00 41 9.0% 


0.33 20 4.4% 


0.50 38 8.3% 


0.67 54 11.8% 


0.75 1 0.2% 


1.00 303 66.3% 


 122 







PRRIP Forage Fish Manuscript  Page 7 of 13 
 


 123 


Figure 3. Annual hydrograph at USGS Grand Island stream gage 06770500 in relation to the 22.65 cms 124 


discharge (horizontal grey line) hypothesized to limit tern productivity, 2001–2014. 125 


 126 


 127 


Figure 4. Distribution of 7-day minimum river discharge experienced by broods in relation to 22.65 cms 128 


discharge (dashed line) hypothesized to limit tern productivity, 2001–2014. 129 


0


10


20


30


40


50


60


1-Jan 1-Feb 1-Mar 1-Apr 1-May 1-Jun 1-Jul 1-Aug 1-Sep 1-Oct 1-Nov 1-Dec


D
is


ch
ar


g
e 


(c
m


s)


Day


25th Percentile Median 75th Percentile


0%


10%


20%


30%


40%


50%


60%


70%


80%


90%


100%


0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160


P
er


ce
n


t 
o


f 
B


ro
o


d
s


7-Day Minimum Discharge (cms)







PRRIP Forage Fish Manuscript  Page 8 of 13 
 


 130 


 131 


Figure 5. Fledglings per breeding pair in relation to median discharge during the 2001–2014 nesting 132 


seasons including the Lutey (2002) fledge ratio objective (grey line) believed to be required to maintain a 133 


stable population and 22.65 cms discharge (black dashed line) hypothesized to limit tern productivity. 134 


Table 2. Annual least tern reproductive success within the AHR in relation to median discharge during 135 


the nesting season, 2001–2014. 136 


Year Fledglings 


Breeding 


Pair 


Fledglings/ 


Breeding 


Pair 


Median Discharge 


Nesting Season 


(cms) 


2001 42 23 1.83 17.3 


2002 59 41 1.44 2.5 


2003 57 54 1.06 1.3 


2004 60 45 1.33 0.3 


2005 62 49 1.27 5.2 


2006 27 36 0.75 0.6 


2007 40 44 0.91 35.4 


2008 44 40 1.10 31.4 


2009 46 46 1.00 13.0 


2010 64 51 1.25 71.1 


2011 89 62 1.44 181.8 


2012 84 66 1.27 1.1 


2013 64 63 1.02 4.1 


2014 91 98 0.93 17.1 


Average 59.2 51.3 1.19 27.3 


  137 


0.00


0.20


0.40


0.60


0.80


1.00


1.20


1.40


1.60


1.80


2.00


0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 180 200


F
le


d
g


li
n


g
s 


/ 
B


re
ed


in
g


 P
ai


r


Median Discharge During The Nesting Season (cms)







PRRIP Forage Fish Manuscript  Page 9 of 13 
 


Table 3. Model selection results for least tern brood survival as ranked by AIC and deviance.  138 


Covariates Deviance AIC 


Null 420.08 412.23 


7-Day Minimum Discharge 419.69 414.00 


14-Day Minimum Discharge 419.83 414.06 


21-Day Minimum Discharge  419.96 414.00 


7-Day Mean Discharge  419.98 414.00 


21-Day Mean Discharge  419.86 414.09 


14-Day Mean Discharge 420.13 414.20 


 139 


 140 


Figure 6. Predicted proportion of fledglings for each brood compared to flow metrics with 95% 141 


confidence intervals. The black plus signs (+) show the empirical probabilities of fledging for each brood 142 


(
𝑛𝑢𝑚𝑏𝑒𝑟 𝑜𝑓 𝑐ℎ𝑖𝑐𝑘𝑠 𝑓𝑙𝑒𝑑𝑔𝑒𝑑


𝑛𝑢𝑚𝑏𝑒𝑟 𝑜𝑓 𝑐ℎ𝑖𝑐𝑘𝑠 ℎ𝑎𝑡𝑐ℎ𝑒𝑑
). No flow metric resulted in better predictions of fledging success than the null 143 


model, which indicates fledging success is independent of all variables tested.  144 


0


0.2


0.4


0.6


0.8


1.0


1.2


0 50 100 150 200


P
ro


p
o


rt
io


n
 o


f 
C


h
ic


k
s 


F
le


d
g


ed


7 Day Minimum Discharge (cms) 


0


0.2


0.4


0.6


0.8


1


0 50 100 150 200


P
ro


p
o


rt
io


n
 o


f 
C


h
ic


k
s 


F
le


d
g


ed


14 Day Minimum Discharge (cms)


0


0.2


0.4


0.6


0.8


1


1.2


0 50 100 150 200


P
ro


p
o


rt
io


n
 o


f 
C


h
ic


k
s 


F
le


d
g


ed


21 Day Minimum Discharge (cms)


0


0.2


0.4


0.6


0.8


1


0 50 100 150 200


P
ro


p
o


rt
io


n
 o


f 
C


h
ic


k
s 


F
le


d
g


ed


Average 7 Day Discharge (cms)


0


0.2


0.4


0.6


0.8


1


1.2


0 50 100 150 200


P
ro


p
p


rt
io


n
 o


f 
C


h
ic


k
s 


F
le


d
g


ed


Average 14 Day Discharge (cms)


0


0.2


0.4


0.6


0.8


1


1.2


0 50 100 150 200


P
ro


p
o


rt
io


n
 o


f 
C


h
ic


k
s 


F
le


d
g


ed


Average 21 Day Discharge (cms)







PRRIP Forage Fish Manuscript  Page 10 of 13 
 


Discussion  145 


Results of our analyses suggest low flows during the least tern nesting and brood rearing season 146 


do not negatively affect productivity, and thus by extension suggest the further conclusion that the fish 147 


community is adequate and is not a limiting factor for least tern productivity on the central Platte River. 148 


Furthermore, least terns have been observed foraging much further from their nesting area than previously 149 


documented, making more forage available to them without any detectible decline in reproductively 150 


(Program 2006a, Sherfy et al. 2012). Though indirect, these conclusions are based on critical evaluations 151 


of existing data through the lens of Program hypotheses and questions related to least tern reproductive 152 


response to management actions. These conclusions are also made in the context of a North American 153 


resource management program that incorporates decision making influenced by scientific information, but 154 


also by budget, policy, and the constraints of the central Platte River as a social-ecological system.  155 


  In any adaptive management program information needs must be evaluated for their importance, 156 


assessed for potential negative impacts to the resources of concern, and prioritized by the monetary 157 


requirements needed to obtain such information. Our results reflect learning, an important aspect of 158 


adaptive management, and the use of retrospective analyses in the application of adaptive management 159 


(Smith 1998). This may be a passive approach to adaptive management at best, but the information is 160 


credible and provides an updated understanding important for Program decision making (Walters and 161 


Holling 1990). Results of our study indicate additional research or targeted monitoring are unlikely to 162 


improve the understanding of the relationships between the fish community and least tern productivity to 163 


a great degree and will serve only as a “delaying tactic” in a search for scientific consensus that may not 164 


be achievable (Ludwig et al. 1993). Results of our retrospective analysis pass the test of “management 165 


relevance” (Westgate et al. 2013) and should be used by the Program to adjust management actions 166 


accordingly. Such analyses and uses of existing data provide an example of hierarchal methodology 167 


useful to other species and/or ecosystem recovery programs when faced with a complicated question. In 168 


our case, a very complex hypothesis involving flow, the fish community and least tern productivity was 169 


more easily addressed by evaluating the relationship between flow and least tern productivity within the 170 







PRRIP Forage Fish Manuscript  Page 11 of 13 
 


AHR. As with any syllogism, the formal argument in logic is formed by two statements and a conclusion 171 


which must be true if the two statements are true. However, if the conclusion is found to be false, one or 172 


both of the syllogistic statements will be equally false. Had we found the conclusion we investigated to be 173 


true, the Program would have accepted the hypothesis T2 to be true or further investigation as to the 174 


causal effects would have been warranted. 175 


Literature Cited 176 


Baasch D.M., Hefley T.J., & Cahis S.D. (2015) A comparison of breeding population estimators using 177 


nest and brood monitoring data. Ecology and Evolution. 5, 4197–4209. Available at: 178 


https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/ProgramLibrary/Baasch%20et%20al%202015.pd179 


f 180 


Burnham, K.P. & Anderson, D.R. (2002). Model Selection and Multimodel Inference: A Practical 181 


Information-Theoretic Approach. Springer, New York. 182 


Chadwick, J.W., Canton, S.P., Conklin, D.J. Jr., & Winkle, P.L. (1997) Fish species composition in the 183 


central Platte River, Nebraska. The Southwest Naturalist. 42, 279–289. 184 


Department of the Interior. 2006. Platte River Recovery Implementation Program Final Environmental 185 


Impact Statement. [Denver, Colo.] Bureau of Reclamation and Fish and Wildlife Service.  186 


Falk, J.A. Fausch, K.D., Magelky, R., Aldred, A., Durnford, D.S., Riley, L.K., & Oad, R. (2010) The role 187 


of groundwater pumping and drought in shaping ecological futures for stream fishes in a dryland 188 


river basin of the western Great Plains, USA. Ecohydrology. 4, 682–692   189 


Hooten, M.B. & Hobbs, N.T. (2015). A guide to Bayesian model selection for ecologists. Ecological 190 


Monographs, 85, 3–28. 191 


Jenniges, J.J. & Plettner, R.G. (2008). Least tern nesting at human created habitats in central Nebraska. 192 


Waterbirds, 31, 274–282. 193 


Kiernan, J.D., Moyle, P.B., & Crain, P.K. (2012) Restoring native fish assemblages to a regulated 194 


California stream using the natural flow regime concept. Ecological Applications. 22, 1472–1482. 195 



https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/ProgramLibrary/Baasch%20et%20al%202015.pdf

https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/ProgramLibrary/Baasch%20et%20al%202015.pdf





PRRIP Forage Fish Manuscript  Page 12 of 13 
 


Ludwig, D., Hilborn, R., & Walters, C. (1993). Uncertainty, resource exploitation, and conservation: 196 


lessons from history. Science, 260, 17 & 36. 197 


Lutey, J.M. (2002) Species Recovery Objectives for Four Target Species in the Central and Lower Platte 198 


River (Whooping Crane, Interior Least Tern, Piping Plover, Pallid Sturgeon). United States Fish and 199 


Wildlife Service. 200 


Marchetti, M.P., & Moyle, P.B. (2001) Effects of flow regime on fish assemblages in a regulated 201 


California stream. Ecological Applications. 11, 530–539. 202 


National Research Council (2004) Endangered and Threatened Species of the Platte River. Committee on 203 


Endangered and Threatened Species in the Platte River Basin, National Research Council, National 204 


Academy Press, Washington D. C. 336 pp. 205 


Nichols, J. & William, B. (2006). Monitoring for conservation. Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 21, 206 


668–673. 207 


Perkin J.S., Gido K.B., Cooper A.R., Turner, T.F., Osborne, M.J., Johnson, E.R., & Mayes, K.B. (2014) 208 


Fragmentation and dewatering transform Great Plains stream fish communities. Ecological 209 


Monographs. 85, 73–92. 210 


Platt, J. (1964). Strong inference. Science, 146, 347–353. 211 


Platte River Recovery Implementation Program (2006) Platte River Recovery Implementation Program 212 


Adaptive Management Plan. Retrieved from 213 


https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/Pages/ProgramLibrary.aspx 214 


Sherfy, M.H., Anteau, M.J., Shaffer, T.L., Sovada, M.S., & Stucker, J.H. (2012) Foraging ecology of 215 


least terns and piping plovers on central Platte River sandpits and sandbars. Available at: 216 


https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/ProgramLibrary/USGS%202012_Foraging%20Ec217 


ology%20of%20LTPP.pdf 218 


Smith, G. (1998). Retrospective studies. In Sit, V. and B. Taylor (editors). 1998. Statistical Methods for 219 


Adaptive Management Studies. Res. Br., B.C. Min. For., Res. Br., Victoria, BC, Land Manage. 220 


Handb. No. 42. 221 







PRRIP Forage Fish Manuscript  Page 13 of 13 
 


 Stroup, W.W. (2012). Generalized Linear Mixed Models: Modern Concepts, Methods and Applications. 222 


CRC Press, Boca Raton, Flordia, USA. 223 


United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) (2006a) Biological Opinion on the Platte River 224 


Recovery Implementation Program. Retrieved from 225 


https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/Pages/ProgramLibrary.aspx 226 


United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) (2006b) Platte River Recovery Implementation 227 


Program Final Environmental Impact Assessment. Retrieved from 228 


https://www.platteriverprogram.org/PubsAndData/Pages/ProgramLibrary.aspx 229 


Walters, C. & Holling, C. (1990). Large-scale management experiments and learning by doing. Ecology, 230 


71, 2060–2068. 231 


Westgate, M., Likens, G., & Lindenmayer, D. (2013). Adaptive management of biological systems: a 232 


review. Biological Conservation, 158, 128–139. 233 


Wilson, E.C., Hubert, W.A. & Anderson, S.H. (1993). Nesting and foraging of least terns on sand pits in 234 


central Nebraska. The Southwestern Naturalist. 38, 9–14. 235 








 


 


 


 
 


May 19, 2016 


 


FWS-NE: 2016-162 


 


Dr. Jerry Kenny 


Platte River Recovery Implementation Program  


4111 4th Avenue, Suite 6 


Kearney, NE 68847  


 


RE: DRAFT Platte River Recovery Implementation Program Milestones Report 


2016  


      


Dear Dr. Kenny: 


 


The enclosed document represents a formal assessment of the Platte River Recovery 


Implementation Program’s (PRRIP) progress toward meeting the milestones described in 


the 2007 PRRIP Program document, through calendar year 2015.  The United States Fish 


and Wildlife Service (Service) uses the PRRIP 2013 and 2014 Bi-annual Report in 


combination with other available information to complete the assessment.  The Service 


has not been provided a formal report for use in assessing milestones throughout the first 


nine (9) years of PRRIP implementation- instead, we have used the biannual reporting 


process to assess progress made.  The Service is committed to providing bi-annual reports 


assessing progress in achieving the PRRIP milestones as described in the October 24, 


2006, PRRIP Document.  Our last report was provided in 2014. 


 


The Service has responsibility for conservation and management of fish and wildlife 


resources for the benefit of the American public under the following authorities: 1) 


Endangered Species Act of 1973 (ESA); 2) Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act (FWCA); 


3) Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act; and 4) Migratory Bird Treaty Act.  The 


National Environmental Policy Act requires compliance with all of these statutes and 


regulations. It should be noted the Service and PRRIP staff have successfully worked 


together since the inception of the PRRIP to maintain compliance with these federal laws. 


 


The PRRIP has made considerable progress over the last two years despite many 


obstacles, uncertainties, and constraints, many out of the PRRIP’s control.  We look 


forward to continued cooperation in the coming years to ensure ESA compliance as well 


as progress on many important facets of the Programmatic Biological Opinion (PBO), 


including the reasonable and prudent measures and conservation recommendations.  The 


FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE 
Ecological Services 


Nebraska Field Office 


203 West Second Street 


Grand Island, Nebraska 68801 
 


United States Department of the Interior 
 







 


 


2 


Service is committed to providing the necessary resources to facilitate successful PRRIP 


implementation.    


 


Communication and collaboration between the Executive Director’s Office, stakeholders 


from the states of Colorado, Nebraska, and Wyoming, and the Department of Interior has 


provided an excellent template nationwide for effective conservation through 


collaboration and the implementation of adaptive management.  The PRRIP also serves 


as a model for recovery of threatened and endangered species and the ecosystems they 


depend upon.  To date, we are encouraged with many facets of the PRRIP and are 


confident in the continued progress toward meeting milestones and maintaining ESA 


compliance during the first increment.  We remain optimistic about the future and look 


forward to assisting with implementation for the remainder of the first increment.  As the 


first increment progresses toward the scheduled December 31, 2019 end date, the Service 


is committed to working with the PRRIP and its stakeholders to explore the entire suite of 


available options and develop a path forward capable of providing ESA compliance 


beyond the first increment.      


 


We appreciate the opportunity to review and comment on this Bi-annual Report.  If you 


have any questions or comments please contact me at (308) 382-6468, extension 204, or 


by e-mail at eliza_hines@fws.gov.  


 


 Sincerely, 


 


 


 


 Eliza Hines 


 Nebraska Field Supervisor 


 


 


 
 


Enclosures 


 


Enclosure 1 - Service Comments on the PRRIP Bi-Annual Report for 2013 and 2014 and 


assessment of progress on the PRRIP milestones through 2015 


 



mailto:eliza_hines@fws.gov





 


 


3 


ATTACHMENT 1 


 
 


U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Comments  


Assessment of Progress on the PRRIP Milestones through 2015. 


 


I. Background 


 


On June 16, 2006, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (Service) issued a programmatic 


biological opinion (PBO) for the Platte River Recovery Implementation Program 


(PRRIP) and water-related activities1 affecting flow volume and timing in the central and 


lower reaches of the Platte River in Nebraska.  The action area for the PBO included the 


Platte River basin upstream of the confluence of the Platte River with the Loup River in 


Nebraska, and the main stem of the Platte River downstream of the Loup River 


confluence.  


 


The Federal Action addressed by the PBO included the following:   


 


1) funding and implementation of the PRRIP for 13 years, the anticipated first 


increment of the PRRIP; and 


 


2) continued operation of existing and certain new water-related activities2 


including, but not limited to, U.S. Bureau of Reclamation and Service projects 


that are (or may become) dependent on the PRRIP for ESA compliance during 


the first 13-year stage of the PRRIP for their effects on the target species3, 


whooping crane critical habitat, and other federally listed species4 that rely on 


central and lower Platte River habitats. 


 


The PRRIP document, dated October 24, 2006, became effective January 1, 2007, after 


the governors of Colorado, Wyoming, Nebraska and the Secretary of the Interior signed 


the agreement.  The document was developed to guide implementation of the PRRIP 


                                                      
1
 The term “water-related activities” means activities and aspects of activities which (1) occur in the Platte 


River basin upstream of the confluence of the Loup River with the Platte River; and (2) may affect Platte 


River flow quantity or timing, including, but not limited to, water diversion, storage and use activities, and 


land use activities. Changes in temperature and sediment transport will be considered impacts of a “water 


related activity” to the extent that such changes are caused by activities affecting flow quantity or timing. 


Impacts of “water related activities” do not include those components of land use activities or discharges of 


pollutants that do not affect flow quantity or timing.  
2
 “Existing water related activities” include surface water or hydrologically connected groundwater 


activities implemented on or before July 1, 1997.  “New water-related activities” include new surface water 


or hydrologically connected groundwater activities including both new projects and expansion of existing 


projects, both those subject to and not subject to section 7(a)(2) of the ESA, which may affect the quantity 


or timing of water reaching the associated habitats and which are implemented after July 1, 1997. 
3
 The “target species” are the endangered whooping crane (Grus americana), the Interior least tern 


(Sternula antillarum), the pallid sturgeon (Scaphirynchus albus), and the threatened northern Great Plains 


population of the piping plover (Charadrius melodus). 
4
 Other listed species present in the central and lower Platte River include western prairie fringed orchid 


(Platanthera praeclara), American burying beetle (Nicrophorus americanus), and Eskimo curlew 


(Numenius borealis). 







 


 


4 


throughout the 13-year first increment.  During this first increment, progress toward 


meeting the PRRIP objectives for ESA compliance purposes will be measured through 


the achievement of the ten “milestones5.” 


 


The PBO6
 describes the process the Service will use to review progress toward meeting 


PRRIP milestones.   


 


“As part of the Program’s annual review process, the Service will evaluate the 


Program’s land, water, and administrative accomplishments in order to track progress 


and provide information to be used by the Governance Committee (GC) and the Service 


during the first increment.  The framework of the Service’s reviews of the Program will 


be based, in part, on the information provided in the Milestones Document7.  The 


milestones and explanatory language will serve as a means to track Program 


accomplishments during the first increment.  As part of the annual review process, the 


Service will also consider other measures of progress.  Examples include, but are not 


limited to:  


 


 Progress toward the integration of the implementation of the land and water 


management activities to assist in restoring system processes through the 


acquisition and restoration of habitats and implementation of water projects.   


 


 In the event individual projects identified in the Water Action Plan are determined 


to be not feasible through the reconnaissance, planning, and implementation 


processes, a replacement project of equivalent or greater water yield is described, 


and a feasibility report for that proposed substitute project is submitted to the GC 


for approval within one year of the date a project was determined not feasible.   


 


 Habitat restoration and management plans are developed and implemented 


within approximately one year following the acquisition of each parcel of land by 


the Program. 


 


 The GC will select and enter into an agreement with a land interest holding entity 


within six months following the date of Program implementation. 


 


 Protection and restoration of land into habitat complexes is occurring in a timely 


manner (e.g., on an average annual basis through the end of year 9, acquisition of 


approximately 676 acres per year would be needed to procure the remaining 


6,080 acres land for restoration into habitat complexes). 


 


 Site specific plans for each land and water action are developed during the 


planning phase of the proposed project before any on-the-ground management 


occurs.   


 


                                                      
5
 Milestones Report, PRRIP Document, p. 3-4 


6
 See pg. 49 


7
 See Attachment 2 of the Program Document 







 


 


5 


Concerns or shortcomings regarding Program implementation and accomplishment will 


be formally conveyed by the Service to the Executive Director for inclusion in the draft 


annual report to the GC regarding Program progress and plans for the coming year.  


The Service will also review and provide comments to the Executive Director regarding 


the content of each draft annual report that will be provided to the GC for its 


consideration and approval.” 


 


In the Service’s 2014 milestones report, we stated:  


 


“In the past, the Service has used the Bi-Annual Report as the mechanism for assessing 


the PRRIP’s progress toward meeting these milestones.  While we understand the report 


was not intended primarily for this use, until we are provided additional reporting 


mechanisms, we will continue using this report in our assessment.  Because the Bi-


Annual Report is general in nature given it’s intended audience (the public, GC, 


Independent Science Advisory Committee [ISAC], etc.), we recommend consideration be 


given to more detailed PRRIP progress reporting through a separate report if the PRRIP 


does not wish to expand on the Bi-Annual Report.”   


 


At this time we have not received a formal report intended for use in assessing the PRRIP 


milestones.  We urge the PRRIP to consider providing this in the future.  In absence of 


this, we continue to use the PRRIP Bi-Annual Report.  The 2013 and 2014 Bi-Annual 


Report (Bi-Annual Report) submitted by the PRRIP and the Service’s response serves as 


the basic framework for reporting on milestones and verifies the PRRIP progress toward 


achieving goals and objectives as described in the PRRIP Document. 


 


II. Land 


 


The Land Plan contained within the PRRIP Document was developed to provide 


guidance in implementing the land component of the PRRIP.  Milestone 5 requires 


implementation of the Land Plan to protect and, where appropriate, restore 10,000 acres 


of habitat by no later than the end of the first increment.  Through 2015, the Program has 


acquired or managed (through lease, fee title or sponsorship agreement/management 


agreement) approximately 12,000 acres.  The Service commends the PRRIP on 


successful acquisition and/or management of land within the first nine (9) years.  The 


complex and non-complex lands acquired and/or managed to date provide a solid 


foundation for land management and restoration activities which future efforts can 


maintain and improve upon.  The Service is pleased with efforts and progress made by 


the PRRIP in the last few years to strategically seek out, evaluate, and acquire additional 


high priority tracts of land, as requested by the Service.  These new land acquisitions 


formed the foundation of a new complex (Pawnee complex) and are located in what we 


considered one of the highest priority bridge segments (Kearney to Odessa) remaining.   


 


We recognize that the PRRIP has now met and exceeded the 10,000 acre milestone 


objective, which is to be commended.  We also recognize that due to multiple PRRIP 


acquisitions of conservation lands owned or managed prior to 1997, the GC committed to 







 


 


6 


using 10,000 acres as a “floor” for acquisition and management, not a “ceiling
8
.”  The 


Service appreciates recent efforts to build upon the “floor” by developing a new complex 


in a previously unmanaged high priority bridge segment.  We look forward to working 


together with the PRRIP to restore and improve habitat conditions within this and other 


complexes as appropriate.  The Service supports pursuing additional opportunities to 


acquire, manage, or restore high priority land and habitat; we urge the PRRIP to be open-


minded and flexible with respect to acquiring or managing additional land, particularly if 


the need or right opportunity arises.  Opportunities to purchase high priority properties 


may only come about once in a generation.  While acquisition within remaining priority 


areas remains challenging and elusive, we believe this is still vitally important and should 


continue to be considered during the remainder of the first increment.  Past, ongoing, and 


future efforts related to land acquisition and management will further fulfill the intent of 


the land target milestone.  This will assist in providing on the ground benefits to the 


target species as the PRRIP continues trying to make progress on other non-land related 


milestones. 


 


Public Access 


In 2011, the PRRIP began allowing public access on PRRIP lands through 


implementation of the Platte River Recreation Access (PRRA) Program; this was done by 


contracting with Nebraska Game and Parks Commission to manage day-to-day 


operations and enforcement of recreation on PRRIP property.  The PRRA Program was 


chosen by the Department of Interior as a key component of the “America’s Great 


Outdoors Initiative.”  To date, 11 high quality properties totaling approximately 4,600 


acres on or near the central Platte River provide multiple outdoor opportunities available 


to the general public on a limited basis.  As additional properties are added, this unique 


opportunity for the public will continue to improve.  With very little public land open to 


hunting, fishing and outdoor recreation (comprising 2-3 percent of Nebraska’s total land 


area), the PRRA Program has greatly increased outdoor recreation opportunities where 


they are needed most.  The PRRA Program continues to provide a model for blending 


public outdoor recreation opportunities with managing/protecting threatened and 


endangered species habitat without adverse effects.  The PRRA Program has received 


overwhelmingly positive feedback from those who have benefited from these outdoor 


opportunities.  As we have in the past, we support and encourage the PRRIP to continue 


increasing the amount of land available to the public where the opportunity exists.  In 


addition to providing benefits to the general public, the PRRA program is one of the best 


and most powerful outreach and education tools there is for the PRRIP.   


 


III. Water 


 


The Water Plan contained within the PRRIP Document provides a roadmap for projects 


and strategies to meet the overall Program goal of reducing shortages to Service target 


flows by 130,000-150,000 acre-feet per year (af/yr).  A number of the PRRIP milestones 


are specifically tied to the Water Plan and there have been a number of successes.  As 


previously mentioned in our 2011 and 2014 letters, milestones 1, 2, and 3 have all been 


completed as described within the Milestones Document.  However, one aspect of 


                                                      
8
 See our February 14, 2014, milestones letter for further information regarding the “floor not a ceiling”. 







 


 


7 


milestone 2 (specifically, milestone sub-component 2.3) has not been completed and 


further investigation is needed. It is unclear if Tamarack water is protected from the 


Colorado border to the associated habitat area.  Additionally, the effectiveness of this 


strategy to accomplish program objectives has yet to be assessed as described in the 


milestone.  We recommend using the Bi-Annual Report (or another report as mentioned 


previously) to further document progress in meeting Water Plan milestones.   


 


Reducing Shortages to Target Flows 


Progress continues on the Water Action Plan (WAP); we are concerned that the target of 


reducing water shortages by 50,000-70,000 af/yr (Milestone #4)will not be achieved by 


the end of the first increment.  In 2013, PRRIP members agreed to build the J-2 


Regulating Reservoir Project, which has potential to provide both benefits and a large 


portion of the WAP target.  However, recent cost increases related to the J-2 project have 


increased uncertainty related to the project’s capacity to reduce shortages, provide water 


for short duration high flows (SDHF), and reduce hydrocycling.  Construction will not 


start on a revised J-2 Regulating Reservoir until the very end of the first increment, at the 


earliest. 


 


A component of Milestone #4 (Milestone 4.5) has also not been achieved. This milestone 


calls for the WAP to be capable of providing at least an average of 25,000 af of shortage 


reduction to target flows by the end of Year 8 of the first increment.  The uncertainty with 


respect to construction of the J-2 Regulating Reservoir has resulted in not reaching this 


milestone.  To date, the Program has fully implemented and scored two WAP projects: 


Phelps County Canal Groundwater Recharge and the Pathfinder Municipal Account. The 


total score for the two projects is 6,700 af.  The Program does have many projects in 


various stages of implementation and scoring; and it is unclear when the 25,000 af 


milestone will be reached.  


 


The Service is concerned with the prospect of the PRRIP falling short of achieving its 


water goals before the end of the first increment.  We remain committed to working with 


the PRRIP to develop a path forward in regards to successful implementation and ESA 


compliance throughout the remainder of the first increment and continuing into the 


future.  Ultimately, we will continue working together to investigate how the PRRIP 


water contributions contributes toward the common goal of securing defined benefits for 


the target species, their associated habitats and the Platte River ecosystem to assist in 


their conservation and recovery.   


 


Depletions Plans 


The states of Colorado, Nebraska, and Wyoming have made excellent progress in the 


development and implementation of their respective new depletion plans (Milestone 7, 8, 


and 9).  Through 2015, 161 depletions projects have relied on the PBO and the PRRIP for 


ESA compliance using the streamlined tiered consultation process.   The depletions plans 


for Colorado and Wyoming are currently operational.  However, while the states’ efforts 


are to be commended, uncertainty exists regarding Nebraska’s new depletions plan and 


its capability to offset new depletions if the J-2 Regulating Reservoir is not completed in 


its entirety as originally designed and planned.  In future PRRIP milestone documents, 







 


 


8 


the Service suggests the itemization of obligations in the respective state depletions plans 


and whether these obligations have been fulfilled.   


 


Development of specific actions or mechanisms to offset depletions within the Federal 


new depletions plan is ongoing within each state.  Each State has agreed to secure up to 


350 acre-feet of water annually, if needed, to offset new federal depletions in each state 


with the understanding new federal depletions in cumulative excess of 1,050 acre-feet 


will not be in compliance with the BO.   


 


Channel Conveyance and High Flow Events 


Channel conveyance at the North Platte and Kearney chokepoints severely limits the 


Service’s ability to use Environmental Account (EA) water to for a variety of water 


releases, including implementation of an SDHF event.  The Service commends the 


PRRIP for past efforts to improve the North Platte and Kearney chokepoints. We 


acknowledge that continued efforts will be needed to achieve the intended effect but that 


unintended delays in implementation may occur that are beyond the PRRIP’s control.  


The chokepoint was briefly discussed within the Bi-Annual Report and we encourage the 


PRRIP to expand upon this if applicable in the future and summarize progress toward 


achieving Section III.E.2.d requirements of the PRRIP Document.  Peak flows are known 


to be a valuable component of maintaining system processes, which support target and 


other trust species’ habitat on the central Platte River.  The Service believes that SDHF 


events, the Service’s pulse flow releases, or similar natural peak flow events are capable 


of improving or maintaining important components of target species habitat (throughout 


the entire associated habitat reach [AHR]) and the ecosystem they depend upon over 


conditions that would exist in absence of those flow events.  We are currently unable to 


release a flow event in the SDHF magnitude due to channel capacity limitations.  These 


same limitations contribute to the Service’s inability to consistently deliver 800 cfs to the 


associated habitat area during the irrigation season and limit the Service’s ability to 


release water during the May-June pulse release. 


 


IV. Adaptive Management 


 


The PRRIP has managed uncertainty through the application of adaptive management 


(AM).  Multiple studies have been undertaken and additional studies are planned in an 


effort to reduce uncertainty.  Additionally, the PRRIP has made considerable progress in 


assessing scientific data and using AM to guide future implementation. The development 


of documents such as the “State of the Platte Report,” as well as tern, plover and 


whooping crane synthesis reports [in chapters targeted for publication or peer review] has 


facilitated open dialog and critical thinking about the role of science in decision making.  


We are encouraged that the PRRIP has emphasized peer-review and publication of 


scientific papers.  The Service believes this is a necessary step in ensuring the best 


available science is used for decision-making.   


 


The PRRIP has accumulated a large amount of scientific information and is successfully 


working to analyze the data and assess it.  This will prove to be an important step moving 


forward with the implementation of AM.  Recently, the PRRIP has begun using 


structured decision making as a mechanism for evaluating alternatives and choosing the 







 


 


9 


best path forward in an attempt to integrate science and policy into decision making 


(specifically related to tern and plover reproduction).  While it is uncertain how 


successful this approach will be, we are encouraged by the early progress.  If successful, 


this will provide a useful tool that could also be applied to other areas of uncertainty and 


will help in completing the final stage in the adaptive management cycle (adapting).   


 


Flow Sediment Mechanical (FSM) Strategy Implementation 


The current inability to implement SDHF events limits the Program’s capacity to 


conclusively assess the ability of these events to create and maintain habitat for the target 


species.  While the PRRIP was able to answer questions related to the ability of SDHF to 


create and maintain suitable nesting islands for terns and plovers, uncertainty remains 


regarding the effects of near annual SDHF’s on channel maintenance and vegetation 


encroachment.  The Service is committed to investigating and implementing a strategy 


that uses a variety of flows to naturally maintain ecosystem functions throughout the 


entire associated habitat area.  While we acknowledge a mechanical component will 


likely be required in many locations, a strategy that does not include flow management is 


incapable of improving and maintaining habitat conditions and ecosystem processes 


throughout the entire AHR.   


 


In absence of increased channel capacity and the ability to implement a SDHF, the 


Service will continue assessing different ways to use the EA for flow releases.  However, 


we recommend continuing to focus on implementing projects (e.g., resolving issues at the 


North Platte chokepoint) that would allow flow releases of 5,000 cfs initially, and 8,000 


cfs ultimately.  The emphasis on higher magnitude peak flows becomes important as 


recent investigations conducted by the Executive Director’s Office (EDO) reveal that the 


combination of mechanical intervention (disking, herbicide) and the annual high flow 


appear to be the key components in determining unvegetated channel widths every year.  


We support continuing to monitor and learn from natural flows.  Additionally, in the 


absence of the ability to release flows of 5,000-8,000 cfs, we support evaluating the 


success of other flow releases of varying magnitude, duration and timing but caution that 


conclusions related to a simple success or failure should be avoided.  Conversely, the 


intent of these flow releases should be to learn what changes or effects these varying 


flows of different magnitude, duration, and timing have on the Platte River in the near- 


term and long-term.  


 


In 2012, PRRIP began successfully augmenting sediment into the river at two locations 


through implementation of a pilot scale project.  The Service recommends continuing to 


implement sediment augmentation and believes any efforts that increase the abundance of 


sediment in the central Platte River are beneficial in creating and maintaining habitat.  


Effects of sediment deficits as well as augmentation occur at a very fine scale over a very 


long period of time.  Detecting changes resulting from sediment augmentation may be 


challenging and there is uncertainty as to the amount and locations needed.  The Service 


supports continuation of existing efforts at the Plum Creek complex, though a re-


examination of the size, amount and location (within the AHR) may be warranted after 


sufficient time has passed to ensure the goals and purposes of sediment augmentation are 


being met.  


 







 


 


10 


Managing Flow and the Pallid Sturgeon 


Significant uncertainty still exists related to pallid sturgeon, the stage change study, and a 


path forward.  We will continue to work with the PRRIP to reduce the uncertainty 


surrounding the pallid sturgeon in the future to ensure the PRRIP continues to act as an 


agreement to offset the impacts of federal water-related activities on federally listed 


species in the Platte River basin above the Loup River confluence. 


 


We provide the following suggestions as a means to achieving this goal.  We recommend 


the PRRIP hold a symposium with experts in the field of pallid sturgeon biology and 


ecology as well as river processes and geomorphology.  The scientific panel could assist 


in reviewing all existing information pertinent to pallid sturgeon and the relationship of 


the PRRIP operations to pallid sturgeon in the Platte River.   


 


V. Incidental Take Reporting and Reasonable and Prudent Measures 


 


Section 9 of ESA and federal regulations pursuant to section 4(d) of ESA prohibit the 


take of endangered and threatened species without special exemption.  The PRRIP was 


issued an incidental take statement as a supplement to the PBO
9
.  The incidental take 


statement outlined a process for reporting incidental take.  In the two previous milestones 


letters, we recommended PRRIP provide an annual report of all forms of incidental take 


or a report that documents an absence of incidental take.  While PRRIP may not wish to 


use the Bi-Annual Report for this type of reporting, we recommend submitting the 


information independently or using another report to address this and other suggestions 


included within this letter.  Currently, PRRIP is using the annual species reports to 


indicate any incidental take, which is not all inclusive of the requirements detailed in the 


PBO (see Service response to the 2009 and 2010 Bi-Annual Report for a list of the 


suggested components of incidental take reporting).  Additionally, reasonable and 


prudent measures were developed and included within the incidental take statement for 


each species and we believe PRRIP has been successful in adhering to these measures.   


 


VI. Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act 


 


The FWCA (FWCA; 48 Stat. 401 as amended; 16 U.S.C. 661 et seq.) provides a basic 


procedural framework for the orderly consideration of fish and wildlife conservation 


measures in Federal and federally permitted or licensed water development projects.  


According to Section 2 (a) of the FWCA, whenever any water body is proposed to be 


controlled or modified for any purpose by a Federal agency or by any public or private 


agency under a Federal permit or license, that Federal agency is required first to consult 


with the wildlife agency (i.e., Service or head of state fish and wildlife agency as 


specified under FWCA) with a view to the conservation of fish and wildlife resources in 


connection with that project. 


 


The final “January 26, 2006, FWCA Report: Platte River Recovery Implementation 


Report” (2006) was developed as part of the PRRIP final Environmental Impact 


Statement to ensure consideration was given for the conservation of fish and wildlife 


                                                      
9
 page 309 







 


 


11 


resources in Nebraska, Colorado, and Wyoming.  The GC, acting on behalf of the lead 


federal agency, is responsible for ensuring that FWCA resources are receiving 


consideration.  As we have in the past, the Service recommends that the PRRIP staff, the 


GC, and the PRRIP subcommittees review recommendations in the PRRIP FWCA to 


ensure FWCA resources are considered as actions are developed and implemented.  The 


Service, through assistance on the PRRIP subcommittees, will continue to provide 


technical assistance and recommendations related to the FWCA.    


 


VII. Conservation Recommendations  


 


Section 7(a)(1) of ESA directs Federal agencies to utilize their authorities to further the 


purposes of ESA by carrying out conservation programs for the benefit of endangered 


and threatened species.  Conservation recommendations are discretionary agency 


activities to minimize or avoid adverse effects of an action on listed species or critical 


habitat, to help implement recovery plans, or to develop information.  Conservation 


recommendations are provided in the PBO (pages 328-329) for possible accomplishment 


by the PRRIP.  We encourage the PRRIP to continue making progress on these 


conservation recommendations in the future. 


 


VIII. Literature Cited 


 


Platte River Recovery Implementation Program document. 2006.  


 


U.S. Department of the Interior.  2006.  Platte River Recovery Implementation Program 


Final Environmental Impact Statement. 


 


U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service.  2006.  Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act Report: Platte 


River Recovery Implementation Program. 


 


U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service.  2006.  Biological opinion on the Platte River Recovery 


Implementation Program. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


 


12 


ATTACHMENT 2 


 


Numeric Milestones Progress Checklist 


 


1. The Pathfinder Modification Project will be operational and physically and 


legally capable of providing water to the Program by no later than the end of 


Year 4 of the First Increment. 


 Progress through 2015 - Completed   


 


 


2. Colorado will complete construction of the Tamarack I and commence full 


operations by the end of Year 4 of the First Increment. 
 


Progress through 2015 - Completed   


 


Milestone 2.3 needs to be addressed.  The Service is concerned that the water is 


not protected, and the "effectiveness of this strategy to accomplish Program 


objectives" has not been assessed yet. 


 


 


3. CNPPID and NPPD will implement an Environmental Account for Storage 


Reservoirs on the Platte System in Nebraska as provided in FERC licenses 1417 


and 1835. 


 


Progress through 2015- Completed   


 


4. The Reconnaissance-Level Water Action Plan, as may be amended by the 


Governance Committee, will be implemented and capable of providing at least 


an average of 50,000 acre-feet per year of shortage reduction to target flows, or 


for other Program purposes, by no later than the end of the First Increment. 


 


Progress through 2015 – Incomplete  


 


Significant issues need to be resolved.  The requirement to reduce target flows 


shortages by 25,000 af by the end of year 8 was not achieved, so progress is 


needed achieve the milestone of 50,000 af within the first increment. 


 


 


5. The Land Plan, as maybe amended by the Governance Committee, will be 


implemented to protect and, where appropriate, restore 10,000 acres of habitat 


by no later than the end of the First Increment.  


Progress through 2015 – Completed   







 


 


13 


 


The Service recommends continuing efforts (in accordance with the “floor not a 


ceiling policy”) to strategically seek out, acquire and/or manage (lease or 


management agreement) new high priority tracts of land when the opportunity 


arises.  


 


6. The Integrated Monitoring and Research Plan, as may be amended by the 


Governance Committee, will be implemented beginning Year 1 of the Program. 


 


Progress through 2015 - Completed   


 


7. The Wyoming Depletions Plan, as may be amended with the approval of the 


Governance Committee, will be operated during the First Increment of the 


Program. 


 


Progress through 2015 - Completed   


 


8. The Colorado Depletions Plan, as may be amended with the approval of the 


Governance Committee, will be operated during the First Increment of the 


Program. 


 


Progress through 2015 - Completed   


 


9. The Nebraska Depletions Plan, as may be amended with the approval of the 


Governance Committee, will be operated during the First Increment of the 


Program. 


Progress through 2015 – Incomplete   


 


Additional information is needed to verify completion of this milestone.  It is 


unclear if Nebraska has secured the water offsets needed to fulfill obligations 


described in the Depletions Plan. 


 


10. The Federal Depletions Plan, as may be amended with the approval of the 


Governance Committee, will be operated during the First Increment of the 


Program. 


 


Progress through 2015 - Completed   






























PRRIP First Increment Extension Proposal  Page 1 of 6 
 


April 21, 2016 1 


Platte River Recovery Implementation Program 2 


First Increment Extension Proposal 3 


 4 


PREAMBLE 5 


The Platte River Recovery Implementation Program (Program; PRRIP) became effective January 1, 2007 6 


following signatures by the Governors of Colorado, Wyoming, and Nebraska and the U.S. Secretary of 7 


the Interior. PRRIP provides Endangered Species Act (ESA) compliance for water related activities 8 


within the three states while working to provide recovery benefits for four endangered and threatened 9 


species. 10 


The First Increment of the Program began in 2007 and extends through 2019. The Program’s long-term 11 


goal is to improve and maintain the associated habitats of the target species. This includes: (1) improving 12 


and maintaining migrational habitat for whooping cranes and reproductive habitat for least terns and 13 


piping plovers; (2) reducing the likelihood of future listing of other species found in this area; and (3) 14 


testing the assumption that managing flow in the central Platte River also improves the pallid sturgeon’s 15 


lower Platte River habitat.  16 


The Program signatories committed to achieving the following objectives by the end of the First 17 


Increment of the Program: 18 


(1) providing water capable of improving the occurrence of Platte River flows in the central Platte 19 


River associated habitats relative to the present occurrence of species and annual pulse target 20 


flows
 


by an average of 130,000 to 150,000 acre-feet per year at Grand Island, through 21 


reregulation and water conservation/supply projects. Department of the Interior (DOI) and the 22 


states agree that United States Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS) target flows will be examined 23 


through the Adaptive Management Plan and peer review and may be modified by FWS 24 


accordingly. DOI and the states have agreed, however, that during the First Increment, species 25 


and annual pulse target flows serve as an initial reference point for determining periods of excess 26 


and shortage in the operation of Program reregulation and water conservation/supply projects.  27 


(2) protecting, restoring where appropriate, and maintaining at least 10,000 acres of habitat in the 28 


central Platte River area between Lexington and Chapman, Nebraska.  29 


 30 


During the First Increment ESA compliance is measured through progress in achieving ten Program 31 


Milestones that are related to the First Increment Objectives. Milestones and current Program status are 32 


presented in Table 1.  33 







PRRIP First Increment Extension Proposal  Page 2 of 6 
 


 Table 1. Platte River Recovery Implementation Program ESA Compliance Milestones 34 


Milestone Program Status 


1. Pathfinder Project operational and capable of providing water Achieved 


2. Completion and operation of Tamarack I Achieved 


3. Environmental Account and operation Achieved 


4. Water Action Plan implementation to provide an average of 50,000 


acre-feet per year  
Not Achieved 


5. Protection and restoration of 10,000 acres of habitat Achieved 


6. Implementation of Integrated Monitoring and Research Plan Achieved 


7. Operation of Wyoming Depletions Plan Achieved 


8. Operation of Colorado Depletions Plan Achieved 


9. Operation of Nebraska Depletions Plan Achieved 


10. Operation of Federal Depletions Plan Achieved 


 35 


The First Increment land objective and associated milestone has been achieved. The Program currently 36 


protects in excess of 12,000 acres in the Associated Habitat Reach (AHR). The First Increment water 37 


objective has not been achieved, but all State water projects and the State and Federal depletions plans are 38 


operational. The Program currently provides approximately 90,000 acre-feet towards the First Increment 39 


objective of 130,000 to 150,000 acre-feet. Additional water projects in the planning and/or design phase 40 


are expected to provide an additional 40,000 acre-feet of water. However, they will not be operational 41 


prior to the end of the First Increment in 2019. As such, Milestone 4 will not be achieved. 42 


 43 


The Program has also not examined the FWS’ target flows through the Adaptive Management Plan 44 


(AMP). The only flow action prescribed in the AMP is the short-duration high flow (SDHF) which is not 45 


a FWS target flow. The Program implemented research and monitoring to evaluate the potential 46 


effectiveness of SDHF. Examination of target flows would require updating of the Adaptive Management 47 


Plan to identify target flow uncertainties and implementation of management experiments to address 48 


those uncertainties. This cannot be accomplished prior to 2019.      49 


 50 


Section II.D of the 2006 Final Program Agreement makes provision for the Agreement to be extended or 51 


amended by the written agreement of all signatories. The Signatories are proposing a 10-year Extension 52 


of the First Increment. The Extension would not change First Increment objectives, milestones, or the 53 


implementation framework. It would provide additional time to complete and operate Program water 54 


projects and to conduct the monitoring and research necessary to examine target flows through the 55 


Adaptive Management Plan.  Additional research and monitoring is necessary to provide a sound 56 


knowledge base upon which to structure a Second Increment. 57 


It is anticipated that some additional species-related benefits will be necessary to compensate for the 58 


delay in transitioning to a Second Increment. Potential additions include acquisition of a limited amount 59 


of additional habitat lands and approval to use Program water projects to release flows to benefit the 60 


pallid sturgeon. These “plus-ups” are included in the proposed Extension activities.  61 







PRRIP First Increment Extension Proposal  Page 3 of 6 
 


PROPOSED FIRST INCREMENT EXTENSION ACTIVITIES 62 


Proposed Extension activities are organized according to the existing Program land, water, and adaptive 63 


management plan structure.  64 


 65 


Land Plan 66 


The First Increment milestone of protecting 10,000 acres has been achieved. Restoration and management 67 


of habitat lands is ongoing. Extension Land Plan activities will proceed under the same principles that 68 


have guided land acquisition and management since Program initiation. All habitat land acquisitions will 69 


proceed under a willing buyer/willing seller approach and all management activities will be conducted in 70 


accordance with the Program’s Good Neighbor Policy.   71 


 72 


Land Acquisition1 73 


 Review and renew (as appropriate) existing leases and management agreements.  74 


o Renew Cottonwood Ranch sponsorship agreement (2,650 acres) 75 


o Renew Broadfoot South lease (15 acres) 76 


o Renew management agreements at complexes (1,140 acres) 77 


 Negotiate sponsorship agreement with Central Nebraska Public Power and Irrigation District for 78 


Jeffery Island (4,100 acres) and manage as part of the Plum Creek habitat complex. 2 79 


 Negotiate process and requirements for conservation lands to be counted towards long-term 80 


PRRIP land goals.  81 


 Targeted acquisition of additional habitat lands. 82 


o Review and consider disposal of existing habitat lands that do not possess significant 83 


habitat value for target species.3 Use proceeds for acquisition of high-value habitat lands. 84 


o Acquire4 up to an additional 60 acres5 of non-complex tern and plover nesting habitat.6 85 


o Acquire up to an additional 1,500 acres of riverine habitat adjacent to existing Program 86 


habitat complexes. Acquisition focus would be on the Odessa-Kearney bridge segment. 87 


 88 


Land Management 89 


 Manage lands acquired by PRRIP for the benefit of the target species7 and species of concern 90 


when not in conflict with the target species. 91 


 Conduct land management actions within the framework of the AMP. 92 


o Implement and evaluate mechanical creation and maintenance of on- and off-channel 93 


habitat. 94 


o Implement and evaluate full-scale sediment augmentation.  95 


                                                      
1 The PRRIP has achieved the First Increment land milestone. Additional land acquisition is considered to be a plus-up.  
2 It is not anticipated that the PRRIP will reimburse CNPPID for prior restoration and management expenditures. 
3 For example, marginal wet meadow acres could be sold and used to fund acquisition of riverine habitat.  
4 Acquire can include fee-title purchase, conservation easement, lease, and management agreement. 
5 60 acres of bare sand habitat. Acquisition may begin prior to 2019.   
6 100 acres of additional habitat would achieve the FWS objective of supporting a stable to increasing plover population in the 


AHR through the First Increment Extension period.    
7 Primarily the piping plover and whooping crane. It is anticipated that piping plover management actions will also benefit the 


interior least tern.  







PRRIP First Increment Extension Proposal  Page 4 of 6 
 


Water Plan 96 


The First Increment milestone of providing an average of 50,000 – 70,000 acre-feet of water in addition 97 


to state water projects has not been achieved.8 Water conservation and supply projects are ongoing and 98 


the Program has developed an implementation path to achieve this milestone in approximately 2022. 99 


Extension Water Plan activities will proceed under the same principles that have guided water supply and 100 


management activities since Program initiation.  101 


Water Conservation and Supply 102 


 Modify state and federal depletions plans to remain consistent with statutory requirements. 103 


o Modify Colorado’s irrigated acre depletion plan reporting requirement in order to 104 


correspond with Colorado’s current analysis schedule. 105 


o Modify Nebraska New Depletion Plan (NNDP) in relation to Nebraska’s statutory 106 


requirements.  107 


 Update the Program Water Action Plan to evaluate the existing portfolio of Program water assets 108 


developed during the First Increment. 109 


 Renew water project agreements as deemed necessary to achieve water milestone. 110 


 Finish construction of J-2 Regulating Reservoir by 2022.  111 


Program Water Management 112 


 Continue channel conveyance improvements at North Platte choke point. Achieve and maintain 113 


3,000 cfs conveyance capacity below flood stage.  114 


 Develop and implement joint operational plans for PRRIP water projects.9 115 


 Utilize Program water assets to implement and evaluate flow-related management actions 116 


contemplated in the Program’s AMP. 117 


o Implement a minimum of one full-scale SDHF release once Program water projects are 118 


operational and conveyance issues are resolved. Evaluate against performance predictions 119 


based on retrospective analyses of First Increment natural flow events. 120 


o Implement and evaluate flow releases associated with examination of FWS target flows.10 121 


 122 


Adaptive Management Plan 123 


The First Increment milestone of Integrated Research and Monitoring Plan implementation has been 124 


achieved. The Program’s Adaptive Management Plan is currently focused solely toward evaluation of two 125 


competing management strategies (flow-sediment-mechanical, and mechanical) that contemplate a single 126 


flow management action (short-duration-high-flows). The Program has evaluated the ability of SDHF to 127 


create suitable tern and plover nesting habitat and is nearing completion of an analysis of the ability of 128 


SDHF to maintain suitably-wide unvegetated widths for whooping cranes. Due to their absence from the 129 


AMP, the Program has not examined target flows. The AMP will be updated to include evaluation of 130 


relevant target flows11 during the First Increment Extension. The update will also shift the AMP focus 131 


away from testing of two competing management strategies toward testing of individual flow, sediment, 132 


and mechanical management actions.  This update will occur prior to the beginning of the Extension in 133 


the year 2020 and will include the use of tools such as Structured Decision Making (SDM) to evaluate 134 


                                                      
8 Approximately 10,000 acre-feet have been provided to date. 
9 Operation of PRRIP water projects requires joint coordination between water project sponsors, Nebraska Department 
of Natural Resources, USFWS Environmental Account Manager, and PRRIP.  
10 Target flow uncertainties and management experiments will be developed as part of an update to the Program’s Adaptive 


Management Plan.  
11 Some target flows are not related to the Program’s target species or physical processes that support species habitat 


requirements.  







PRRIP First Increment Extension Proposal  Page 5 of 6 
 


potential management alternatives, predict outcomes, and provide structure for the implementation and 135 


evaluation of Program management actions and related decision during the Extension. 136 


Management Objectives  137 


 The least tern, piping plover, whooping crane, and non-listed species management objectives will 138 


be retained in the Extension with most of the emphasis placed on the piping plover and whooping 139 


crane12.  140 


 The pallid sturgeon management objective will be revised to allow for testing of flow releases to 141 


benefit pallids.  142 


Management Actions 143 


 Creation and maintenance of mechanical on- and off-channel piping plover and whooping crane 144 


habitats will continue. 145 


 Full-scale sediment augmentation will continue. Actions may also be taken to restore south 146 


channel sediment continuity.13 147 


 Contributions to reach-scale phragmites and invasive species control efforts will continue. 148 


 A minimum of one SDHF release is envisioned to evaluate performance in relation to 149 


predictions.14 150 


 Flow releases to influence physical process relationships are envisioned. 151 


 Flow releases to benefit whooping cranes are envisioned. 152 


 Flow releases to benefit least terns and piping plovers are unlikely but may be considered. 153 


 Flow releases to benefit pallid sturgeon15 will be allowed as long as: 154 


1) Releases are credited toward water objective. 155 


2) There is no detrimental impact to central Platte target species. 156 


3) It does not set precedent for future increments. 157 


Big Questions and Hypotheses 158 


 First Increment Big Questions and hypotheses will be updated as part of an AMP update prior to 159 


the Extension. Focus will be on identifying target flow uncertainties as they relate to flow releases 160 


to benefit physical processes and target species.  161 


 Hypotheses, and hypotheses testing, will be structured to provide information useful for 162 


examination of the relative benefits and trade-offs of various management actions as part of 163 


Second Increment negotiations.  164 


Integrated Monitoring and Research 165 


 System- and reach-scale geomorphology and vegetation monitoring will continue throughout the 166 


Extension. This monitoring is necessary to evaluate physical response to mechanical, sediment, 167 


and flow actions and natural events. It is also anticipated that physical process research may be 168 


necessary to test hypotheses associated with flow releases to influence channel morphology. 169 


 Full-scale sediment augmentation monitoring will continue throughout the Extension.  170 


 Least tern and piping plover research and monitoring efforts will be scaled back prior to the 171 


Extension. Trend monitoring will consist of bi-monthly river and off-channel habitat surveys and 172 


                                                      
12 The USFWS has recommended delisting of the least tern. This will almost certainly occur before 2019. 
13 A permanent sand dam on the CNPPID Jeffery Island property prevents sediment inflows to the south channel. Modifications 


to allow sediment to bypass the dam during peak flow events could reduce the need for sediment augmentation. 
14 Observational studies of natural peak flow events during the First Increment strongly suggest that SDHF will not produce 


suitable least tern, piping plover, or whooping crane habitat. However, the Program does not currently have the capacity to 


implement and evaluate a full SDHF release.  
15 Flow releases to benefit pallid sturgeon are considered to be a plus-up. 







PRRIP First Increment Extension Proposal  Page 6 of 6 
 


systematic season-long outside monitoring at use locations. Targeted tern or plover research 173 


projects are not anticipated to be necessary during the Extension.   174 


 Whooping crane monitoring will continue throughout the Extension. Targeted whooping crane 175 


research may be necessary to address uncertainties in the relationship between river flow, channel 176 


morphology, and crane use. 177 


 Flow releases to benefit pallid sturgeon will be monitored to identify the quantity of Program 178 


water that reaches the lower Platte and the corresponding increase in river stage.  179 


Adaptive Management Plan Implementation 180 


 Retain six-member Independent Scientific Advisory Committee. 181 


 Continue peer review of key Program science products relevant to decision making.16 182 


 Continue production of State of the Platte Report. 183 


 Continue annual AMP Reporting Sessions. 184 


FIRST INCREMENT EXTENSION FUNDING 185 


Federal and State contributions will continue throughout the Extension using the existing 50/50 cost share 186 


with credits for in-kind contributions from the States. Program implementation budget during the 187 


Extension will be similar to current with the exception of a large reduction in land acquisition budget and 188 


a reduction in the budget for water studies and infrastructure once major water projects are completed. 189 


Key budget items and projected costs for a First Increment Extension are contained in Attachment X.   190 


FIRST INCREMENT EXTENSION ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE 191 


First Increment governance and organizational structure will be retained throughout the Extension. 192 


                                                      
16 Program peer review guidance will be revised prior to the beginning of the Extension to reflect current process. 








Program Land Acquisition Objective Progress
6/1/2016


Table 1 :SUMMARY


Status Acres Dollars
Purchased 8,218.37 20,972,987.79$          
Sponsorship/Lease 2,665.00 37,500.00$                 
Agreements 1,140.00 -$                            


Total 12,023.37 21,010,487.79$     
Clean Water Act Acres 25.00 60,629.87$                 


Complex Acres 11,378.20
Non Complex Acres 645.17


Acres remaining for 1st Increment Goal (2,023.37)


Total Acres Controlled or Contracted 12,048.37


Total Under Contract 0.00 -$                               


In Active Negotiations Acres Negotiated Value


Total Dollars Spent or Under Contract 21,010,487.79$     


Table 2 : ACTIVE 


In Active Negotiations Acres Negotiated Value


Total Active Acres 0.00 -$                               







95% 


5% 


Complex vs Non Complex 
Complex Acres Non Complex Acres


68% 


22% 


10% 


Ownership by Type 
Purchased Sponsorship/Lease Agreements







COMPLEX
Complex Total 11,378.20 $18,097,631.06


Goal 9,200.00
Acres remaining for 1st Increment Goal (2178.20)


PLUM CREEK
Complex Total 716.30 $2,090,000.00


Purchased Acres Dollars
Dyer 2009003 (0804) 360.30 1,200,000.00$                
Cook 2009007 (0815) 356.00 890,000.00$                   


2009003-10001 (0924) (3.38) -$                               
2009003-10002 (0922) 3.38 -$                               
2009003-12001 (1111) (0.09) -$                               
2009003-12002 (1108) 0.09 -$                               


Total 716.30 2,090,000.00$                


COTTONWOOD RANCH
Complex Total 3,552.00 2,388,676.00$       


Purchased Acres Dollars
Stall 2009006 (0903) 337.00 1,116,676.00$                
Morse 2010001 (0839) 565.00 1,272,000.00$                


Total 902.00 2,388,676.00$                
Sponsorship/Lease Acres Dollars
2008002 Cottonwood Ranch 2,650.00 -$                               


Total 2,650.00 -$                                  


ELM CREEK
Complex Total 1,569.90 4,016,552.98$       


Purchased Acres Dollars
Bartels 2009002 (0803) 139.00 420,000.00$                   
McCormick 2009005 (0850) 218.21 530,000.00$                   
Sullwold 2012001 (1101) 184.00 697,650.00$                   
Johns 2012002 (1102) 763.65 2,722,350.00$                
BELF Trade 2012005-15001 (1407) (525,000.00)$                 
Meier 2012002-12001 (1213) (1.96) (9,800.00)$                     
NGPC 2015003 (1003) 51.08 181,352.98$                    


Total 1,302.90 4,016,552.98$                
Agreement Acres Negotiated Value
01 - Aten Family 20.00 -$                               
02 - D. Johnson 48.00 -$                               
03 - G. Hubbard 84.00 -$                               
06 - NPPD 115.00 -$                               


Total 267.00 -$                               







PAWNEE
Complex Total 484.04 2,585,000.00$       


Purchased Acres Dollars
Volentine 2014002 (1404) 233.00 1,350,000.00$                
BELF 2015002 (0832) 251.04 1,235,000.00$                 


Total 484.04 2,585,000.00$                


FORT KEARNY
Complex Total 2,190.08 3,343,359.68$       


Purchased Acres Dollars
Fox 2009001 (0842) 181.59 582,442.76$                   
Hickory Farms 2009001-1401 (1315) (3.83)
Hostetler 2009004 (0847) 331.62 696,920.00$                   


2009004-10001 (0925) (0.30) -$                               
2009004-10002 (0923) 0.34 -$                               


Sherrerd 2010003 (0805) EASEMENT 304.37 304,370.00$                   
Wyoming 2008001 455.29 -$                               
Blessing 2012003 (1110) 195.90 1,023,355.00$                
BELF Trade 2012003-15001 (1406) (710,000.00)$                 
Speidell 2015001 (1227) 750.10 1,496,136.42$                
CWA 2015001-15002 (1507) (25.00) (49,864.50)$                   


Total 2,190.08 3,343,359.68$                


Complex Total 834.00 -$                      
GIBBON TO MINDEN


Agreement Acres Dollars
Audubon 09 - Rowe 783.00 -$                               
Younkin 2014001 51.00 -$                               


Total 834.00 -$                               


SHOEMAKER ISLAND
Complex Total 1,745.88 3,674,042.40$       


Purchased Acres Dollars
Binfield 2010004 (0918) 1,525.88 2,903,672.00$                
Leaman West 2011001 (1001) 130.00 770,370.40$                   


Total 1,655.88 3,674,042.40$                
Agreement Acres Negotiated Value
07 - WCMT 40.00 -$                               
08 - Foote & Osborne 50.00 -$                               


Total 90.00 -$                               


ALDA TO GRAND ISLAND
Complex Total 286.00 -$                      


Purchased Acres Dollars
M. Meadows 2012005 (1210) 286.00 1,350,000.00$                
Speidell Trade 1408 (1,350,000.00)$              


Total 286.00 -$                               







NON COMPLEX
Non Complex Total 645.17 2,912,856.73$       


Goal 800.00
Acres remaining for 1st Increment Goal 154.83


OFF CHANNEL SAND AND WATER
Off Channel Non Complex Total 391.15 1,957,856.73$       


Goal 400.00
Acres remaining for 1st Increment Goal 8.85


Purchased Acres Dollars
Broadfoot N. 2009008 (0849) 523.49 2,105,150.00$                


2009008-11001 (1020) (3.45) -$                               
2009008-11002 (1006) 1.46 (4,100.00)$                     
2009008-11003 (1009) (0.91) -$                               


Sale 2009008-15001 (1221) (96.60) (362,408.59)$                   
Hoskins 2013002 (1017) 5.00 8,000.00$                       
Sale 2009008-14001 (1205 & 1206) (212.84) (854,373.28)$                 
Net Cost 2009008 Sub Total 216.15 892,268.13$                   


Leaman East 2011001 (1001) 140.00 829,629.60$                   
Follmer Alda pit 2011002 (1019) 75.00 400,000.00$                   
Auction 2011001-14001 (1217) (55.00) (201,541.00)$                 


Total 376.15 1,920,356.73$                
Leased Acres Dollars


Broadfoot K. 2010002 (0818 ) 15.00 37,500.00$                     
Total 15.00 37,500.00$                      


PALUSTRINE WETLANDS
Palustrine Non Complex Total 254.02 955,000.00$          


Goal 400.00
Acres remaining for 1st Increment Goal 145.98


Purchased Acres Dollars
DeBore 2012004 (1203) 100.72 376,000.00$                   
Liehs 2013001 (1114) 153.30 579,000.00$                   


Total 254.02 955,000.00$                    


CLEAN WATER ACT ACRES
CWA Total 25.00 60,629.87$            


CWA 2015001-15002 (1507) 25.00 60,629.87$                     





		Sheet2






Office of the Executive Director 
4111 4th Avenue, Suite 6 


Kearney, NE 68847 
Phone:  (308) 237-5728 


Fax:  (308) 237-4651 
 


 


 


 


May 23, 2016 
 
Robin Marshall 
2033 Central Ave 
Kearney, NE  68847 
 
Dear Mr. Marshall: 
 
Thank you for taking the time to stop by the office on Monday, May 9th, and visiting about your 
concerns of water on your property this spring.  This has been a very unusual spring and we 
appreciate the chance to visit about Program water and the land we use to improve habitat for our 
three threatened or endangered bird species.  
 
First I wanted to identify the things we spoke about to make sure we are discussing the same 
conditions and locations.  Then I will share with you our information collected regularly and the 
detailed information about surrounding lands going back several years.  
 
You said you have been concerned that several things may have affected conditions on your land 
in the North West ¼ of Section 14, Township 8 North, Township 19 West, in Phelps County.  You 
also call this the Guyer farm.  This property is bounded on the west side by county road J.  Your 
other land is in the east ½ of Section 14, Township 8 North, Township 19 West, in Phelps County. 
You call this the Crawford farm and it is bounded on the east side by county road K.  
 
The photos you provided were helpful; now on to your points.  
 
You believe that land the Platte River Recovery Implementation Foundation (PRRIF) owns 
beginning one mile west of your land, and the management of the water on PRRIF land for habitat, 
may be causing water to stand on your properties.  You felt that ground water pumping in the fall 
and spring, when migrating birds are passing through the area, could be increasing groundwater 
levels and affecting your properties.  You brought the pictures to show this year’s standing water 
in your fields and on the land west of road J as support that our activity might be part of the 
problem.  
 
It is true that groundwater flows generally toward the north east in this area, but it is not true that 
water levels in this area have risen beyond the immediate vicinity (on the order of a quarter mile) 
of our ponds as a result of our work.  Our work at PRRIF land has included an extensive monitoring 
program that provides very good records of past and present water levels of ground water and 







4111 4th Avenue, Suite 6 


Kearney, NE 68847  2 
 


stage in the Peterson Ditch.  We have several monitoring wells in the area and keep detailed 
records showing changes in the groundwater levels.  The pumping into our three water 
impoundments has been very limited and shown no rise in local groundwater levels over the past 
3 years beyond the immediate vicinity of the western most ponds.  Tri Basin NRD monitoring well 
records confirm this observation.  We also work with our first neighbor to the east, (the Peterson 
family); to make sure we are not affecting their property with our activities.  They have had no 
increased water on their property as a result of our limited pumping into water structures on our 
land.  The Peterson family also had two impoundments built before they purchased the 240 acre 
site just west of your land.  Our pumping this year has not caused additional water on their 
property.  The pumping we do is limited to 70 days or less in the spring and 70 days or less in the 
fall.  This spring we only pumped for 45 days and stopped before the rain events.   
 
All evidence indicates that both increased surface water accumulation and high groundwater 
levels this spring is the result of significant rainfall and the protracted high flows in the Platte River.  
You must be aware of the large amount of rainfall in this area; about 7.5 inches in the last two 
weeks of April with about 4.5 inches of this falling in just three days.  This extraordinary amount of 
rain in conjunction with high groundwater levels resulting from protracted high river flows 
prevented rain water from infiltrating into the soil resulting in the standing surface water and 
delays in drying down of the soil to allow for planting.  Prior to the recent rain events none of the 
Peterson land was wet.  After the rain events, water showed up on the surface of their land and in 
the ditches as your pictures show.  
 
After your visit Monday, Art Marshall called Tuesday May 10thto make sure I understood some 
additional information.  Art felt we caused the wet conditions because we pumped on PRRIF land. 
Art asked about our structures in the Peterson Ditch.  I explained that our water checks are 
backing water upon our land and not affecting the downstream flows.  Art thinks they are 
affecting your land but our data does not support this conclusion.  He then moved on to say the 
Pederson land east of us is wet and I reminded him that this property actually had things done to it 
to hold water on that parcel of land.  Two structures were built to hold water in high rainfall 
events.  This should have helped your situation by detaining water that might have flowed on to 
your property.  Art told me that he has farmed for 40 years and things seem to be different since 
we are pumping and since we checked the Peterson Ditch.  Finally he said one of three things 
needs to happen:  
1. We dig a ditch south to north along road J straight to the river to drain water and keep it away 
from your farm ground. 
2. We stop letting water through to affect your land. 
3. We buy you out and get you better farm ground somewhere else.  
 
I think we have addressed everyone’s concern in this letter, but if not or if I have represented 
anything inaccurately please let me know.  In looking at the land Monday night May 16th, 2016 it 
appears you have planted the land and all surface water seems to be going away.  That appears to 
be from reduced rainfall and the water moving down into the soil profile.  Again this process is 
slower this year due to the high flows in the Platte River.  In reviewing past years planting and 







4111 4th Avenue, Suite 6 


Kearney, NE 68847  3 
 


growing crop photographs, the areas you did not plant this year appear the same areas that have 
not been planted in prior years of high groundwater levels.  
 
While we do not feel responsible for the rainfall or the wet conditions this spring, we will be happy 
to discuss acquiring the land in the North West ¼ of Section 14, Township 8 North, Township 19 
West, in Phelps County.  We are willing and looking for available properties like this one to help 
satisfy goals of the program.  If you are interested please let me know.  
 
If we do not hear back from you we will move forward with program objectives with the 
understanding that you concur with our analysis of the conditions that have made this situation 
occur.  
 
Thank you for the discussion.  
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
 
 
Bruce Sackett 


Director of Acquisitions 


 
Mobile: 402 450-3527 


Email: Sackettb@headwaterscorp.com 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 



mailto:Sackettb@headwaterscorp.com











          Platte River Implementation Program
                 Governance Committee Monthly Financial Status Report


 
 


Expenditures
Through BY 2015


Budget
 2016


Budgets
to Date


Expenditures
for BY 2016


2016 Budget 
remaining


5/31/2016


Executive Director's Office $15,846,981.19 $2,370,000.00 $18,216,981.19 $867,677.74 $1,502,322.26


Governance Committee /Finance Committee $2,401,610.22 $342,500.00 $2,744,110.22 $137,873.10 $204,626.90


Program Advisory Committees $27,538.19 $8,300.00 $35,838.19 $1,854.16 $6,445.84


Land Plan Implementation $26,500,026.73 $916,125.00 $27,416,151.73 $352,783.38 $563,341.62


Water Plan Implementation $23,580,889.27 $17,973,600.00 $41,554,489.27 $539,296.95 $17,434,303.05


AMP Experimental Design $3,267,649.11 $0.00 $3,267,649.11 $0.00


AMP Implementation Activities $5,204,894.64 $1,210,526.00 $6,415,420.64 $144,671.60 $1,065,854.40


Integrated Monitoring & Research Plan Activities $14,577,794.75 $1,723,400.00 $16,301,194.75 $370,834.36 $1,352,565.64


AMP Independent Science Review $1,552,206.71 $329,800.00 $1,882,006.71 $67,352.42 $262,447.58


$92,959,590.81 $24,874,251.00 $117,833,841.81


 BUDGET SUMMARY:
Budgets Adjusted Through BY2015*


BY 2016 Budget:


Budgets to Date:


Expenditures to Date:


"Available" Budget


CASHFLOW SUMMARY:


$2,482,343.71 $22,391,907.29


$92,959,590.81


$24,874,251.00


$117,833,841.81


$95,441,934.52


$22,391,907.29


Contributions     Income Total Expenditures Balance


$25,443,868.65Colorado $1,007,235.50 $26,451,104.15 $12,236,622.32 $14,214,481.83


$77,316,682.48 $2,001,529.56Department of Interior $80,142,616.90$79,318,212.04 ($824,404.86)


$3,045,353.36 $90,776.43Wyoming $3,062,695.30$3,136,129.79 $73,434.49


$105,805,904.49 $3,099,541.49 $108,905,445.98 $95,441,934.52 $13,463,511.46


Percentage of 
Expenditures Allocated 


to Date


Percentage due per 
Contractual 
Obligation


12.82%Colorado


83.97%


3.21%


Department of Interior


Wyoming


12.82%


   3.21%


83.97%








PRRIP Budget/Expenditures by year 


5/31/2016


2008 
Expenditures


2009 
Expenditures


2010 
Expenditures


2011 
Expenditures


2012 
Expenditures


2007 
Expenditures


2013
Expenditures


2014
Expenditures


2016
Budget


2017
Budget


2018
Budget


2019
Budget


2015
Expenditures


2015
Expenditures


Total
Budget


2016
Expenditures


Executive Director's Office


ED-1 $348,673.30 $1,220,138.33 $1,535,891.24 $1,650,847.94 $1,725,903.82 $1,845,945.69Salaries/Travel/Office Expenditures (FY8-FY19) $1,903,370.23 $1,991,367.46 $2,200,000.00 $2,200,000.00 $2,200,000.00 $2,200,000.00$1,950,486.96 $814,742.39


ED-2 $210,292.78 $90,468.91 $156,323.84 $88,096.51 $152,262.30 $172,961.05Administrative and Other Support Services (FY8-FY19) $63,318.90 $67,563.24 $100,000.00 $100,000.00 $100,000.00 $100,000.00$290,356.52 $29,967.93


ED-3 $30,310.63 $32,606.70 $50,381.58 $70,335.38Public Outreach (FY9-FY19) $64,973.54 $59,783.32 $70,000.00 $75,000.00 $70,000.00 $75,000.00$74,321.02 $22,967.42


$558,966.08 $1,310,607.24 $1,722,525.71 $1,771,551.15 $1,928,547.70 $2,089,242.12Project Totals $2,031,662.67 $2,118,714.02 $2,370,000.00 $2,375,000.00 $25,336,981.19$2,375,000.00 $2,370,000.00 $2,375,000.00$2,315,164.50$2,370,000.00 $867,677.74$867,677.74


Governance Committee /Finance Committee


GFC-1 $22,147.61 $77,178.48 $235,881.20 $206,470.89 $195,565.15 $327,323.13NCF fees (FY8-FY19) $414,896.52 $121,023.10 $250,000.00 $125,000.00 $125,000.00 $125,000.00$240,373.46 $57,295.31


GFC-2 $2,448.21 $41,834.00 $56,394.00 $62,632.00 $69,026.00 $64,870.55Pulse Flow and Other Insurance (FY8-FY19) $74,531.00 $77,212.00 $85,000.00 $80,000.00 $80,000.00 $80,000.00$75,228.00 $78,983.00


GFC-3 $1,001.82 $1,500.12 $3,378.95 $499.92 $2,720.26 $9,269.33Expenses, Meeting Rooms, etc. (FY8-FY19) $3,126.35 $7,535.39 $7,500.00 $3,100.00 $3,100.00 $3,100.00$7,542.78 $1,594.79


GFC-4 Pulse Flow Reserve (FY9-FY19) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


$25,597.64 $120,512.60 $295,654.15 $269,602.81 $267,311.41 $401,463.01Project Totals $492,553.87 $205,770.49 $342,500.00 $208,100.00 $3,368,410.22$208,100.00 $208,100.00 $208,100.00$323,144.24$342,500.00 $137,873.10$137,873.10


Program Advisory Committees


LAC-1 $201.36 $414.04 $245.56 $785.40 $1,283.14Expenses, Meeting Rooms, etc. (FY8-FY19) $921.36 $757.46 $1,100.00 $1,100.00 $1,100.00 $1,100.00$877.14 $98.12


WAC-1 $23.56 $2,330.90 $5,457.54Expenses, Meeting Rooms, etc. (FY8-FY19) $1,731.62 $1,107.48 $1,200.00 $2,700.00 $2,700.00 $2,700.00$1,597.30 $916.74


TAC-1 $820.00 $75.00 $864.30 $1,231.56 $2,246.87Expenses, Meeting Rooms, etc. (FY8-FY19) $2,436.72 $1,117.44 $6,000.00 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $2,000.00$1,012.44 $839.30


$1,021.36 $512.60 $1,109.86 $4,347.86 $8,987.55Project Totals $5,089.70 $2,982.38 $8,300.00 $5,800.00 $53,238.19$5,800.00 $5,800.00 $5,800.00$3,486.88$8,300.00 $1,854.16$1,854.16


Land Plan Implementation


LP-1 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


LP-3 $57,235.61 $8,875,890.01 $3,335,269.11 $2,108,612.42 $6,395,100.41Land Acquisition (FY9-FY12) $892,217.18 $1,615,655.97 $500,000.00 $500,000.00 $300,000.00 $300,000.00$369,765.76 $201,554.79


LP-4 $116,216.05 $587,818.14 $366,316.52 $314,190.47Land Management (FY9-FY19) $288,351.53 $239,294.96 $346,125.00 $310,000.00 $310,000.00 $310,000.00$264,309.05 $151,228.59


LP-5 $25,576.24 $48,087.64 $171,130.79Cottonwood Ranch Bridge Final Design & Construction (FY10) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


LP-6 $59,115.02 $48,726.16 $15,717.64Land Plan Special Advisors (FY10-FY19) $19,105.45 $19,704.70 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $20,000.00$15,166.40


LP-7 $50,000.00 $50,000.00Public Access Management (FY11-FY19) $50,065.00 $51,388.50 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 $50,000.00$50,000.00


$57,235.61 $9,017,682.30 $4,030,289.91 $2,744,785.89 $6,775,008.52Project Totals $1,249,739.16 $1,926,044.13 $916,125.00 $880,000.00 $29,656,151.73$880,000.00 $680,000.00 $680,000.00$699,241.21$916,125.00 $352,783.38$352,783.38


Water Plan Implementation


WP-1(a) $110,690.94 $10,805.50 $149,886.60 $36,104.18 $36,789.63 $28,297.28Active Channel Capacity Improvements (N Platte Channel above CNPPID Diversion Dam) $180,167.27 $30,856.11 $250,000.00 $250,000.00 $1,000,000.00 $0.00$29,761.30 $7,590.00


WP-1(b) $400,000.00 $200,000.00 $200,000.00Active Channel Capacity Improvements ( CNPPID Diversion Dam to Grand Island) $200,000.00 $100,000.00 $300,000.00 $200,000.00 $200,000.00 $200,000.00$200,000.00 $300,000.00


WP-2(a) $119,016.12 $5,969.84Water Management Study Phase 1 (FY7-FY8) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


WP-2(b) $150,000.00Water Management Study Phase II (FY8) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


WP-3 $23,471.00Test Flow Routing Model/2008 EA Augmented SDHF Pilot Study (FY9) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


WP-4 $29,272.57Water Action Plan (FY9-FY19) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


WP-4(a) $223,820.22Water Action Plan (J2 Rereg Reservoir) (FY09-FY19) $14,612,380.23 $14,292,000.00 $14,392,000.00 $14,392,000.00 $250,000.00


WP-4(b)i $6,790.86Water Action Plan (Phelps recharge) $151,050.00 $31,669.65 $447,000.00 $172,116.42 $178,605.47 $185,414.40$758,109.02 $99,016.47


WP-4(b)ii Water Action Plan (CPNRD recharge) $21,593.88 $1,000,000.00


WP-4(b)iii Water Action Plan (other recharge)


WP-4(c)i Water Action Plan No Cost NCCW $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


WP-4(c)ii Water Action Plan (Purchased NCCW


WP-4(d) $1,958,400.00Water Action Plan (Pathfinder Municipal Accnt) (FY12)


WP-4(e)  Water Action Plan (CO GW Mgmnt) (FY16-FY19) $0.00 $569,620.25 $569,620.25 $569,620.25


WP-4(f)i  Water Action Plan (CPNRD Leasing) (FY12-FY19) $34,156.50 $620,000.00 $996,292.58 $1,034,314.01 $1,074,086.03$685,013.16


WP-4(f)ii Water Action Plan (NPPD leasing) $117,000.00 $143,391.51 $148,399.31 $153,589.35$133,623.00


WP-4(f)iii Water Action Plan (CNPPID leasing-storage) $0.00 $946,400.00 $1,406,080.00 $1,462,323.20











2008 
Expenditures


2009 
Expenditures


2010 
Expenditures


2011 
Expenditures


2012 
Expenditures


2007 
Expenditures


2013
Expenditures


2014
Expenditures


2016
Budget


2017
Budget


2018
Budget


2019
Budget


2015
Expenditures


2015
Expenditures


Total
Budget


2016
Expenditures


WP-4(f)iv Water Action Plan (CNPPID leasing-irrigator) $450,000.00 $584,199.50 $781,894.36 $904,403.78


WP-4(f)v Water Action Plan (NPNRD leasing) $742,630.00 $983,454.30 $1,125,508.81


WP-4(f)vi CPNRD Groundwater Market $285,000.00


WP-4(g)  Water Action Plan (Water Mgmnt Incentives) (FY16-FY19) $0.00 $600,000.00 $600,000.00 $600,000.00


WP-4(h) Water Action Plan (NE GW Mgmnt) (FY12-FY19) $47,091.78 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


WP-5  Management Tool (FY10) $3,520.71 $33,658.41 $37,600.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00$177,800.59 $21,040.00


WP-6 $392,539.35 $486,884.73 $625,483.22 $133,455.96Feasibility Studies (FY09) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


WP-7 Water Acquisition (FY09-FY11) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


WP-8 $92,651.89 $141,029.41 $143,385.55Water Plan Special Advisors (FY10-FY19) $58,984.48 $77,852.14 $150,000.00 $100,000.00 $50,000.00 $50,000.00$191,947.11 $111,650.48


WP-9 $30,109.77 $17,147.85 $36,107.66Miscellaneous Water Resources Studies (FY10) $6,566.18 $25,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00$26,977.62


WP-11 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


$253,178.06 $166,775.34 $571,698.52 $1,045,750.57 $1,020,450.11 $2,730,257.53Project Totals $15,287,350.97 $302,196.37 $17,973,600.00 $19,696,650.26 $89,170,453.05$19,696,650.26 $21,344,367.70 $6,574,945.82$2,203,231.80$17,973,600.00 $539,296.95$539,296.95


AMP Experimental Design


PD-4 $9,599.55 $49,025.72 $274.09AMP Workshops (FY09-FY19) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


PD-12 $348,094.61 $177,467.55Model Application (FY09-FY12) $1,997.10 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


PD-13 $89,208.79 $320,791.21 $145,831.72 $505,117.78Sediment Augmentation Feasibility Analysis, Design, and Permitting (FY09-FY12) $681,104.94 $237,060.30 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


PD-14 $20,000.00Whooping Crane Conservation Action Plan (CAP) Development (FY09) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


PD-19 $81,677.06 $104,277.64 $59,500.76Flow Consolidation Conceptual Design 10-11) $43,042.60 $37,720.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


PD-20 $31,375.94 $203,614.19Wet Meadow Restoration  on Tract 2009001 (FY11-FY12) $120,867.56 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


EXD-1 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


$9,599.55 $49,025.72 $109,482.88 $750,562.88 $458,952.85 $768,232.73Project Totals $847,012.20 $274,780.30 $0.00 $0.00 $3,267,649.11$0.00 $0.00 $0.00$0.00


AMP Implementation Activities


IA-1 $13,620.15AMWG $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


LP-2 $3,675.00 $187,879.35 $493,536.21 $650,585.59 $744,190.85FSM/MCM Actions at Habitat Complexes (FY08-FY19) $339,691.90 $260,341.18 $815,366.00 $300,000.00 $300,000.00 $100,000.00$546,036.47 $112,977.82


LP-2(a) $251,710.102007 Cottonwood Maintainance $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


LP-2(b) $848,836.22Pre-2007 Cottonwood Ranch Maint. $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


WP-10 $46,872.33 $67,876.55Environmental Account SDHF (FY08-FY19) $42,940.00 $0.00 $0.00 $150,000.00 $0.00


PD-7 Program Anchor Points (FY09) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


PD-15 $50,000.00 $127,993.21 $30,162.13AMP Permits (FY09-FY19) $31,287.93 $80,000.00 $20,000.00 $0.00 $0.00$3,428.52 $9,973.78


PD-16 Invasives Strategy (FY09-FY19) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


PD-18 $130,697.22 $33,419.07 $1,983.66 $66,000.00AMP-Related Equipment (FY09-FY19) $66,000.00 $75,000.00 $65,160.00 $75,000.00 $75,000.00 $75,000.00$75,000.00 $21,720.00


PD-22 Sediment Augmentation Feasibility Analysis, Design, and Permitting (FY09-FY12) $250,000.00 $400,000.00 $400,000.00 $400,000.00$16,131.00


$17,295.15 $1,147,418.65 $386,453.12 $576,955.28 $780,562.46 $840,352.98Project Totals $479,919.83 $335,341.18 $1,210,526.00 $795,000.00 $8,710,420.64$795,000.00 $925,000.00 $575,000.00$640,595.99$1,210,526.00 $144,671.60$144,671.60


Integrated Monitoring & Research Plan Activities


G-1 $250,000.00 $41,000.00 $94,150.00LiDAR Implementation (FY09-FY19) $183,100.00 $94,100.00 $200,000.00 $125,000.00 $125,000.00 $125,000.00$170,560.00 $50,400.00


G-2 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $20,850.00 $22,309.50 $22,309.50Aerial Photography (FY08-FY19)


G-3 Revise & Update Geomorphology Monitoring Protocol (FY07-FY08) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


G-4 Develop Scope of Work for 2008 System-Level Geomorphic Monitoring $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


G-5 $380,500.00 $320,163.00 $414,654.25 $511,456.64Geomorphology/In-Channel Vegetation Monitoring (FY09-FY19) $517,652.59 $472,685.05 $513,000.00 $495,000.00 $495,000.00 $495,000.00$552,076.85 $21,844.34


H-2 $6,885.00 $20,807.14 $23,194.24 $47,150.49 $32,994.01 $28,374.81Program Stream Gages (FY08-FY19) $18,869.38 $36,810.78 $38,000.00 $38,000.00 $38,000.00 $38,000.00$22,620.17 $4,559.39


H-4,5 Unsteady Flow Model Calibration (FY07) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


IMRP-1 SDHF Monitoring (FY09-FY19) $80.60 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


IMRP-2 $93,684.44 $38,712.82 $221,712.19 $172,182.70AMP Directed Research Projects (FY09-FY19) $308,266.07 $143,326.01 $90,000.00 $100,000.00 $100,000.00 $100,000.00$50,828.94 $22,696.84


IMRP-3 $127,732.32 $129,371.60 $54,460.53Adaptive Management Plan Special Advisors (FY10-FY19) $43,575.89 $44,987.98 $160,000.00 $100,000.00 $100,000.00 $100,000.00$72,591.01 $99,347.03


IMRP-4 $248,828.11 $200,971.69FSM "Proof of Concept" Activities @ Elm Creek Complex (FY11-FY16) $268,157.77 $20,551.51 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00$4,818.27


IMRP-5 $25,098.27FMS "Proof of Concept" Activities @ Shoemaker Island $370,571.41 $342,057.01 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00$286,833.21 $34,893.68


IMRP-6 $20,000.00Habitat Availability Analysis $147,227.00 $50,000.00 $40,000.00 $40,000.00 $40,000.00$43,832.00


PD-8 $125,000.00 $72,849.67 $453,767.64 $154,925.53 $151,460.90Database Management System Development & Maintenance (FY08-FY19) $109,982.54 $113,673.26 $81,000.00 $110,000.00 $110,000.00 $110,000.00$110,339.72 $21,714.01


PS-1 $30,979.25Pallid Sturgeon Existing Information Review/Summary (FY08) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00











2008 
Expenditures


2009 
Expenditures


2010 
Expenditures


2011 
Expenditures


2012 
Expenditures


2007 
Expenditures


2013
Expenditures


2014
Expenditures


2016
Budget


2017
Budget


2018
Budget


2019
Budget


2015
Expenditures


2015
Expenditures


Total
Budget


2016
Expenditures


PS-2 $2,336.36 $46,458.42 $168,195.10 $10,633.50Lower Platte River Stage Change Study (FY08-FY09) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


TP-1 $52,599.56 $210,085.04 $233,439.79Tern & Plover Monitoring (FY08-FY19) $266,780.19 $301,309.94 $365,000.00 $280,000.00 $280,000.00 $280,000.00$286,555.69 $57,697.79


TP-2 Finish Forage Fish Monitoring Protocol (FY07-FY08) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


TP-3 Forage Fish Monitoring (FY08-FY19) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


TP-4 $100,355.96 $139,645.92Tern & Plover Foraging Habits Study (FY09-FY10) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


TP-5 $37,638.22Analysis of CA-Collected Tern/Plover Monitoring Data (FY08) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


WC-1 $126,521.20 $111,438.30 $135,637.58 $132,917.31 $186,779.28 $208,492.87Whooping Crane Monitoring(FY 08-FY19) $261,084.18 $268,278.10 $215,000.00 $310,000.00 $310,000.00 $310,000.00$264,492.78 $52,853.64


WC-2 $32,497.42 $6,454.48Analysis of CA-Collected Whooping Crane Monitoring Data (FY08) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


WC-3 $125,000.00 $125,000.00 $41,999.99 $143,615.93Whooping Crane Telemetry Tracking (FY09-FY12) $61,066.98 $29,211.27 $11,400.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00$12,260.49 $4,625.52


WC-4 $4,360.00 $23,120.00Water Surface Estimation at Crane Use Sites (FY07-FY08) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


WC-5 $18,750.00IGERT Whooping Crane Habitat Selection Project $6,250.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


WC-6 Whooping Crane Stopover Site Evaluation Project (FY13-FY15) $91,643.05 $70,957.91 $32,854.21 $202.12


WMV-1 $10,334.40 $5,196.36Vegetation Mapping Effort (FY07-FY08) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


WMV-2 $50,000.00Wet Meadows Information Review and CEM Refinement (FY10) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


WQ-1 $40,000.00 $175,043.20 $176,747.30 $225,022.39 $156,084.25Water Quality Monitoring (FY09-FY11) $190,263.40 $43,675.17 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


$192,934.38 $707,092.17 $1,295,310.19 $1,647,379.36 $1,979,681.89 $2,018,538.38Project Totals $2,844,490.45 $1,981,704.59 $1,723,400.00 $1,598,000.00 $21,095,194.75$1,598,000.00 $1,598,000.00 $1,598,000.00$1,910,663.34$1,723,400.00 $370,834.36$370,834.36


AMP Independent Science Review


ISAC-1 $126,168.07 $129,192.27 $178,034.77 $191,375.02ISAC Stipends & Expenses (FY09-FY19) $167,400.31 $198,733.44 $203,400.00 $200,000.00 $200,000.00 $200,000.00$159,827.81 $60,352.42


ISAC-2 $12,138.65 $1,250.93Meetings, Expenses, etc. (FY08) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


ISAC-3 Initial Establishment /Planning Session Expenses (FY08) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00


PD-3 $49,500.00 $59,845.50 $43,046.75AMP & IMRP Peer Review (FY09-FY19) $8,940.75 $26,492.80 $107,400.00 $200,000.00 $200,000.00 $200,000.00$94,970.00 $7,000.00


PD-11 $24,340.91 $7,192.33 $11,399.38AMP Reporting (FY09-FY19) $13,162.07 $9,137.62 $10,000.00 $14,000.00 $14,000.00 $14,000.00$13,634.83


PD-21 PRRIP Publications $18,977.40 $9,000.00 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $20,000.00$7,445.10


$187,806.72 $153,533.18 $246,323.53 $245,821.15Project Totals $189,503.13 $253,341.26 $329,800.00 $434,000.00 $3,184,006.71$434,000.00 $434,000.00 $434,000.00$275,877.74$329,800.00 $67,352.42$67,352.42


$1,058,592.22 $3,559,179.93 $13,587,723.45 $10,245,625.14 $9,430,963.70 $15,877,903.97Grand Total $23,427,321.98 $7,400,874.72 $24,874,251.00 $25,992,550.26 $27,565,267.70$27,565,267.70 $12,450,845.82 $183,842,505.59$8,371,405.70 $2,482,343.71












PLATTE RIVER RECREATION ACCESS 
 


2015-16 Hunter User on PRRA 


Allowed Activities: deer hunting, turkey hunting, waterfowl hunting, small game hunting, fishing, mushroom collecting, 


birdwatching, and hiking. Waterfowl hunting is not allowed on Areas A and G. Deer hunting is not allowed on Area M.  


Area A 


 September 1-30, 2015 


o 4 Different users 


o 7 Reservations issued 


o 120 Available reservations (30 days X 4 possible daily reservations) 


o 5.8% Reserved 


 November 23, 2015- February 9, 2016 


o 17 Different users 


o 51 Reservations issued 


o 316 Available reservations (79 days X 4 possible daily reservations) 


o 16.1% Reserved 


Area B 


 September 1-30, 2015 


o 13 Different users 


o 47 Reservations issued 


o 180 Available reservations (30 days X 6 possible daily reservations) 


o 26.1% Reserved 


 November 23, 2015- February 9, 2016 


o 32 Different users 


o 176 Reservations issued 


o 474 Available reservations (79 days X 6 possible daily reservations) 


o 37.1% Reserved 


Area C 


 September 1-30, 2015 


o 12 Different users 


o 40 Reservations issued 


o 120 Available reservations (30 days X 4 possible daily reservations) 


o 33.3% Reserved 


 November 23, 2015- February 9, 2016 


o 53 Different users 


o 180 Reservations issued 


o 316 Available reservations (79 days X 4 possible daily reservations) 


o 57.0% Reserved 







PLATTE RIVER RECREATION ACCESS 
 
Area D 


 September 1-30, 2015 


o 20 Different users 


o 48 Reservations issued 


o 60 Available reservations (30 days X 2 possible daily reservations) 


o 80.0% Reserved 


 November 23, 2015- February 9, 2016 


o 40 Different users 


o 110 Reservations issued 


o 158 Available reservations (79 days X 2 possible daily reservations) 


o 69.6% Reserved 


Area E 


 September 1-30, 2015 


o 24 Different users 


o 57 Reservations issued 


o 120 Available reservations (30 days X 4 possible daily reservations) 


o 47.5% Reserved 


 November 23, 2015- February 9, 2016 


o 58 Different users 


o 220 Reservations issued 


o 316 Available reservations (79 days X 4 possible daily reservations) 


o 69.6% Reserved 


Area F 


 September 1-30, 2015 


o 4 Different users 


o 15 Reservations issued 


o 60 Available reservations (30 days X 2 possible daily reservations) 


o 25.0% Reserved 


 November 23, 2015- February 9, 2016 


o 12 Different users 


o 27 Reservations issued 


o 158 Available reservations (79 days X 2 possible daily reservations) 


o 17.1% Reserved 


  







PLATTE RIVER RECREATION ACCESS 
 
Area G 


 September 1-30, 2015 


o 6 Different users 


o 10 Reservations issued 


o 120 Available reservations (30 days X 4 possible daily reservations) 


o 8.3% Reserved 


 November 23, 2015- February 9, 2016 


o 12 Different users 


o 33 Reservations issued 


o 316 Available reservations (79 days X 4 possible daily reservations) 


o 10.4% Reserved 


Area I 


 September 1-30, 2015 


o 28 Different users 


o 81 Reservations issued 


o 240 Available reservations (30 days X 8 possible daily reservations) 


o 33.8% Reserved 


 November 23, 2015- February 9, 2016 


o 77 Different users 


o 273 Reservations issued 


o 632 Available reservations (79 days X 8 possible daily reservations) 


o 43.2% Reserved 


Area K 


 September 1-30, 2015 


o 20 Different users 


o 50 Reservations issued 


o 150 Available reservations (30 days X 5 possible daily reservations) 


o 33.3% Reserved 


 November 23, 2015- February 9, 2016 


o 48 Different users 


o 171 Reservations issued 


o 395 Available reservations (79 days X 5 possible daily reservations) 


o 43.3% Reserved 


  







PLATTE RIVER RECREATION ACCESS 
 
Area L 


 September 1-30, 2015 


o 13 Different users 


o 22 Reservations issued 


o 270 Available reservations (30 days X 9 possible daily reservations) 


o 8.1% Reserved 


 November 23, 2015- February 9, 2016 


o 42 Different users 


o 142 Reservations issued 


o 711 Available reservations (79 days X 9 possible daily reservations) 


o 20.0% Reserved 


Area M (No deer hunting; open to other uses during November rifle season) 


 September 1-30, 2015 


o 0 Different users 


o 0 Reservations issued 


o 30 Available reservations (30 days X 1 possible daily reservation) 


o 0.0% Reserved 


 November 16, 2015- February 9, 2016 


o 4 Different users 


o 8 Reservations issued 


o 86 Available reservations (86 days X 1 possible daily reservation) 


o 9.3% Reserved 


  







PLATTE RIVER RECREATION ACCESS 
 
-Access is by written permission only, granted through online system at www.platteaccess.org. 


-Allowed activities: deer hunting, turkey hunting, waterfowl hunting, small game hunting, fishing, mushroom 


collecting, birdwatching, and hiking. Some sites may have additional restrictions. 


-A limited number of people are granted access per day, determined by size of properties (generally one person 


per 100 acres). 


-Properties are owned by Platte River Recovery Implementation Program and managed for the benefit of 


threatened and endangered species: Whooping Crane, Least Tern, and Piping Plover. 


-Recreation access is managed by Nebraska Game and Parks. Access is allowed during periods when it won’t 


interfere with target species. 


 


  


Area Acres Users Users (Rifle Season) 


A 303 4 4 


B 565 6 4 


C 330 4 4 


D 200 2 2 


E 455 4 4 


F 180 2 2 


G 330 4 4 


I 720 8 6 


K 458 5 5 


L 949 9 8 


M 153 1 - 


CALENDAR OF ACCESS 
2016 


January 1- March 22- Open Access 
March 23- May 10- No Access 
May 11- August 15- Limited Access 
August 16- September 30- Open Access 
October 1- November 15- No Access 
November 16- November 20- Access by 
Lottery Drawing 
November 21- December 31- Open Access 
Rifle Application Period- September 1-30 
Website Dates- Added on July 1, 2016 


through June 30, 2017 


Recreation Access Questions: 
Andrew Furman 
308-865-5338 
ngpc.platteaccess@nebraska.gov 


More Information about PRRIP: 
308-237-5728 
www.platteriverprogram.org 







PLATTE RIVER RECREATION ACCESS 
 
Reservation Rate (permission slips issued/available reservations) 


 


September November-February  


 2013 2014 2015 2013-2014 2014-2015 2015-2016 


A (Cook/Dyer) 3.3% 25.0% 5.8% 7.7% 54.5% 16.1% 
B (Morse) 11.6% 1.1% 26.1% 22.9% 35.5% 37.1% 
C (Stall) 26.6% 71.7% 33.3% 54.8% 56.8% 57.0% 
D (McCormick) 63.3% 95.0% 80.0% 69.4% 63.0% 69.6% 
E (Wyoming) 40.0% 49.2% 47.5% 69.8% 76.3% 69.6% 
F (Fox) 8.3% 16.7% 25.0% 4.5% 14.3% 17.1% 
G (Hostetler) 0.8% 5.8% 8.3% 2.5% 7.1% 10.4% 
H (Newark) 46.6% - - 47.6% - - 
I (Johns) 18.7% 26.7% 33.8% 43.5% 34.6% 43.2% 
J (Mart. Mead.) 62.2% 45.6% - 24.2% 14.7% - 
K (Binfield N) - 18.0% 33.3% - 39.2% 43.3% 
L (Binfield S) - 2.2% 8.1% - 13.3% 20.0% 
M (Liehs) - - 0.0% - - 9.3% 


 


Individual Users 


 


September November-February  


 2013 2014 2015 2013-2014 2014-2015 2015-2016 


A (Cook/Dyer) 3 10 4 16 41 17 
B (Morse) 11 1 13 28 44 32 
C (Stall) 11 21 12 45 49 53 
D (McCormick) 10 12 20 40 37 40 
E (Wyoming) 17 19 24 48 50 58 
F (Fox) 5 7 4 5 7 12 
G (Hostetler) 1 2 6 4 7 12 
H (Newark) 16 - - 48 - - 
I (Johns) 19 28 28 68 59 77 
J (Mart. Mead.) 8 5 - 26 17 - 
K (Binfield N) - 11 20 - 39 48 
L (Binfield S) - 5 13 - 24 42 
M (Liehs) - - 0 - - 4 


 


Survey Response Rate 


 2013 2014 2015 


Rifle Season 24 responses/ 38 users= 
63.2% 


28 responses/ 46 users= 
60.9% 


27 responses/ 43 users= 
62.8% 


General Access 93 responses/ 263 users= 
35.4% 


120 responses/ 252 users= 
47.6% 


114 responses/ 287 users= 
39.7% 


 







8.77% 10


9.65% 11


27.19% 31


28.95% 33


26.32% 30


4.39% 5


8.77% 10


28.07% 32


23.68% 27


Q1 Which area did you receive a permission
slip for? (Check all that apply)


Answered: 114 Skipped: 0


Area A


Area B


Area C


Area D


Area E


Area F


Area G


Area I


Area K


Area L


Area M


0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%


Answer Choices Responses


Area A


Area B


Area C


Area D


Area E


Area F


Area G


Area I


Area K


1 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







17.54% 20


3.51% 4


93.69% 104


1.80% 2


10.81% 12


2.70% 3


1.80% 2


8.11% 9


Total Respondents: 114  


Q2 Which of the recreational activities did
you utilize on these areas? (Check all that


apply)
Answered: 111 Skipped: 3


Total Respondents: 111  


# Other (please specify) Date


1 shed hunting 2/5/2016 9:41 AM


2 Was not able to hunt. River was flooded 2/4/2016 12:49 PM


3 wanted to use it for bow hunting but the hunting time prior to rifle season was not open 2/2/2016 11:28 AM


4 Scouting 2/1/2016 6:17 PM


5 Photography 2/1/2016 2:29 PM


6 Non could not get access to the gates on the platte river 2/1/2016 2:07 PM


Area L


Area M


Hunting


Fishing


Hiking


Bird Watching


Mushroom
Hunting


Other (please
specify)


0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%


Answer Choices Responses


Hunting


Fishing


Hiking


Bird Watching


Mushroom Hunting


Other (please specify)


2 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







9.88% 8


7.41% 6


0.00% 0


1.23% 1


1.23% 1


2.47% 2


7 Photography 1/25/2016 7:28 PM


8 did not go 1/25/2016 5:50 PM


9 Shed hunting 1/25/2016 10:38 AM


Q3 If you used these areas for hiking or bird
watching, what month or months did you


utilize them? (Check all that apply)
Answered: 81 Skipped: 33


March


May


June


July


August


September


November


December


January


February


Did not hike
or bird watch


0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%


Answer Choices Responses


March


May


June


July


August


September


3 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







6.17% 5


9.88% 8


11.11% 9


4.94% 4


64.20% 52


4.50% 5


19.82% 22


17.12% 19


31.53% 35


27.03% 30


Total Respondents: 81  


Q4 How many days did you access these
properties?


Answered: 111 Skipped: 3


Total 111


Q5 Did you also hunt other property during
those days or other parts of the hunting


season?
Answered: 111 Skipped: 3


November


December


January


February


Did not hike or bird watch


Zero days


One day


Two days


Three to five
days


More than five
days


0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%


Answer Choices Responses


Zero days


One day


Two days


Three to five days


More than five days


4 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







71.17% 79


28.83% 32


77.50% 62


32.50% 26


60.00% 48


Total 111


Q6 If you answered "yes" to the previous
question, what type of other properties did


you hunt? Check all that apply.
Answered: 80 Skipped: 34


Total Respondents: 80  


Q7 How far do you live, in miles, from the
area you received a permission slip for?


Yes


No


0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%


Answer Choices Responses


Yes


No


Private
property wit...


Private
property ope...


Publicly owned
property tha...


0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%


Answer Choices Responses


Private property with landowner permission


Private property open to public hunting such as NGPC Open Fields and Waters properties


Publicly owned property that is open to public hunting


5 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







One way travel, not round trip. If you hunted
multiple sites please give mileage for the


one that is the greatest distance from your
home.


Answered: 111 Skipped: 3


# Responses Date


1 25 2/17/2016 9:55 PM


2 25 miles 2/15/2016 12:18 PM


3 approx 25 miles 2/15/2016 11:31 AM


4 40 2/15/2016 5:28 AM


5 625 2/11/2016 8:10 PM


6 25 miles 2/11/2016 7:46 PM


7 40 2/11/2016 7:37 PM


8 250 2/11/2016 11:02 AM


9 30 2/11/2016 7:51 AM


10 700 miles 2/10/2016 9:47 PM


11 35 miles 2/10/2016 7:57 PM


12 10 miles 2/10/2016 6:15 PM


13 20 2/10/2016 5:03 PM


14 15 2/10/2016 3:11 PM


15 500 miles 2/10/2016 2:18 PM


16 175 2/10/2016 1:18 PM


17 60 2/10/2016 1:08 PM


18 15 2/10/2016 1:04 PM


19 178 2/10/2016 12:19 PM


20 100 2/10/2016 12:19 PM


21 10 2/10/2016 11:58 AM


22 20 2/10/2016 11:54 AM


23 30 2/10/2016 11:21 AM


24 20 2/10/2016 11:16 AM


25 15 2/10/2016 11:03 AM


26 35 2/10/2016 10:58 AM


27 30 2/10/2016 10:46 AM


28 8 2/10/2016 10:37 AM


29 30min 2/10/2016 10:32 AM


30 15 2/10/2016 10:20 AM


31 20 2/10/2016 10:11 AM


32 20 2/10/2016 9:54 AM


33 675 2/9/2016 10:00 PM


6 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







34 35 2/9/2016 1:32 PM


35 30 2/9/2016 9:35 AM


36 10 2/8/2016 11:35 PM


37 20 2/8/2016 4:04 PM


38 20 miles 2/8/2016 9:01 AM


39 15-20 miles 2/6/2016 9:10 AM


40 150 2/5/2016 11:05 AM


41 30 2/5/2016 9:42 AM


42 4 2/4/2016 9:16 PM


43 250 miles 2/4/2016 12:52 PM


44 10 miles 2/2/2016 11:29 AM


45 30 2/2/2016 10:40 AM


46 20 miles 2/2/2016 6:26 AM


47 10 2/1/2016 9:47 PM


48 100 2/1/2016 6:18 PM


49 8 miles 2/1/2016 3:17 PM


50 989 miles 2/1/2016 3:16 PM


51 130 2/1/2016 3:05 PM


52 9 2/1/2016 3:00 PM


53 30 2/1/2016 2:41 PM


54 90 miles 2/1/2016 2:31 PM


55 20 miles 2/1/2016 2:29 PM


56 500 2/1/2016 2:22 PM


57 20 2/1/2016 2:22 PM


58 30 2/1/2016 2:13 PM


59 14 2/1/2016 2:07 PM


60 20 2/1/2016 12:59 PM


61 15 2/1/2016 12:52 PM


62 35 1/30/2016 9:42 AM


63 20 miles 1/27/2016 5:13 PM


64 40 1/27/2016 12:45 PM


65 15 miles 1/27/2016 12:08 PM


66 15miles 1/27/2016 8:53 AM


67 160 1/26/2016 6:14 PM


68 1000 1/26/2016 3:31 PM


69 8mi 1/26/2016 12:39 PM


70 25 1/26/2016 10:28 AM


71 15 miles 1/26/2016 10:14 AM


72 15 1/26/2016 9:21 AM


73 30 miles 1/26/2016 8:36 AM


74 20 1/26/2016 7:11 AM


7 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







75 13 1/25/2016 9:41 PM


76 20 1/25/2016 8:15 PM


77 150 miles 1/25/2016 7:29 PM


78 15 miles 1/25/2016 7:24 PM


79 280 miles 1/25/2016 6:49 PM


80 over 500 1/25/2016 6:24 PM


81 12 1/25/2016 5:51 PM


82 20 1/25/2016 4:25 PM


83 20 miles 1/25/2016 3:56 PM


84 20 1/25/2016 3:38 PM


85 5 1/25/2016 2:41 PM


86 15 1/25/2016 1:35 PM


87 5 miles 1/25/2016 1:16 PM


88 30 miles 1/25/2016 1:11 PM


89 1300 1/25/2016 12:18 PM


90 192 miles 1/25/2016 11:51 AM


91 30 miles 1/25/2016 11:49 AM


92 25 1/25/2016 11:40 AM


93 2 1/25/2016 11:35 AM


94 20 1/25/2016 11:30 AM


95 22 1/25/2016 11:20 AM


96 20 mles 1/25/2016 11:19 AM


97 20 miles 1/25/2016 11:05 AM


98 Over 100 miles 1/25/2016 11:04 AM


99 30 1/25/2016 10:59 AM


100 300 1/25/2016 10:44 AM


101 Three miles 1/25/2016 10:43 AM


102 10 1/25/2016 10:41 AM


103 10 1/25/2016 10:41 AM


104 50 miles 1/25/2016 10:39 AM


105 10 1/25/2016 10:39 AM


106 9 miles 1/25/2016 10:38 AM


107 15 1/25/2016 10:37 AM


108 12 miles 1/25/2016 10:37 AM


109 30 1/25/2016 10:33 AM


110 20 1/25/2016 10:31 AM


111 250 miles 1/25/2016 10:24 AM


Q8 What species did you hunt? Check all
that apply.


Answered: 110 Skipped: 4


8 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







58.18% 64


15.45% 17


31.82% 35


13.64% 15


9.09% 10


6.36% 7


0.00% 0


2.73% 3


6.36% 7


4.55% 5


Total Respondents: 110  


# Other (please specify) Date


1 River was flooded...could not hunt 2/11/2016 11:04 AM


2 Raccoon 2/10/2016 9:55 AM


3 Tried to hunt turkey. River was flooded 2/4/2016 12:52 PM


4 I helped youth hunters and first time hunters, did not hunt myself 1/26/2016 12:42 PM


Deer


Turkey


Waterfowl


Pheasant


Quail


Dove


Squirrel


Rabbit


I did not hunt


Other (please
specify)


0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%


Answer Choices Responses


Deer


Turkey


Waterfowl


Pheasant


Quail


Dove


Squirrel


Rabbit


I did not hunt


Other (please specify)


9 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







31.37% 32


16.67% 17


16.67% 17


35.29% 36


5 Coyote 1/25/2016 11:31 AM


Q9 If you were hunting deer, was your
NGPC deer permit an either sex (allowed


you to potentially harvest a buck) or was it
an antlerless only permit?


Answered: 102 Skipped: 12


Total 102


Q10 If you hunted deer, what type of
weapon did you use?


Answered: 69 Skipped: 45


Either Sex


Antlerless Only


Multiple
permits, som...


Did not hunt
deer


0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%


Answer Choices Responses


Either Sex


Antlerless Only


Multiple permits, some of each type.


Did not hunt deer


10 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







40.58% 28


43.48% 30


49.28% 34


5.80% 4


Total Respondents: 69  


# Other (please specify) Date


1 shotgun 2/10/2016 1:19 PM


2 n/a 2/8/2016 9:02 AM


3 Same as above answer I helped out in the hunting of deer for youth and first time hunters. 1/26/2016 12:42 PM


4 crossbow, shotgun 1/25/2016 8:16 PM


Q11 Did you harvest a deer or other game
on the PRRA site?


Answered: 110 Skipped: 4


Archery


Muzzleloader


Rifle


Other (please
specify)


0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%


Answer Choices Responses


Archery


Muzzleloader


Rifle


Other (please specify)


Yes


No


0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%


Answer Choices Responses


11 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







34.55% 38


65.45% 72


Total 110


Q12 If you answered yes to the previous
question, what did you harvest and how


many? If you harvested deer were they male
or female? (If you harvested small game
and/or waterfowl and do not know exact


numbers please give an approximate
amount)


Answered: 39 Skipped: 75


# Responses Date


1 1 doe whitetail 2/15/2016 12:19 PM


2 one whitetail doe 2/15/2016 11:34 AM


3 2-Does 2/15/2016 5:30 AM


4 Doe 2/11/2016 7:39 PM


5 1 2/10/2016 9:48 PM


6 pheasant, waterfowl, deer (1 buck 2 doe) 2/10/2016 5:08 PM


7 1 buck no waterfowl 2/10/2016 2:19 PM


8 Waterfowl, 10 mallards, all drakes, in two days 2/10/2016 12:22 PM


9 One deer, male 2/10/2016 11:04 AM


10 2 bucks 2/10/2016 10:59 AM


11 female deer 2/10/2016 10:22 AM


12 2 Toms 2/9/2016 10:03 PM


13 0 2/9/2016 9:36 AM


14 1 female whitetail 2/8/2016 4:07 PM


15 ducks (20) geese (2) 2/8/2016 9:02 AM


16 3 deer all fawns, 2 male 1 female 2/2/2016 10:42 AM


17 1 mature female deer 2/1/2016 9:48 PM


18 10 2/1/2016 2:44 PM


19 one male and one female 2/1/2016 2:31 PM


20 1 doe 2/1/2016 2:14 PM


21 2 Deer, both female 2/1/2016 12:53 PM


22 Duck 18 1/27/2016 12:46 PM


23 Yes, one youth hunter harvested a fawn buck WT in the group I helped out. They had several other chances. 1/26/2016 12:42 PM


24 15 doves and 1 duck 1/26/2016 10:29 AM


25 1 doe, 20 doves, 2 geese, 3 quail 1/26/2016 8:59 AM


26 Buck 1/26/2016 7:13 AM


Yes


No


12 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







29.09% 32


70.91% 78


27 1 antlerless WTD 1/25/2016 8:16 PM


28 whitetail doe, 1 1/25/2016 3:58 PM


29 20 ducks 1/25/2016 2:43 PM


30 one female whitetale deer 1/25/2016 1:17 PM


31 2 femalss 1/25/2016 1:13 PM


32 antlerless male - 1 1/25/2016 12:20 PM


33 5 mallards, 3 drakes, 2 hens 1/25/2016 11:52 AM


34 15 1/25/2016 11:06 AM


35 Deer 2 bucks, one antlerless 1/25/2016 11:01 AM


36 2 female deer, 2 pheasants, a dozen or more ducks, 1 goose 1/25/2016 10:43 AM


37 1 doe 1/25/2016 10:41 AM


38 white tail female 1/25/2016 10:40 AM


39 30 ducks 1/25/2016 10:34 AM


Q13 Did you hunt deer with a centerfire rifle
during late season firearm (January 1-


January 15)?
Answered: 110 Skipped: 4


Total 110


Q14 If you answered yes to the previous
question, would you still deer hunt the


PRRA properties during late season firearm
(January 1-January15) if the use of
centerfire rifles was not allowed?


Answered: 52 Skipped: 62


Yes


No


0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%


Answer Choices Responses


Yes


No


13 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







30.77% 16


48.08% 25


21.15% 11


0.00% 0


0.00% 0


Total 52


Q15 How did you learn of the opportunity to
hunt these areas? Check all that apply.


Answered: 110 Skipped: 4


Yes


No


Not Sure


0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%


Answer Choices Responses


Yes


No


Not Sure


Newspaper


Radio


Website


Word of Mouth


Signage on
Property


Other (please
specify)


0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%


Answer Choices Responses


Newspaper


Radio


14 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







24.55% 27


69.09% 76


12.73% 14


10.00% 11


5.56% 6


Total Respondents: 110  


# Other (please specify) Date


1 Game & Parks 2/10/2016 12:00 PM


2 Used to work at NGPC 2/9/2016 9:36 AM


3 Nebraska Game and Parks web site 2/4/2016 9:18 PM


4 By driving by the area and contacting NGPC Kearney 1/26/2016 12:42 PM


5 I help run the program 1/25/2016 9:42 PM


6 didn't hunt 1/25/2016 7:30 PM


7 At Game & Parks office in Kearney 1/25/2016 3:58 PM


8 local contacts 1/25/2016 12:21 PM


9 Work 1/25/2016 11:06 AM


10 Through PRRIP 1/25/2016 10:43 AM


11 ne game and parks newsletter emails 1/25/2016 10:38 AM


Q16 Please complete this statement: Overall
I was _________ with my recreational


experience on this property.
Answered: 108 Skipped: 6


Website


Word of Mouth


Signage on Property


Other (please specify)


Very
dissatisfied


Moderately
dissatisfied


Neutral


Moderately
satisfied


Very satisfied


0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%


Answer Choices Responses


Very dissatisfied


15 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







6.48% 7


9.26% 10


36.11% 39


42.59% 46


8.33% 9


3.70% 4


7.41% 8


21.30% 23


59.26% 64


Total 108


Q17 Do you agree with the following
statement: I would hunt this area again?


Answered: 108 Skipped: 6


Total 108


Q18 Do you agree with the following
statement: I would recommend PRRA sites


to a friend or relative to hunt?
Answered: 108 Skipped: 6


Moderately dissatisfied


Neutral


Moderately satisfied


Very satisfied


Strongly
disagree


Moderately
disagree


Neutral


Moderately
agree


Strongly agree


0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%


Answer Choices Responses


Strongly disagree


Moderately disagree


Neutral


Moderately agree


Strongly agree


16 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







6.48% 7


4.63% 5


9.26% 10


31.48% 34


48.15% 52


10.19% 11


Total 108


Q19 Did you have any problems with other
users on the area?


Answered: 108 Skipped: 6


Strongly
disagree


Moderately
disagree


Neutral


Moderately
agree


Strongly agree


0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%


Answer Choices Responses


Strongly disagree


Moderately disagree


Neutral


Moderately agree


Strongly agree


Yes


No


0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%


Answer Choices Responses


Yes


17 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







89.81% 97


Total 108


Q20 If you answered "yes" to the previous
question, please describe the issue and the


end result.
Answered: 14 Skipped: 100


# Responses Date


1 The landowners on each side of property yelled and screamed and harassed us 2/10/2016 1:10 PM


2 Adjacent property owners were driving the fence lines and hunting into the PRRA ground, so it was fairly unsafe 2/10/2016 11:23 AM


3 One other hunter stomped all over the property,chasing all the birds f or they were too spookrd sfter that. 2/9/2016 10:07 PM


4 hunters on surrounding land drove in and along fence lines. 2/1/2016 3:18 PM


5 I did have problems with registering and the site. The site is a pain to use and is not user friendly at all 2/1/2016 2:32 PM


6 It was very difficult to get access to the properties because there were usually filled up. However, I never saw all the
people that signed up actually hunting the properties. It would be nice to implement a program on the PRRA website
that requires people to re-sign up 24 hours from the access day to remind people they have spots reserved. If the
person fails to re-register for the sight, the sight could be made available again for other people to enjoy the
opportunities PRRA has to offer.


2/1/2016 12:56 PM


7 Gary Mike Hubbard still harasses the deer on I.... continues to drive the fence line and push deer I still think it was
NOT a good idea to let Todd Brown impose the NO waterfowl hunting on "A"...One of the best waterfowl areas closed
because it "ruins" his hunting...(he proclaims to be a man of god but acts like god himself)...(i wish you would open "A"
back up to waterfowl at least from the canal west)


1/27/2016 9:00 AM


8 1. No ones fault, but walked a mile in to try to not disturb others on the property, when i got to that mile point, hunter
was there. Suggest that whiteboard map, on property for safety reasons, not required, but honor system. 2. Major
issue, on Stahl property during muzzleloader, on truck in parking lot, walked in, hunter stepped out of woods along NS
road with muzzleloader with no hunter orange on. Safety first!!!


1/25/2016 8:21 PM


9 Other hunters told me they had spots reserved, to which they were going to hunt. 1/25/2016 6:29 PM


10 People making reservations and not showing up 1/25/2016 11:59 AM


11 Did appreciate shutting down waterfowl hunting on the area west of overtone road. 1/25/2016 11:08 AM


12 Waterfowl hunters coming in late and taking unethical shots at birds. 1/25/2016 11:03 AM


13 Hunters pass shouting and not staying put in one area coming in on property early and scaring most of the geese and
ducks off This property should be used for a game preserve and used by archway for tourism


1/25/2016 10:49 AM


14 No problems but to many for size of property 1/25/2016 10:39 AM


Q21 Did you take a youth hunting with you
as allowed on your permission slip?


Answered: 107 Skipped: 7


No


18 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







26.17% 28


73.83% 79


20.00% 7


80.00% 28


Total 107


Q22 If you answered "yes" to the previous
question, did the youth successfully


harvest any game?
Answered: 35 Skipped: 79


Total 35


Q23 Were there any significant issues with
the administration of this recreational


opportunity?
Answered: 107 Skipped: 7


Yes


No


0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%


Answer Choices Responses


Yes


No


Yes


No


0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%


Answer Choices Responses


Yes


No


19 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







8.41% 9


91.59% 98


Total 107


Q24 If you answered "yes," please describe
the issue and any suggested solutions.


Answered: 9 Skipped: 105


# Responses Date


1 The web site was down when the game and parks change their web site, so you could not get access forms 2/10/2016 6:32 PM


2 Use food plots 2/10/2016 1:12 PM


3 It would be nice if you could save the permission slip on your phone and not have to print out a paper copy. Not all
people have access to printers at home.


2/5/2016 9:54 AM


4 PRRA spots were nearly always full, but I never saw the maximum number of people on the properties. If people can
not utilize the property for the day(s) they registered for it would be nice to see them relinquish their spots in time for
other people to utilize the properties and gain access.


2/1/2016 12:58 PM


5 To many people allowed on this property per day. 1/26/2016 9:25 AM


6 Have two sons, have to choose between the two as only one youth is allowed per adult/parent. Allow a gun limit. 1-2
gun/bow per permission slip adult must be within sight of all youth signed up under (limit 2 youth per adult/parent)


1/25/2016 8:36 PM


7 Open waterfowl hunting agian on dyer property 1/25/2016 11:09 AM


8 Hard to get on web sight and I believe this particular being used be game commission and fish & wildlife employees
that sign up on the web sight early


1/25/2016 10:58 AM


9 Web site was not updated with current dates times etc. 1/25/2016 10:43 AM


Q25 Do you have any suggestions on how
to improve this recreational opportunity in


future years?
Answered: 45 Skipped: 69


# Responses Date


Yes


No


0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%


Answer Choices Responses


Yes


No


20 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







1 move parking so I don't have to walk a mile and a half one way to hunt. Im 73 yrs old and in the dark its about half
dangerous. almost got ran over by pick trk one morning


2/15/2016 12:24 PM


2 Maybe manage the properties better. Implement an earn a buck program. Make to where you have to shoot two does
before you shoot a buck. This would help relations with neighboring land owners. Also less cattle grazing on sights. It
destroys the habitat. Try to acquire more land. The secret is out. Kind of getting crowded. Have a few sights as archery
only


2/15/2016 5:41 AM


3 I think is would be fun to try and improve the hunting area by planting some food plots in the area. It seems there are
great bedding areas on the ground, but noticed a large number of does and fawns. To me it seems the deer are not in
the best health "but not in terrible health". I would be interested in helping out with plots planting. If you were to fence
off plots of one two acres in the area, cattle produces wouldn't loose much forage and still could still run cattle. There
are good agriculture area surrounding the recreational ground. Still like I said last year maybe earn a buck by taking a
doe would improve the hunting and total deer population.


2/11/2016 8:06 PM


4 Allow predator hunting 2/10/2016 9:50 PM


5 Allow blinds and stand to remain on site during the season and not removed each day. Have some areas with
unlimited or not access slips needed. i.e. grass land for pheasant hunting. Allow multiple access points to the land


2/10/2016 6:32 PM


6 The addition of more PRRA properties would allow for more hunting and fishing opportunities. Overall, the available
locations offer a great opportunity to hunt along the river and more locations would serve to enhance the experience.


2/10/2016 6:19 PM


7 no 2/10/2016 2:21 PM


8 No firearms and use the ground as refuges for waterfowl to keep the in are use a rotating system 2/10/2016 1:12 PM


9 Could the parking area be moved closer? 2/10/2016 12:24 PM


10 Open all areas to waterfowl please 2/10/2016 10:49 AM


11 Let Area A be open to waterfowl again 2/10/2016 10:14 AM


12 Make the roads to them graveled. Also make it so a group can sign up under one name. Would also be nice to have an
hour sign up. So people done have to worry about others hunting.


2/10/2016 9:57 AM


13 Consider a preference point system for the November rifle season drawing. 2/5/2016 9:54 AM


14 I wish there was some way that you could take someone in to help carry out a deer. I have some health issues and
passed on some deer just because I knew I could not carry or drag them clear to the parking area.


2/4/2016 9:24 PM


15 Allow archery prior to rifle season 2/2/2016 11:31 AM


16 Few less hunters on the big properties as there are only a few places to really hunt deer on them. So for ducks it might
be okay to have that many people, but for deer it could be too many people.


2/2/2016 10:45 AM


17 Allow a guest to accompany you. No one like to hunt alone. 2/1/2016 6:23 PM


18 some way to cross the river 2/1/2016 3:20 PM


19 Not cut down all of the habitat that animals use 2/1/2016 2:34 PM


20 The Dyer property was my favorite to hunt, and it was the best hunting the program offered, and I don't know why you
shut it down but you should open it back up.


2/1/2016 2:26 PM


21 Fewer reservations per area 2/1/2016 2:16 PM


22 Make the gates on the platte river accessible either from the north side or the south but on the south a person would
have to be able to drive pretty close to them in order to take elderly Fishing there. The north side allows for driving
access


2/1/2016 2:11 PM


23 N/A 2/1/2016 1:01 PM


24 Allow 2 youth hunters to go with. 1/27/2016 5:19 PM


25 Nope, I really enjoyed using the area, and I hope you will continue this opportunity to hunt deer. 1/27/2016 12:11 PM


26 Open "A" back to waterfowl hunting 1/27/2016 9:01 AM


27 No. This place is excellent!!! 1/26/2016 6:18 PM


28 No, I like how it is currently setup. 1/26/2016 12:48 PM


29 Communication between hunters as to location where they plan to hunt or walk. Texting or coordinating the days hunt. 1/26/2016 9:25 AM


21 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







30 see above comments. Quadrant the hunting area of large parcels, or seperate them at least on paper to E W or N S,
for safety. Would also like a different means for rifle draw. Some have drawn up to 3 times, some have drawn premium
sites that allow 2-4 more than one time, while others have never drawn. Random draw is random draw, but suggest a
sit out one year if just drawn, or your name in the draw x years not drawn to raise draw rate. They can do it for elk, it
can be done for 125 in the draw. Just a suggestion. Thanks


1/25/2016 8:36 PM


31 Protocol seems reasonable given the non access days to accomodate the target species 1/25/2016 6:34 PM


32 It seems that many reservations are made but not being used. I hunted area "I" many days in a row and never saw a
user hunting "D", however the days were all reserved for that area. Maybe a phone in, or online check off to keep the
reservation would ensure that the land is able to be used if the person with the reservation decides not to go and
doesn't log in to cancel the reservation.


1/25/2016 4:08 PM


33 Move the parking area to the north a 1/2 mile or have 2 separate parking areas. Had to walk a full mile down the road
before you could access area I wanted to hunt.


1/25/2016 3:42 PM


34 Shorter hike. 1/25/2016 2:44 PM


35 Have a parking area in the middle. I only have an hour to hunt over my lunch break and by the time I walk from the
parking lot to the other side of the property where I hunt, I only have a couple minutes to hunt.


1/25/2016 1:42 PM


36 None, it was just fine. 1/25/2016 1:19 PM


37 Because of the holiday season, it would be nice to hunt the week prior to the "late season". Example: this was
vacation time for us, however with school starting the first week of Jan, we ended up missing school. If the late
season began the last week of Dec., it would make more sense for travelers / tourists...


1/25/2016 12:25 PM


38 Include multiple adults per reservation...difficult to arrange an outing with a spouse or relative. Possibly include a
message board on site where people can indicate where they plan to hunt for informational and safety purposes.


1/25/2016 12:04 PM


39 Incorporate treestand takedown days Sep 30 before closure, at the end of rfile season and at the end of late season.
Allow treestands to be left in place during each distinct season but become property of PRRIP if left in place past each
season closure. Allow use of trailcameras.


1/25/2016 11:12 AM


40 Allow waterfowl hunting on dyer property 1/25/2016 11:09 AM


41 Give numbers of each user and list what activity/type of game hunting. Improve coordination between hunters so no
one is disappointed or surprised by one another on these small sites.


1/25/2016 11:04 AM


42 Yes close it to public hunting and use it for all wildlife and stop harassing them during the migration period . 1/25/2016 10:58 AM


43 Open a few more slips for the area by kearney near the archway monument please. It's definitely big enough for more
than 4 people to Waterfowl hunt.


1/25/2016 10:42 AM


44 More gates. There was only one access to the property and the hike to get there with decoys was rough. 1/25/2016 10:41 AM


45 More lands 1/25/2016 10:36 AM


Q26 Are there any outstanding points that
you would like to point out as especially
helpful for the recreational user on these


properties?
Answered: 20 Skipped: 94


# Responses Date


1 Overall this is great for hunters and recreational users. 90 percent of hunters don't have their own land to hunt. It helps
keep this way of life going


2/15/2016 5:41 AM


2 There are good deer numbers but when it comes to age and mature bucks, they are lower then you would expect. 2/11/2016 8:06 PM


3 Great Program I wish all Tax Exempt Huntable Properties could be a part of a program like this because it works. 2/10/2016 3:15 PM


4 no 2/10/2016 2:21 PM


5 Make sure you read the regulations 2/10/2016 10:14 AM


22 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







6 I very much enjoy having the opportunity and previledge to use these properties for hiking, bird watching and hunting.
Please keep up the good work to keep these properties open to the public.


2/8/2016 9:05 AM


7 Allow hunters to use atv's for hunting for dropping off hunting gear on the property...especially for people that hunt
waterfowl!


2/6/2016 9:15 AM


8 It is nice to be able to use the areas again as I used to hunt them when I was younger and was privately owned 2/4/2016 9:24 PM


9 Great program. I love having access to river property without paying a fortune to hunt it! 2/2/2016 10:45 AM


10 Long walk required 2/1/2016 2:16 PM


11 N/A 2/1/2016 1:01 PM


12 Keep the number of passes at 4 a property! It's a great number 1/26/2016 6:18 PM


13 Was Rx fire when there and that is a good thing for management 1/26/2016 3:33 PM


14 Parking is good, limited number of hunter's per site is good, limited number of reservations is good. 1/26/2016 9:03 AM


15 These properties are outstanding opportunities to those that struggle to fine private lands. I would like to thank the
PRRIP, NGPC, Justin and Andrew for their efforts.


1/25/2016 8:36 PM


16 Stay away from the west end of area "I" - the land owner to the west will harass you. I had a run in with this individual
and reported it to Game & Parks - I recommend that anybody else that has a problem with this land owner does the
same.


1/25/2016 4:08 PM


17 No, not at this time. 1/25/2016 1:19 PM


18 Like any public land there is value to arriving early to try to coordinate with other users, especially during firearm deer 1/25/2016 12:04 PM


19 Stop cutting down all the trees and make more ponds for the waterfowl to use 1/25/2016 10:58 AM


20 Be careful 1/25/2016 10:43 AM


Q27 Do you have any additional comments
you would like to express that you may not
have been able to on any of the questions


during the survey?
Answered: 33 Skipped: 81


# Responses Date


1 no 2/15/2016 12:24 PM


2 As a bow hunter think it would be great to be able to hunt the first week before rifle season opens, but understand the
reason for not allowing it.


2/11/2016 8:06 PM


3 The river was flooding and I could not use the area 2/11/2016 11:05 AM


4 Thanks for the oppurtunity 2/10/2016 2:21 PM


5 Please keep up the good work and keep these areas for year to come!! 2/10/2016 1:20 PM


6 Overall Area E is an excellent hunting area. This is one of the best in the state. 2/10/2016 12:24 PM


7 Not sure exactly which area I had used this year. Marked off memory 2/10/2016 10:49 AM


8 Like how they limit the number of hunters on he property at any given time . Better hunting and safer 2/8/2016 4:09 PM


9 Overall it is a great program and it provides great access opportunities for many people who would otherwise not be
able to access Platte River ground. Hopefully more of the PRIPP areas can be opened to public access in future
years. If PRIPP employees are allowed to hunt it, it should be open to public access, otherwise the properties should
be closed to all hunting.


2/5/2016 9:54 AM


10 I appreciate the fact that they are allowing hunting on the property and hope that others follow the rules so it continues.
Thank-you


2/4/2016 9:24 PM


11 Thank you for such an opportunity for access to these lands. I hope you continue it into the future. 2/2/2016 10:45 AM


23 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016







12 Seen good number of deer all does which is fine with us all lil too far away with bows tried with muzzle loader always
just a lil too late to shot ..... although we did not harvest the quality time father daughter we had uninterrupted was
great!!


2/1/2016 3:23 PM


13 I have used these properties multiple times in the past but was unable to utilize as much this year as I would have
liked as I moved and started a new job. In the past I used the properties to hunt multiple game and have harvested
many antlerless deer off of them. I look forward to using them for spring turkey and next fall.


2/1/2016 3:09 PM


14 Again the website used to sign up is not user friendly. You should not have to download and mail in lottery options.
You should be able to submit via online. I can only use a mac and a certain browser when registering and that is
beyond irritating.


2/1/2016 2:34 PM


15 Make the Dyer property available again. 2/1/2016 2:26 PM


16 recommend a mandatory hunting report, and list of these areas on the telecheck and rifle check-in 2/1/2016 2:16 PM


17 N/A 2/1/2016 1:01 PM


18 I loved the fact that you had to walk close to a mile to get to the river on prop K, that weeds out the lazies. The youth
that harvested a deer with me had the full experience of field dressing and dragging a deer out, it was a fantastic
experience for him as well as the rest of his family.


1/26/2016 12:48 PM


19 I feel this is a great program and really appreciate that I have a place to take my son hunting. Access to these types of
properties is difficult to come by locally here and without it my son would not have the interest he does in hunting.


1/26/2016 10:31 AM


20 Thanks for letting us use your property! 1/26/2016 9:03 AM


21 I would suggest making properties that are close to parking lots youth only. 1/25/2016 8:36 PM


22 The land owner next to "I" seems to be a regular nuisance to deer hunters. We encountered a number of other
hunters who warned us about him. We had limited interaction, but he did show up while we were hunting…apparently
to prevent any deer from crossing into the area where we could harvest them.


1/25/2016 6:58 PM


23 Thanks for all the effort to coordinate the competing users, allow recreation, and protect target species and
communities.


1/25/2016 6:34 PM


24 This is a great opportunity to hunt river ground and I appreciate that NE Game & Parks has allowed this. I have
enjoyed being able to hunt deer relatively close to home using a river antlerless tag and not being a land owner. I hope
that these lands stay available for rifle for the January late season.


1/25/2016 4:08 PM


25 I am a falconer from Elm Creek, I hunt rabbits there a couple times a week with my hawk. I just want to thank you
guys for having this area! Without it I would have very few places to hunt the way my bird likes to hunt and with that
grass land terrain. I really really appreciate it!!!


1/25/2016 1:42 PM


26 No, none. 1/25/2016 1:19 PM


27 It's really nice you guys do this for us! There's not many places to hunt besides state land and that gets overly crowded
at times other wise land owners wanna charge you an arm and a leg to hunt there land! Thank you for having this!! It's
much appreciated!


1/25/2016 11:54 AM


28 I would like to be able to hang a stand and leave it for the season, then remove it once the season is over. All hunters
have 30 days to remove stands following the last day of the late season. All hunters must leave their information on
their stand. I would be happy to help remove stands that were not taken down and the G&P can do what they want
with them. Last thing. Do a little research on SurveyMonkey! They are funding HSUS!!! Our company stopped using
SurveyMonkey as soon as they found out where their funds were going!


1/25/2016 11:49 AM


29 This is probably a tough one but neighboring land owners should nt be allowed to put their names in the drawing pool
simply to keep other applicants out that don't have any place to hunt at all.


1/25/2016 11:29 AM


30 Very pleased with the program and properties. If opportunities exist, continue adding additional properties. PRRA is
an outstanding opportunity for recreation in the central Platte. Also, cattle grazing in the forest isn't ideal for deer
hunting though I understand that it brings revenue and hunting isn't a purpose of the PRRIP but is more of a added
benefit.


1/25/2016 11:12 AM


31 Allow waterfowl hunting on dyer property 1/25/2016 11:09 AM


32 NO WATERFOWL HUNTING 1/25/2016 10:58 AM


33 Yes applied for Deer firearm season I know it was a drawing but was never notifyied that I was not drawn would have
been easy to send me an email saying I was not drawn instead of hearing abosultely nothing . Game and Parks did
poor job on this . Please notify unsuccesful applicans


1/25/2016 10:43 AM


24 / 24


Platte River Access non-lottery season 2015/2016





		HunterUse2015-16-public

		2015-16 PRRA General Survey Results



